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United Stationers Inc. 2004 Annual Report

To Our Stockholders:

United Stationers became an industry leader by asking, “If I were the customer..” and organizing its
operations and marketing strategies to meet or exceed customers’ expectations. This focus remains at the
heart of our organization. Over the past two years, one idea became clear: if we are to better serve
customers — and return to the growth seen in past years — we must create a platform that takes us to the
next level.

To meet this challenge, in 2004 we refined our five-year strategic plan. This process helped us identify the
areas where we need to concentrate to create the future we seek for United, its customers, and its business
partners.

Last year, I shared our progress against our plan: how we were making improvements in our
organizational structure and product category management, and how we were creating growth opportunities
for resellers, reducing waste, and generating top-line growth. This year’s letter shares more details on our

plan, so you can chart our success in the coming years.

ADDRESSING ISSUES IN THE CANADIAN DIVISION

Any discussion of 2004 resuits must begin by addressing the problems we encountered in our Canadian
division. In October 2004, we launched a review of that division. Members of our corporate management
team spent countless hours reviewing customer and supplier transactions and divisional books and records.
In addition, our Audit Committee, with the assistance of outside counsel and forensic accountants,
conducted an investigation. Both the review and investigation are complete. We concluded that certain items
were incorrectly accounted for, and we found evidence of fraud by certain personnel at the Canadian
division. As a result, we took a $13.2 million charge during 2004 and replaced the Canadian division senior
leadership team. We also reviewed our system of internal controls, both within and over the Canadian
division, and we have significantly increased U.S. headquarters functional oversight and business
management scrutiny of those operations.

It's important for you as a stockholder to know that we understand that this business behavior is
unacceptable and that it does not reflect United’s culture and how the company conducts business. You also

need to know that we believe our strategic direction is sound, and it is giving us a good start on 2005.

PLATFORM FOR IMPROVING FINANCIAL RESULTS

Here is a brief review of last year’s performance.

Net sales rose 3.7% to $4.0 billion. This improvement reflects a slightly better economy and the success
of category marketing programs we launched in the second half of the year — which helped increase fourth
quarter sales by nearly 7%. Our 2004 gross margin, at 14.6%, was flat with 2003, despite the Canadian



write-off and an increasing percentage of sales coming from lower margin products. The 3.7% operating
margin was down slightly from 3.8% a year ago, as the benefits we saw from our strong performance were
offset by the costs associated with the Canadian division. Net income for 2004 was $90.0 million, or $2.65 per
diluted share, versus $73.0 million, or $2.18 per diluted share, for 2003. The 2004 results included a charge of
$0.12 per diluted share related to the Canadian division for prior years, while 2003 results included a $0.12
per diluted share charge for the early retirement of debt and a charge of $0.19 per diluted share for the
cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle. Excluding these charges, earnings per diluted share
would have been $2.77 for 2004 and $2.49 in 2003.

We believe we can improve on these results in 2005. Our long-term goals are to meet or exceed the
average sales increases for our industry and improve our earnings per share by 12% to 15%. We will
accomplish this by executing the initiatives already in place and by following the strategic plan that we refined
in 2004.

OUR MISSION DRIVES OUR PROGRESS

United’s mission is to become a high performance organization, delivering exceptional value through
superior execution of innovative marketing and logistics services.
To achieve this mission, we identified seven strategies to optimize our core business and help us reach

our growth objectives. Here is a description of what we are doing and the implications for our future.

CREATE A HIGH PERFORMANCE ORGANIZATION
Goal

Our goal is to align our strategy, structure and culture to build competitive advantages — which will
help us make progress in all areas. While competitors might be able to copy some of United’s product
offerings, marketing programs, services or systems, they cannot easily duplicate a culture that strives to

improve performance every day — and this is what differentiates us.

Building the Platform

To create a high performance organization, we are using a combination of training for associates,
creating different types of cross-functional teams, and recruiting additional talent.

United provides many types of training to its associates, including two forms of training that directly
support our goal of becoming a high performance organization. First, associates who guide departments and
high performance teams receive leadership training. Second, high performance team training teaches our
associates how to work together — across traditional department and functional lines — to meet and exceed
team objectives.

Speaking of teams, a number of them are in place and delivering results throughout United:

+ The Executive Leadership Team, made up of those in charge of each functional area, is responsible

for creating and leading United’s key growth strategies and sponsoring the Regional Business Teams.

* Regional Business Teams implement those strategies and set the direction for our four regions (East,

South, Midwest, and West), Lagasse (our janitorial and sanitation products subsidiary), and Azerty
(our technology products division). These teams sponsor and coordinate the activities of the Local

Business Teams.




+ Local Business Teams are responsible for all cross-functional issues and decisions that affect their
operations and customers. They also sponsor our Customer Relationship Teams and Local Project
Teams.

*  Customer Relationship Teams work with our reseller customers to improve the processes we share,
helping our customers deliver exceptional service at a low cost.

* Local Project Teams focus on driving out waste or adding value to our customer service by
improving processes.

*  Category Management Teams drive results by setting strategies for each product category and
tapping expertise throughout United to achieve their goals.

In all, we have approximately 350 teams focused on problem solving, process improvement, and
customer service initiatives. Thanks to our teams, we strengthened our service while saving millions of
dollars in operating costs in 2004 through our War on Waste initiatives.

For the last year and a half, we have been evaluating and adding to our leadership team. Our goal was to
complement the skill set of people who have years of experience at United with those who would bring new
ideas to the company. One example is John Zillmer, who joined our board of directors in 2004. As past
president of Aramark’s food and support services group, he led this $8 billion operation to record sales and
profits. Pat Collins, our new senior vice president of sales, is another key addition. He came from Ingram
Micro Inc., a global technology distributor of IT products and services, where he had operating responsibility
for sales and marketing in the U.S. and Canada. Pat’s experience in the technology marketplace will enhance
our ongoing technology product initiatives,

In addition, we looked throughout our organization to see where we could build on our current talent.
We paid particular attention to upgrading our sales organization and distribution center management,

maintaining an effective balance of promotions and external hires for key positions.

Benefits for the Future

By creating an organization of talented associates working together in teams, we will more effectively
identify key issues and opportunities for United and work across functional areas to develop the best business

solutions — in a shorter amount of time.

ACCELERATE GROWTH THROUGH NEW CATEGORY AND CHANNEL INITIATIVES
Goal

We plan to increase our sales and profitability by 1) focused management of our current categories and
developing business in new ones, and 2) creating service offerings tailored to distinct channels and customer

segments.

Building the Platform

We continued to develop the structure and programs we introduced in 2003.

Category Management United offers four major product categories: technology products for the
office, traditional office products, office furniture, and janitorial and sanitation products. A little over a year
ago, we added another “type” of product to this mix: new and emerging products — which cuts across all
product categories.



1™ program. For years, we had been

A good example of category management is our Stuff for Your Schoo
casually involved in the education market. In 2004, we concentrated on developing a focused approach to the
classroom as well as to school administrative offices. After researching this market, we added almost 2,000
new products specifically targeted to serve it and designed a new 340-page catalog to help resellers reach these
consumers. Feedback from resellers — and initial results — has been very positive, and we expect to expand
this program.

The same idea was used to create Office Remedies.™ This program, introduced last fall, targets
non-medical supplies needed by clinics and other health care providers, such as doctors and dentists. The
Office Remedies program has generated excellent initial results, and resellers have told us it provides many
incremental selling opportunities. '

Our General Line Catalog continues to play a key role in all of our selling strategies. As a result, we are
taking a fresh look at its organization and product presentation. The next edition — due in fall 2005 — will
have significant improvements to help both resellers and consumers.

Channel Management Our channels include general resellers (primarily independent dealers),
including office products dealers, furniture dealers, janitorial/sanitation resellers, technology resellers and
large national accounts. Our first action was to add another group: nontraditional resellers — organizations
that sell the products we provide as part of a larger offering or primarily through different media, such as
e-tailers.

We also are doing a better job of integrating channel management with the rest of our organization.
Channel managers and high performance teams are working together to meet specific performance
objectives. One positive result is a stronger connection between our sales and marketing associates. Another
is closer ties between merchandising and distribution centers. This is particularly important when we are
adding products of unusual sizes and shapes — such as basketballs — as part of the Stuff for Your School

program.

Benefits for the Future

Category and channel management are two differentiating factors that United can offer its customers.
Having the right products, and helping resellers effectively market them to end consumers, are keys to top-
and bottom-line growth for everyone in the supply chain.

Our goal is to continue identifying new products and new channels each year and to help our reseller
customers serve these new channels better than their competition. We expect that this will take United into
product lines and markets we have not traditionally offered and reached, while creating strong reseller

partners.

DRIVE COST AND VALUE LEADERSHIP
Goal

Our goal is to reduce operating costs by $20 million per year while becoming the best value provider of
logistical services. As we move toward achievement of this goal, we expect to reinvest a significant portion of
those savings in infrastructure, technology, and value-added services — to improve our operations and the

value we offer to customers.




Building the Platform

Here are a few examples of the progress we are making:

*  We are streamlining our receiving operations. This reduces the time it takes our associates to receive
products and lowers our product lead times, while improving the overall accuracy of our inventory
records. In 2004, we implemented new standard operating procedures, rolled out new UCC128
scanning technology, and developed new inbound receiving standards for suppliers.

«  We are increasing our order picking quality and efficiency. During 2004, we invested more than
$8 million to install new “pick to voice” technology in 19 distribution centers, in addition to the three
we converted in 2003. As part of this process, we developed metrics on quality and productivity. Now
we can give individual feedback to associates working in our distribution centers, who can compare
their performance numbers with company averages. This is a very powerful tool that gives
operational excellence tangible meaning for associates. In 2005, we will roll out “pick to voice” to 13
additional distribution centers. We also are leveraging this technology in our bulk pick operations
and are exploring ways to use “pick to voice” for inventory cycle counting.

*  We are improving our returns policies and procedures. This includes investigating every step along
the continuum: from working with manufacturers on damage-resistant packaging, to increasing

order accuracy, to establishing consistent return policies throughout the United network.

Benefits for the Future

It’s true: we become more efficient each year, which makes it a challenge to continue removing waste and
finding other areas of cost savings. However, by taking the money we save and reinvesting it in talent and
technology, we find that we create additional cost efficiencies and produce further improvements. We also are
working to take the complexity out of our systems — using the same approach throughout United to ensure

consistently higher service levels, regardless of where our customers are located.

EXPAND OUR ADVANTAGE IN OPERATIONAL EXCELLENCE
Goal

By breaking our business into the core processes that deliver value to customers, we plan to use high
performance teams and technology to improve productivity, quality, and timeliness. We believe we can
capitalize on our extensive network of 63 distribution centers in North America to offer expanded products

and services and to deliver competitive advantages for United and its reseller customers.

Building the Platform

Here are two examples of how we are driving operational excellence.

+  We are establishing a new structure and process for managing fleet and transportation services.
Last year, our transportation team evaluated and piloted a new shipping control system and fleet
management system. Both are being implemented this year and should broaden the range of our
services and improve tracking and control of our deliveries on behalf of our customers. We also are
developing new low cost delivery options that leverage mid-market couriers, and new delivery

services to support our furniture category.



+ We are expanding our Total Source initiative. Simply put, we want to become the preferred
wholesaler for all business office needs. This means bringing an increasing number of innovative
product/service offerings to the market. For example, in 2004 we launched our “OfficeJan” initiative,
greatly expanding the number of janitorial cleaning supplies and paper products available through
the traditional office products channel. Total Source allows us to provide an integrated fulfillment
solution across a diverse range of product categories, brands, and SKU’s. Whether it is products for
the boardroom, the break room, the data room, or the rest room, United leverages its linked
distribution network to bring an expanded set of complementary solutions to meet its customers’

needs.

Benefits for the Future

As we further improve our operations and eliminate waste, we plan to continue investing in our

distribution and logistics platforms to support our growth initiatives.

MAKE UNITED “EASY TO DO BUSINESS WITH”
anl

We are striving to improve operations so our reseller customers see doing business with United as “The
Perfect Experience”

We believe that United’s growth is an indication that we are better serving our customers’ needs.
However, our customers too often perceived United as a complex organization. They weren’t sure who to call
about issues. Sometimes they were confused by the marketing campaigns we created for them — and
rightfully so, because we hadn’t done a good enough job of getting their input beforehand. That began to
change in 2004.

Building the Platform

Now we regularly seek feedback from our customers in two ways.

Eight “Voice of the Customer” meetings took place in 2004. These meetings gave us the opportunity to
hear first-hand our customers’ business issues and what improvements they would like to see from us. I
attend most of them, as do other members of our senior management team. We are there to listen — and
share ideas. The people who participate give us valuable information and feedback in a number of areas, from
our operations and IT to our training programs and marketing campaigns.

Once a year, we also conduct a customer satisfaction survey, sent to our entire customer base and
covering every area of our business. Our customers’ responses help us track our progress on meeting or

exceeding their expectations.

Benefits for the Future

In 2004, customers helped us identify four key areas in which United could improve: 1) our returns
process, 2) our special order process, 3) how we launch new marketing programs, and 4) the third-party
vendors that offer dealer support services. These are some of the areas we are asking our high performance

teams to focus on in 2005.
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In addition, we are looking for ways to measure “The Perfect Experience” whenever we come into
contact with customers. For example, when it comes to customer care, we want to empower associates who
speak with customers to make decisions on the phone. When our customers call, we want our motto to be
“done in one”

In 2005, we plan to continue our “Voice of the Customer” meetings and customer satisfaction survey.
This will help us ensure that we are addressing our customers’ key issues. It also will help us continue to
benefit from their insights — and show them we care about what they think and that we really do want to

design our company around their needs.

STRENGTHEN OUR INTEGRATED SUPPLIER PARTNERSHIPS
Goal

Strong supplier partnerships allow us to minimize waste across the entire supply chain, expand joint
business-building marketing initiatives, shift share to our preferred partners, and offer dealers high value

products combined with effective growth programs.

Building the Platform

We work with more than 450 suppliers and in 2004 continued to look at ways to strengthen the
relationship for the benefit of both sides. ,

This included expanding our Preferred Supplier Program: featuring their products as the preferred
brand in our marketing efforts. Preferred suppliers are category leaders and top performers against our
supplier performance metrics. They also are committed to working with us on continuous improvement. As
a result, they generally have a low cost to serve, low damage and customer returns, and low freight costs. They
also actively develop and support joint marketing initiatives and collaborate as category partners by sharing
benchmarking market and category data. We look to our preferred suppliers to be industry innovators and
change agents and to offer United and its customers good value and high quality products.

In addition to offering our customers leading manufacturer name brands, United markets private
labeled products under the Universal® name for office products, Windsoft® paper and UniSan® in janitorial/
sanitation supplies, Universal and Choice™ Imaging in technology products, and Office Impressions® and
Harbour Creations® in furniture, to name a few. Our independent dealers sell these products as their private
brands, building customer loyalty and offering a value choice. United plans to reinvest in these brands to
improve the quality, selection and value of the underlying products, and the associated marketing support.
Our Asian buying offices will continue to look for better sourcing opportunities. We plan to expand and
greatly enhance our global sourcing capabilities in 2005 to increase our dealers’ competitive position in their

markets.

Benefits for the Future

It’s clear that closer relationships with the right suppliers bring many benefits. We will expand our efforts
to use global sourcing to promote our standing as a low-cost supplier, and we will build relationships with the
right suppliers in each of our segments. ‘

We also are investing in a world-class content management system. This system will offer a more
sophisticated way of processing product data, so we can provide better information for customers, adjust our

product lines more easily, and get information to the market faster. These enhancements are particularly



important since about 45% of our product mix is technology-related — often having a lifecycle measured in

months rather than years.

ENHANCE OUR INFORMATION TECHNOLOGY (IT) ADVANTAGE
Goal

The objective for IT is to support our efforts to make United “easy to do business with” and to improve

our business processes to promote growth.

Building the Platform

In the last year we focused on several areas.

First, we invested in a new demand planning and replenishment solution. This will help us improve our
fill rates and more efficiently manage inventory. We believe more accurate forecasts combined with access to
the data means improvement across the supply chain.

Second, we continued to invest in IT in two of our customer care centers. Whenever the phone rings, our
representatives automatically see a computer screen identifying the customer with a record of recent
transactions. This helps representatives do a better and faster job of serving customers.

Third, we are investing in a new system that will enable us to capture and syndicate detailed information
on all of the 40,000 products United sells. But more than making this possible, IT is making the system
robust. One example is enhanced keyword search capabilities — so it will be easier for customers to find the

products and solutions they seek.

Benefits for the Future

Our goal is to leverage our IT capabilities to improve all of the behind-the-scenes logistics used in direct
contact with customers.

For the longer term, we are reviewing our entire IT system. Over the years, we added a number of
short-term solutions to address customer and process issues. Now we are planning to streamline our business
processes and IT solutions. We expect this will allow us to improve our logistics by optimizing the flow of
goods throughout the supply chain and to enhance our marketing capabilities by developing more effective

e-mail campaigns to help customers market to end consumers.

MORE “UNITED”

We are using the strategic planning process to build on United’s traditional strengths. OQur goal is to
deliver exceptional value to our resellers and their end consumers, our vendors and, as a result, our
stockholders. Just as important, we are creating a culture that supports and accelerates this process — which
should give us a strong competitive advantage.

We will continue to pursue our strategic plan, with high performance teams leading the way. I want to
thank our associates for their investment in and enthusiasm for United’s future, and [ invite you to watch the

progress they are leading.

Rl 10, drhmessen

Richard W. Gochnauer
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 16, 2005




el

United States Securities and Exchange Commission
Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-K
(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF

1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2004
or

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE

ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 0-10653

UNITED STATIONERS INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Delaware 36-3141189
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (1.R.S. Employer Identification No.)
Incorporation or Organization)

2200 East Golf Road
Des Plaines, lllinois 60016-1267
5847) 699-5000
(Address, Including Zip Code and Telephone Number, including Area Code, of Registrant’s
Principal Executive Offices)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:
None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act:

Common Stock, $0.10cpar value per share
(Title of Class)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d} of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was
required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes No O3

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K (§229.405 of this chapter) is
not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of the registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information
statements incorporated by reference in Part Il of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an accelerated filer (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Act).

Yes No J

The aggregate market value of the common stock of United Stationers Inc. held by non-affiliates as of June 30, 2004 was
approximately $1,293,056,995.

On March 14, 2005, United Stationers Inc. had 33,195,666 shares of common stock outstanding.

Documents Incorporated by Reference:

Certain portions of United Stationers Inc.’s definitive Proxy Statement relating to its 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders,
to be filed within 120 days after the end of United Stationers Inc.’s fiscal year, are incorporated by reference into Part Il.




UNITED STATIONERS INC.
FORM 10-K
For The Year Ended December 31, 2004

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Part |
ltem 1. BUSINESS . . .
ltem 2. Properties . . . .
item 3. Legal Proceedings . . . .. . o
ltem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders . . . . . ... ... ... .. .. ...
ltem 4A.  Executive Officers of the Registrant . . . ........ ... ... ... . .. .. ... . ... ...
Part 1l
Item 5. Market for Registrant’'s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer
Purchases of Equity Securities . .. ... ... . .. ..
Item 6. Selected Financial Data . . . ... ... .. . . ... e
ftem 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations . . . . e e e e e
Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MarketRisk . . ... ............ ...
ltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data. . . .. ....... ... ..... . ... ......
Item Q. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial
DISCIOSUIE . . . e e
ltem QA.  Controls and Procedures . . ... .. . .. e
Item 9B.  Other Information . .. . .. .. .
Part Il

ltem 10.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant. . . . ... ... ... ... ... .. ...
ftem 11.  Executive COompensation . . ... ... .. ...
Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related
Stockholder Matters . . . . . . ..
item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions . ... ... ... . ... . ... .. ... ...
item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services . ... . ... .. .. ... .

item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules ... ... ... .. ... . ... .. . L

SIgnatures . . . ...
Schedule ll—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts . . .. . ... .............. ......

D oGt =



PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS.
General

United Stationers Inc. is the largest broad line wholesale distributor of business products in North America with 2004
consolidated net sales of approximately $4.0 billion. United has over 15,000 customers, which resell products
purchased from United to end consumers. The Company provides its customers with a number of competitive
advantages, including access to more than 40,000 items, high order accuracy and fill rates, same- or next-day
delivery to more than 90% of the U.S. and major cities in Canada and Mexico, and comprehensive training and
marketing programs to help resellers reach end consumers.

Except where the context otherwise requires, the terms “United” and the “Company’ refer to United
Stationers Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. The parent holding company, United Stationers Inc.
("USI), was incorporated in 1981 in the State of Delaware. USI’s only direct wholly owned subsidiary
and the Company’s principal operating company is United Stationers Supply Co. ("USSC"),
incorporated in 1922 in the State of lllinois. USSC sells traditional business products, as well as
technology products through its Azerty marketing division and janitorial and sanitation products through
its subsidiary, Lagasse, Inc.

Products

United distributes more than 40,000 stockkeeping units (“SKUs™) within the following principal
categories: ' ‘

Technology Products. The Company is a leading wholesale distributor of computer supplies and
peripherals in North America. It offers approximately 12,000 items—such as printer cartridges, data
storage, and digital cameras—to value-added computer resellers, office products dealers, drug stores
and grocery chains. Technology products accounted for approximately 45% of the Company’s 2004
consolidated net sales.

Traditional Office Products. United is one of the largest national wholesale distributors of a broad range
of office supplies. The Company offers approximately 20,000 brand-name and private label products—
such as writing instruments, paper products, organizers, calendars and general office accessories.
These products accounted for approximately 30% of the Company’s 2004 consolidated net sales.

Office Furniture. United is one of the largest office furniture wholesalers in North America. It offers more
than 4,500 items—such as vertical and lateral file cabinets, leather chairs, wooden and steel desks and
computer furniture—from approximately 60 manufacturers. This product category accounted for
approximately 12% of the Company’s 2004 consolidated net sales.

Janitorial/Sanitation Products. The Company is a leading wholesaler of janitorial and sanitation
supplies. It offers over 5,000 items in the following primary subcategories: janitorial and sanitation
supplies, food service disposables, safety and security items, and paper and packaging supplies. The
janitorial/sanitation product category accounted for approximately 12% of the Company’'s 2004
consolidated net sales. ‘

The remaining 1% of the Company’s consolidated net sales came from freight and advertising revenue.

As part of its efforts to improve product category management, in 2003 United introduced another
category—New and Emerging Products. The Company established this category to focus on specific
niche markets, such as supplies for education and physicians’ offices, and to develop product lines and
promotional materials to help its resellers increase their sales in these markets. Since most of the
products offered in this category fall into the other four primary categories, revenues from New and
Emerging Products are not reported separately. During 2004, the Company reclassified certain products
between categories and, as a result, previously disclosed percentages for both product category growth



and total sales mix are not comparable to the current year presentation. The reclassifications did not
impact total net sales. See Note 5 to the Consolidated Financial Statements showing 2003 and 2002 net
sales by product category that conform to the current year presentation.

For more information on sales by product category, as well as sales and assets attributable to domestic
and foreign locations in which the Company conducts business, see Note 5 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Customers

The Company serves a diverse group of over 15,000 customers, including independent office products
dealers and contract stationers, national mega-dealers, office products superstores, computer products
resellers, office furniture dealers, mass merchandisers, mail order companies, sanitary supply
distributors, drug and grocery store chains, and e-commerce merchants. No single customer accounted
for more than 7.5% of United’s 2004 consolidated net sales.

independent resellers accounted for nearly 80% of United’s 2004 consclidated net sales. The Company
provides these customers with specialized services designed to help them market their products and
services while improving operating efficiencies and eliminating costs.

Marketing and Customer Support

United’s customers can purchase most of the products the Company distributes at similar prices from
many other sources. Most of the Company’s reseller customers purchase their products from more than
one source, frequently using “first call” and “second call” distributors. A “first call”’ distributor typically is
a reseller’s primary wholesaler, which is given the first opportunity to fill an order. In the event the “first
call’” distributor is unable to fill an order or to do so timely, the reseller will transmit the order to its
“second call” distributor.

To differentiate itself from its competition, United focuses its marketing efforts on providing value-added
services to resellers, including:

* A broad line of products for one-stop shopping;

» High levels of products in stock, with an average order fill rate greater than 97% in 2004;

» Efficient order processing, resulting in a 99.5% order accuracy rate in 2004;

» High-quality customer service from several state-of-the-art call centers;

» National distribution capabilities that enable same-day or overnight delivery to more than 90% of
the U.S. and major metropolitan areas in Canada and Mexico, providing a 99% on-time delivery
rate in 2004;

» Training programs designed to help resellers improve their operations; and
* End-consumer research to help resellers better understand and market to their customers.

United’s marketing programs have emphasized two other major components. First, the Company
produces an extensive array of catalogs for commercial dealers, contract stationers and retail dealers.
These catalogs usually are custom printed with each reseller’'s name, then sold to the resellers who, in
turn, distribute them to their customers. Second, United provides its resellers with a variety of dealer
support and marketing services. These services are designed to help resellers differentiate themselves
from their competitors by addressing the needs of the end user’s procurement process.

Nearly all of the Company’s 40,000 SKUs are sold through its comprehensive annual general line
catalog (available in both print and electronic versions) and semi-annual spemalty catalogs. Promotional
catalogs are typically produced each quarter.

United also develops separate quarterly flyers covering most of its product categories, including its
Universal® private brand line, offering a large selection of popular commodity products. Since catalogs




provide product exposure to end consumers and generate demand, United tries to maximize their
distribution by offering incentives to resellers, which they can use to offset the cost of the catalogs.

Resellers can place orders with the Company through the Internet, by phone, fax and e-mail and through
a variety of electronic order entry systems. Electronic order entry systems allow resellers to forward their
customers’ orders directly to United, resulting in the delivery of pre-sold products to the reseller. In 2004,
United received aimost 90% of its orders electronically.

At year-end, the Company employed approximately 260 field salespeople, 140 tele-salespeople and 460
customer care representatives in support of its sales, marketing and customer service activities. United’s
sales force tailors its service offerings to serve each customer’s needs and reduce costs.

Distribution

USSC has a network of 35 business products regional distribution centers located in 24 states. Most of
these centers carry the Company’s complete offering of business products, including technology
praducts, traditional office products and office furniture. United also has 24 Lagasse distribution centers
that carry a comprehensive line of janitorial and sanitation supplies. In addition, the Company operates
two distribution centers in Mexico that serve computer supply resellers, and two Azerty distribution
centers that serve the Canadian marketplace. United’'s domestic operations generated $3.8 billion of its
$4.0 billion in 2004 consolidated net sales, and its international operations contributed another
$0.2 billion to 2004 net sales.

The Company supplements its regional distribution centers with 20 local distribution points across the
U.S., which serve as re-distribution points for orders filled at the regional centers. United uses a
dedicated fleet of more than 400 trucks, most of which are under contract to the Company, to enable
direct delivery to resellers from regional distribution centers and local distribution points.

United enhances its distribution capabilities through a proprietary computerized inventory locator
system. If a reseller places an order for an item that is out of stock at the nearest distribution center, the
system will search for the product at alternative facilities within the shuttle network. When the item is
found, the alternate location coordinates shipping with the primary facility. For the majority of resellers,
the result is a single on-time delivery of all items. This system gives United added inventory support while
minimizing working capital requirements. As a result, the Company can provide higher service levels to
its reseller customers, reduce back orders, and minimize time spent searching for substitute
merchandise. These factors contribute to a high order fill rate and efficient levels of inventory. To meet the
Company’s delivery commitments and to maintain high order fill rates, United carries a significant
amount of inventory, which contributes to its overall working capital requirements.

The “Wrap and Label” program is another service the Company offers to resellers. This program gives
resellers the option to receive individually packaged orders ready to be delivered to its end-consumers.
For example, when areseller places orders for several individual consumers, United can group and wrap
the items separately, identifying each specific consumer, so that the reseller need only deliver the
already individuatized packages. Resellers find the “Wrap and Label” program advantageous because it
eliminates the need to break down bulk shipments and repackage orders before delivering them to
consumers.

In addition to these value-adding programs for reseliers, United is committed to reducing its operating
costs. The Company’s “war on waste” program has a goal of removing $20 million in costs per year
through a combination of new and continuing activities such as streamlining the Company’s receiving
operations, improving its returns policies and procedures, and maximizing the efficiency of its fleet and
transportation system.

Purchasing and Merchandising

As the largest broad line wholesale business products distributor in North America, United is able to
leverage its broad product selection as a key merchandising strategy. The Company orders products



from more than 450 manufacturers. As a result of its purchasing volume, United receives substantial
supplier allowances and can realize significant economies of scale in its logistics and distribution
activities. In 2004, United’s largest supplier was Hewlett-Packard Company, representing approximately
24% of its aggregate purchases.

The Company’s centralized Merchandising Department is responsible for selecting, purchasing and
pricing merchandise, as well as managing the entire supplier relationship. Product selection is based
upon end user acceptance, anticipated demand for the product, and the manufacturer’s total service,
price and product quality. As part of its effort to create an integrated supplier approach, United
introduced the Preferred Supplier Program. This program is designed to strengthen relationships with
suppliers, by offering their products as preferred brands in the Company’'s marketing efforts, while
working closely with them to reduce overall supply chain costs.

Competition

United competes with office products manufacturers and with other national, regional and specialty
wholesalers of office products, office furniture, technology products, and janitorial and sanitation
supplies. In most cases, competition is based primarily upon net pricing, minimum order quantity, speed
of delivery, and value-added marketing and logistics services.

The Company competes with manufacturers who often sell their products directly to resellers and may
offer lower prices. United believes that it provides an attractive alternative to manufacturer direct
purchases by offering a combination of value-added services, including: 1) marketing and catalog
programs; 2) same-day and next-day delivery; 3) a broad line of business products from multiple
manufacturers on a “one-stop shop’ basis; and 4) lower minimum order guantities.

Competition with other broad line wholesalers is based on breadth of product lines, availability of
products, speed of delivery to resellers, order fill rates, net pricing to resellers, and quality of marketing
and other value-added services. The Company competes with one national broad line office products
competitor, as well as local and regional office products wholesalers and furniture and janitorial/
sanitation distributors, each of which typically offer more limited product lines. In addition, United
competes with various national distributors of computer consumables primarily on net pricing to
resellers.

Generai competition in the office products industry has led to greater price awareness among end
consumers. As a result, purchasers of commodity office products appear increasingly more price
sensitive. The Company has addressed this by emphasizing to resellers the continuing advantages of its
value-added services and competitive strengths as compared to those of manufacturers and other
wholesalers.

Seasonality

The Company’s sales generally are relatively steady throughout the year. However, sales vary to the
extent of seasonal buying patterns of consumers of office products. In particular, the Company’s sales
usually are higher than average during January, when many businesses begin operating under new
annual budgets and release previously deferred purchase orders.

Employees
As of March 1, 2005, United employed approximately 5,550 people.

Management believes it has good relations with its employees. Approximately 740 of the shipping,
warehouse and maintenance employees at certain of the Company’s Philadelphia, Baltimore, Los
Angeles and New York City facilities are covered by collective bargaining agreements. United
successfully renegotiated agreements with employees in Philadelphia and Los Angeles in 2004, The
agreement with employees in New York is set to expire on April 30, 2005. The other agreements expire at




various times during the next three years. The Company has not experienced any work stoppages
during the past five years.

Availability of the Company’s Reports

The Company’s principal Internet Web site address is www.unitedstationers.com. The Company’s
Annuai Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q and Current Reports on Form 8-K, as
well as amendments and exhibits to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1834 (the “Exchange Act”) are available free of charge through the
Company’s Web site as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with, or
furnished to, the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC”). In addition, copies of these filings
(excluding exhibits) may be requested at no cost by contacting the Investor Relations Department at:

United Stationers Inc.

Attn: Investor Relations Department
2200 East Golf Road

Des Plaines, IL 60016-1267
Telephone: (847) 699-5000

Fax: (847) 699-4716

E-mail: IR@ussco.com

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES.

The Company considers its properties to be suitable with adequate capacity for their intended uses. The
Company evaluates its properties on an ongoing basis to improve efficiency and customer service and
leverage potential economies of scale. Substantially all owned facilities are subject to liens under
USSC’s debt agreements (see the information under the caption “Liquidity and Capital Resources”
included below under Item 7). As of December 31, 2004, these properties consisted of the following:

Offices. The Company owns its approximately 136,000 square foot headquarters office in Des Plaines,
Hilinois. It also owns approximately 49,000 square feet of office space in Orchard Park, New York. The
Company leases approximately 49,000 square feet of additional office space in Des Plaines, lllinois and
Mt. Prospect, llinois. Its Canadian Division leases approximately 17,000 square feet of office space in
Montreal, Quebec. In addition, the Company leases approximately 22,000 square feet of office space in
Harahan, Louisiana and approximately 6,000 square feet of office space in Metarie, Louisiana.

Distribution Centers. The Company utilizes approximately 10.5 million square feet of warehouse
space. USSC has 35 business products distribution centers located throughout the United States. The
Company maintains 24 Lagasse janitorial and sanitation supply distribution centers in the United States,
two distribution centers in Mexico that serve computer supply reseilers and two Azerty distribution
centers that serve the Canadian marketplace. Of the 10.5 million square feet of distribution center space,
3.0 million square feet are owned and 7.5 million sguare feet are leased.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

For information with respect to legal proceedings, see Note 3 to the Company’s Consolidated Financial
Statements included in ltem 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

The Company has been advised by the staff of the SEC that the staff is conducting an informal inguiry
regarding the Company in connection with its Azerty United Canada division and related financial
reporting matiers. For additional information with respect to such matters, see item 7 of this Annual
Report under the caption, “‘Review of Canadian Division,” and ltem 9A under the caption, “Changes in
Internal Control over Financial Reporting.” The Company intends to continue to cooperate with the SEC
in this inquiry. Due to the early stage of this inquiry, the Company is unable to predict its ultimate scope or
outcome.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS.
No matters were submitted to a vote of security holders during the fourth quarter of 2004.




ITEM 4A. EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The executive officers of the Company are as follows:

Name, Age and
Position with the Company

Business Experience

Richard W. Gochnauer
55, President and Chief Executive Officer

S. David Bent
44, Senior Vice President and Chief
Information Cfficer

Ronald C. Berg
45, Senior Vice President, inventory
Management and Facility Support

Richard W. Gochnauer became the Company's President and
Chief Executive Officer in December 2002, after joining the
Company as its Chief Operating Officer and as a Director in
July 2002. From 1994 until he joined the Company,
Mr. Gochnauer held the positions of Vice Chairman and
President, International, and President and Chief Operating
Officer of Golden State Foods, a privately held food company
that manufactures and distributes food and paper products.
Prior to that, he served as Executive Vice President of the Dial
Corporation, with responsibility for its Household and Laundry
Consumer Products businesses. Mr. Gochnauer also served as
President of the Stella Cheese Company, then a division of
Universal Foods, and as President of the International Division
of Schreiber Foods, Inc.

S. David Bent joined the Company as its Senior Vice President
and Chief Information Officer in May 2003. From August 2000
until such time, Mr. Bent served as the Corporate Vice President
and Chief Information Officer of Acterna Corporation, a multi-
national telecommunications test equipment and services
company, and also served as General Manager of its Software
Division from October 2002. Previously, he spent 18 years with
the Ford Motor Company. During his Ford tenure, Mr. Bent most
recently served during 1999 and 2000 as the Chief Information
Officer of Visteon Automotive Systems, a tier one automotive
supplier, and from 1998 through 1999 as its Director, Enterprise
Processes and Systems.

Ronald C. Berg has been the Senior Vice President, inventory
Management and Facility Support, of the Company since
October 2001. He had served previously as the Company’s Vice
President, Inventory Management, since 1997, and as a
Director, Inventory Management, since 1994. He began his
career with the Company in 1987 as an Inventory Rebuyer, and
spent several years thereafter in various product and furniture or
general inventory management positions. Prior to joining the
Company, Mr. Berg managed Solar Cine Products, Inc., a
family-owned, photographic equipment business.
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Name, Age and
Position with the Company

Business Experience

Patrick T. Collins
44, Senior Vice President, Sales

Brian S. Cooper
48, Senior Vice President and Treasurer

Kathleen S. Dvorak
48, Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer

James K. Fahey
54, Senior Vice President, Merchandising

Patrick T. Collins joined the Company in October 2004 as Senior
Vice President, Sales. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Collins
was employed by Ingram Micro, a global technology
distribution company, in various senior sales and marketing
roles, serving most recently as its Senior Group Vice President
of Sales and Marketing from January 2000 through
August 2004. in that capacity, Mr. Collins had operating
responsibility for sales, marketing, purchasing and supplier
relations for Ingram Micro’s North American division. Prior to
joining Ingram Micro in early 2000, Mr. Collins was with the
Frito-Lay division of PepsiCo, Inc., a global food and beverage
consumer products company, for nearly 15 years, where he
held various accounting, planning, sales and general
management positions.

Brian S. Cooper has served as the Company’s Senior Vice
President and Treasurer since February 2001. From 1997 until
he joined the Company, he was the Treasurer of Burns
International Services Corporation, a provider of physical
security systems and services. Prior to that time, Mr. Cooper
spent twelve years in U.S. and international finance
assignments with Amoco Corporation, a global petroleum and
chemicals company. He also held the position of Chief Financial
Officer for Amoco’s operations in Norway.

Kathleen S. Dvorak has been the Company’'s Senior Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer since October 2001. In that
role, she oversees the Company's financial planning,
accounting, treasury and investor relations activities and serves
as its primary liaison to the financial/investor community.
Ms. Dvorak previously served as the Senior Vice President of
Investor Relations and Financial Administration from
October 2000, and as Vice President, Investor Relations, from
July 1997. Ms. Dvorak has been with the Company since 1982,
and has been involved in various aspects of the financial
function at the Company.

James K. Fahey is the Company’s Senior Vice President,
Merchandising, with responsibility for product management
and merchandising, vendor logistics and advertising services.
From September 1992 until he assumed that position in
October 1998, Mr. Fahey served as Vice President,
Merchandising of the Company. Prior to that time, he served as
the Company’s Director of Merchandising. Before he joined the
Company in 1991, Mr. Fahey had an extensive career in both
retail and consumer direct-response marketing.



Name, Age and
Position with the Company

Business Experience

Deidra D. Gold
50, Senior Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary

Mark J. Hampton
51, Senior Vice President, Marketing

Jeffrey G. Howard
50, Senior Vice President, National Accounts
and Channel Management

Kenneth M. Nickel
37, Vice President and Controller

Deidra D.. Gold has served as the Company’s Senior Vice
President, General Counsel and Secretary since

-November 2001. She was Vice President and General Counsel

of eLoyalty Corporation, an IT consulting services and systems
integration company, from 2000 until such time, and Counsel
and Corporate Secretary of Ameritech Corporation, a
communications company, from early 1998 through the end of
1999, following its acquisition. Prior to such time, she was a
partner in the law firms of Goldberg, Kohn and Jones, Day,
Reavis & Pogue and served as Vice President and General
Counsel of Premier Industrial (renamed Premier Farnell)
Corporation, a wholesale distributor of electronic and industrial
products.

Mark J. Hampton is the Company’s Senior Vice President,
Marketing, with responsibility for marketing and category
management activities. He previously served as Senior Vice
President, Marketing and Field Support Services, from late 2001
until early 2003, Senior Vice President, Marketing, and
President and Chief Operating Officer of The Order People
Company, during 2001 and Senior Vice President, Marketing,
from October 2000. Mr. Hampton began his career with the
Company in 1980 and left the Company to work in the office
products dealer community in 1991. Upon his return to the
Company in 1992, he served as Midwest Regional Vice
President, Vice President and General Manager of the
Company’s MicroUnited division and, from 1994, Vice
President, Marketing.

Jeffrey G. Howard has served as the Company’s Senior Vice
President, National Accounts and Channel Management, since
October 2004, From early 2003 until such time, he was Senior
Vice President, National Accounts and New Business
Development. Mr. Howard previously held the positions of
Senior Vice President, Sales and Customer Support Services
from October 2001, Senior Vice President, National Accounts,
from late 2000 and Vice President, National Accounts, from
1994. He joined the Company in 1990 as General Manager of its
Los Angeles distribution center, and was promoted to Western
Region Vice President in 1992. Mr. Howard began his career in
the office products industry in 1973 with Boorum & Pease
Company, which was acquired by Esselte Pendaflex in 1985.

Kenneth M. Nickel has been the Company’s Vice President and
Controller since November 2002. Prior to that, Mr. Nickel served
as the Company’s Vice President and Field Support Center
Controller from November 2001 to October 2002 and as its Vice
President and Assistant Controller from April 2001 to

October 2001. Mr. Nickel has been with the Company since
November 1989 and has held progressively more responsible
accounting positions
department.

within the Company’s Finance




Name, Age and

Position with the Company Business Experience
P Cody Phipps P. Cody Phipps joined the Company in August 2003 as its Senior
43, Senior Vice President, Operations Vice President, Operations. Prior to joining the Company,

Mr. Phipps was a partner at McKinsey & Company, Inc., a global
management consulting firm. During his tenure at McKinsey
from and after 1990, he became a leader in the firm's North
American Operations Effectiveness Practice and co-founded
and led its Service Strategy and Operations Initiative, which
focused on driving significant operational improvements in
complex service and logistics environments. Prior to joining
McKinsey, Mr. Phipps worked as a consultant with The
Information Consulting Group, a systems consulting firm, and
as an |IBM account marketing representative.

Stephen A. Schultz Stephen A. Schultz is the President of Lagasse, Inc., a wholly
38, President, Lagasse, Inc. and Vice owned subsidiary of USSC, a position he has held since
President, Category Management, Janitorial/  August 2001. In October 2003, he assumed the additional
Sanitation position of Vice President, Category Management—Janitorial/

Sanitation, of the Company. Mr. Schuliz joined Lagasse in early
1999 as Vice President, Marketing and Business Development,
and became a Senior Vice President of Lagasse in late 2000.
Before joining Lagasse, he served for nearly 10 years in various
executive sales and marketing roles for Hospital Specialty
Company, a manufacturer and distributor of hygiene products
for the institutional janitorial and sanitation industry.

John T. Sloan John T. Sloan has been the Company’s Senior Vice President,
53, Senior Vice President, Human Human Resources since January 2002. Before he joined the
Resources Company, Mr. Sloan held various human resources

management positions with Sears, Roebuck and Co., a retailer
of apparel, home and automotive products and services,
serving most recently as its Executive Vice President, Human
Resources, from early 1998 through the end of 2000. Previously,
he served in various senior human resources and administrative
management positions with The Tribune Company, a media
company, and various divisions within Philip Morris
Incorporated, including The Seven-Up Company.

Joseph R. Templet Joseph R. Templet has served as Senior Vice President, Trade
58, Senior Vice President, Trade Development since October 2004. From October 2001 until
Development such time, Mr. Templet was the Company’'s Senior Vice

President, Field Sales. He previously served as the Company’s
Senior Vice President, Field Sales and Operations from
October 2001, Senior Vice President, South Region, from
October 2000, and Vice President, South Region, from 1992.
Mr. Templet joined the Company in 1985 and thereafter held
various managerial positions, including Vice President, Central
Region, and Vice President, Marketing and Corporate Sales.
Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Templet held sales and sales
management positions with the Parker Pen Company, Polaroid
Corporation and Procter & Gambile.

Executive officers are elected by the Board of Directors. Except as required by individual employment
agreements between executive officers and the Company, there exists no arrangement or
understanding between any executive officer and any other person pursuant to which such executive
officer was elected. Each executive officer serves until his or her successor is appointed and qualified or
until his or her earlier removal or resignation.



PART I

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES.

k4]

Common Stock Information

USI's common stock is quoted through The NASDAQ Stock Market® (“NASDAQ") under the symbol
USTR. The following table shows the high and low closing sale prices per share for USI's common stock
as reported by NASDAQ:

High Low

2004

FirstQuarer . ... $44.15 $37.17
Second QUaMEr . .. ... . 43.29 36.30
Third Quarter . . ... . o 4340 38.27
Fourth Quarter . .. .............. e 49,25 4250
2003

FirstQuarer . . ... .. $27.36 $18.00
Second Quarnter . . ... ... . e e e e 35.83 21.45
Third Quanter . ... ... e e e 41.30 35.67
Fourth Quarter . . ... ... . . i i i 4237 37.21

On March 2, 2005, there were approximately 737 holders of record of common stock. A greater number
of holders of USI common stock are ‘“street name” or beneficial holders, whose shares are held of
record by banks, brokers and other financial institutions.

Common Stock Repurchases

The Company did not repurchase any shares of USI common stock during the fourth quarter of 2004.
During full year 2004, the Company repurchased 1,072,654 shares of such common stock at an
aggregate cost of $40.9 million. The Company did not repurchase any stock during 2003. As of
December 31, 2004, the Company had authority from its Board of Directors and is permitted under its
debt agreements to additionally repurchase up to $86 million of USI common stock.

Dividends

The Company’s policy has been to reinvest earnings to enhance its financial flexibility and to fund future
growth. Accordingly, USI has not paid cash dividends and has no plans to declare cash dividends on its
common stock at this time. Furthermore, as a holding company, USI’s ability to pay cash dividends in the
future depends upon the receipt of dividends or other payments from its operating subsidiary, USSC.
The Company’s debt agreements impose limited restrictions on the payment of dividends. For further
information on the Company’s debt agreements, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources” in item 7, and Note 9
to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Securities Authorized for Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans

The information required by ltem 201(d) of Regulation S-K (Securities Authorized for Issuance under
Equity Compensation Plans) is included in ltem 12 of this Annual Report.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.

The selected consolidated financial data -of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2000
through 2004 have been derived from the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company, which
have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP an independent registered public accounting firm. The
selected consolidated financial data below should be read in conjunction with, and is qualified in its
entirety by, Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
and the Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company included in ltems 7 and 8, respectively, of
this Annual Report. Except for per share data, all amounts presented are in thousands:

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002 2001 2000

Income Statement Data:("
Netsales . . .. ... ... ... ... .. $ 3,991,190  § 3,847,722  $ 3,701,564  $3,925936 $ 3,944,862
Costofgoodssold . ... ... . ... ... .. ...... 3,408,974 3,287,189 3,163,589 3,306,143 3,301,018

Gross profit . . .. ... ... 582,216 560,533 537,975 619,793 643,844
Operating expenses:

Warehousing, marketing and administrative expenses . . 433,027 414,917 415,980 444,434 435,809

Goodwill amortization®™ . . . ... ... L 0L L. — — — 5,701 5,489

Restructuring and other charges, net®® . . .. ... .. — — 6,510 47,603 —
Total operating expenses . . ... ......... R 433,027 414,917 422,490 497,738 441,298
Income from operations . . . ... ... ... ... .. ... 149,189 145,616 115,485 122,055 202,546
Interestexpense . . .. . .. ... e (3,324) (6,816) (16,860) (25,872) (30,171)
Interest income . . . . ... L o 423 324 165 2,079 2,942
Loss on early retirement of debt®® .. ... ... — (6,693) — — (10,724)
Other expense, net” . . ... .. .. e (3,488) (4,826) (2,421) (4.621) (11,201)
Income before income taxes and cumulative effect of a

change in accounting principle . . .. ... .. ...... 142,800 127,605 96,369 93,641 153,392
Income tax expense . ... ... ... .. 52,829 48,495 36,141 36,663 61,225
Income before cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle . . . ... ... L. 89,971 79,110 60,228 56,978 92,167
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle® . . — (6,108) — — —
Netincome. . . ... ... ... ... i .. $ 89,971 $ 73,002 $ 60,228 $ 56978 $ 92,167
Net income per share—basic:

income before cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle . . .. ... ... L $ 269 % 239 % 181 8§ 170 $ 2.70

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle . . — (0.19) —_ — —

Net income per.common share—basic. . . . ... .. .. $ 269 §% 220 &% 1.81 $ 1.70 $ 2.70
Net income per share—diluted:

Income before cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle . . . ... ... . L $ 265 % 237 % 1.78 § 1.68 $ 2.65

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle . . — 0.19) — — —

Net income per common share—diluted . . . . .. .. .. 3 265 §$ 218 % 1.78 8 168 $ 2.65
Cash dividends declared pershare . . . .. .... ... .. 3 — 3 — 8 - 3 — % —
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital® . . ... ... Lo $ 458,472 $ 386,868 $ 400,587 $ 412,766 $ 495,456
Total assets® . ... ... ... .. ... ... ... . 1,407,240 1,295,010 1,349,229 1,380,587 1,481,417
Total debt™® . . . L 18,000 17,324 211,249 271,705 408,867
Total stockholders’ equity . . . ... .............. 731,203 672,978 558,884 538,681 478,439
Statement of Cash Flows Data:
Net cash provided by operating activities. . . . . ... ... $ 47042 $ 167667 $ 105730 $ 191,156 $ 38,718
Net cash used in investing activities . . . .. ... ... ... (8,719) (10,931) (23,039) (46,327) (83,534)
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities . . . . . (32,032) (164,416) (93,917} (135,783) 45,655
Other Data:
Pro forma amounts assuming the accounting change for

EITF Issue No. 02-16:®
Netincome. . .. ... ... ... . ... .. ...... $ 89971 $ 79110 $ 58862 $ 58353 $§ 91,784
Earnings per share:

Basic . ... ... ... . .. $ 269 $ 239 &% 177 8 174 § 2.69

Diluted ... ... .. $ 265 § 237 % 174  § 172 § 2.64

(1) During 2004, the Company recorded a pre-tax write-off of approximately $13.2 million in supplier allowances, customer rebates and
trade receivables, inventory and other items associated with the Company's-Canadian Division. The write-off related to amounts that
were either incorrectly accrued or overaccrued, or that had become uncollectible. The write-off includes items related to prior years of
approximately $6.7 million (pre-tax), based on prior period exchange rates. See Notes 1 and 18 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in ltem 8 of this Annual Report.

(2) Effective January 1, 2002, the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS"”) No. 142, Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets. Under SFAS No. 142, goodwill is no longer amortized, but is tested at least annually for impairment.
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() Inthe first quarter of 2002, the Company reversed $2.4 million of the restructuring charge taken in the third quarter of 2001. In addition,
the Company recorded restructuring and other charges of $8.9 million in the fourth quarter of 2002. See Note 4 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

In the third quarter of 2001, the Company recorded a restructuring charge of $47.6 million. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

B
E=

(5) During 2003, the Company redeemed its 8.375% Senior Subordinated Notes and replaced its then existing credit agreement with a
new Five-Year Revolving Credit Agreement. As a result, the Company recorded a loss on early retirement of debt totaling $6.7 million,
of which $5.9 million was associated with the redemption of the 8.375% Senior Subordinated Notes and $0.8 million related to the
write-off of deferred financing costs associated with replacing the prior credit agreement. See Item 7 and Note 9 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

(6) During 2000, the Company recorded a charge of $10.7 million for the early retirement of the Company’s 12.75% Senior Subordinated
Notes.

(7) Represents the loss on the sale of certain trade accounts receivable through the Company’s Receivables Securitization Program (as
defined and further described as noted in the next sentence) and certain gains or losses on the sale of capital assets. For further
information on the Company’'s Receivables Securitization Program, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations—Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements—Receivables Securitization Program” under ltem 7 of this
Annual Report.

(8) Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted EITF Issue No. 02-16. As a result, during the first quarter of 2003 the Company
recorded a non-cash, cumulative after-tax charge of $6.1 million, or $0.19 per diluted share, related to the capitalization into inventory
of a portion of fixed promotional allowances received from vendors for participation in the Company’s advertising publications. See
Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(9) Inaccordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP"}, total assets exclude $118.5 million in 2004, $150.0 million in
2003, $105.0 million in 2002, $125.0 million in 2001 and $150.0 million in 2000 of certain trade accounts receivable sold through the
Company'’s Receivables Securitization Program. For further information on the Company’s Receivables Securitization Program, see
“Management'’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements—
Receivables Securitization Program’™ under Item 7 of this Annual Report.

(10) Total debt includes current maturities.

FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Forward-looking
statements often contain words such as “expects,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “intends,” *“plans,”
“believes,” “seeks,” “will,” “is likely,” “scheduled,” “positioned to,” ‘“continue,” ‘forecast,”
“predicting,” “projection,” “potential” or similar expressions. Forward-looking statements include
references to goals, plans, strategies, objectives, projected costs or savings, anticipated future
performance, results or events and other statements that are not strictly historical in nature. These
forward-looking statements are based on management’'s current expectations, forecasts and
assumptions. This means they involve a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual
results to differ materially from those expressed or implied here. These risks and uncertainties include,
but are not limited to:

(R

* the Company’s ability to effectively manage its operations and to implement ongoing cost-
reduction and margin-enhancement initiatives;

* the Company’s ability to successfully procure and implement new information technology (“IT")
packages and systems, integrating them with and/or migrating from existing IT systems and
platforms without business disruption or other unanticipated difficulties or costs;

» the Company’s ability to effectively integrate past and future acquisitions into its management,
operations and financial and IT systems;

+ the Company’s ability to implement, timely and effectively, improved internal controls in response
to conditions previously or subsequently identified at the Company’s Canadian division or
elsewhere, in order to maintain on an ongoing basis an effective internat control environment in
compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002;
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* the conduct and scope of the SEC’s informal inquiry relating to the Company’s Canadian division
or any formal investigation that may arise therefrom, and the ultimate resolution of such inquiry or
investigation;

* the outcome of and costs associated with the defense of legal proceedings pending against the
Company;

* the Company’s reliance on key suppliers and the impact of variability in their pricing, allowance
programs and other terms, conditions and policies, such as those relating to geographic or
product sourcing limitations, price protection terms and return rights;

* variability in supplier allowances and promotional incentives payable to the Company, based on
inventory purchase volumes, attainment of supplier-established growth hurdles, and supplier
participation in the Company’s annual and quarterly catalogs and other marketing programs, and
the impact of such supplier allowances and promotional incentives on the Company’s gross
margins;

» the Company’s reliance on key customers, the top five of which accounted for approximately 26%
of the Company’s 2004 net sales, and the business, credit and other risks inherent in continuing
or increased customer concentration;

* continuing or increasing competitive activity and pricing pressures within existing or expanded
product categories;

* increases in customers’ purchases directly from product manufacturers;

» the Company’'s ability to anticipate and respond to changes in end-user demand and to
effectively manage levels of excess or obsolete inventory;

» the impact of variability in customer demand on the Company’s product offerings and sales mix
and, in turn, on customer rebates payable, and supplier allowances earned, by the Company and
on the Company’s gross margin;

* reliance on key management personnel, both in day-to-day operations and in execution of new
business initiatives;

* uncertainties attendant to any new regulations applicable to the Company, including any new
rulemaking by the SEC;

* acts of terrorism or war; and

* prevailing economic conditions and changes affecting the business products industry and the
general economy.

Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking statements contained in this Annual
Report. The forward-looking information herein is given as of this date only, and the Company
undertakes no obligation to revise or update it.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS,

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with both the information at the end of item 6 of
this Annual Report appearing under the caption, “Forward Looking Information,” and the Company’s
Consolidated Financial Statements and related notes contained in ltem 8 of this Annual Report.

Overview; Recent Results

The Company is North America’s largest broad line wholesale distributor of business products, with
2004 net sales of approximately $4.0 billion. Through its national distribution network, the Company
distributes its products to over 15,000 resellers, who in turn sell directly to end-consumers. Products are
distributed through computer-linked networks of 35 USSC distribution centers, 24 Lagasse distribution
centers that serve the janitorial and sanitation industry, two distribution centers in Mexico that serve
computer supply resellers, and two Azerty distribution centers that serve the Canadian marketplace.

Sales for 2005 through the filing date of this Annual Report were up approximately 9% compared with the
same period last year. Of this 9% year-over-year sales growth, the Company estimates that
approximately 2% is attributable to manufacturers’ price increases. While there are recent favorable
economic indicators that generally correlate with increasing demand for business products, there can
be no assurance that such economic trends will be sustainable, that they will in fact lead to increased
demand for the Company’s products on an ongoing basis or that any increased demand will not be
negatively impacted by increasing competition or other developments affecting the Company’s
business or industry.

Key Company and Industry Trends

The following is a summary of selected trends, events or uncertainties that the Company believes may
have a significant impact on its future performance.

* Generally, unemployment levels, job creation and office space utilization are directional
indicators of business-related spending for business products. While there are early 2005
indications that an improving economy may bring positive changes in some or all of these areas,
any significant favorable impact on Company performance will be dependent on whether such
changes are sustainable over a longer period and whether such general trends positively impact
demand for both value-added services like those offered by the Company and previously
deferred, discretionary expenditures on higher-margin products.

+ Office furniture sales, accounting for 12% of the Company’s total 2004 net sales, grew 7.6% in
2004 as compared to 2003. Industry forecasts for office furniture sales continue to show an
improving trend. The Company has sought to enhance its furniture offerings and so believes it
should be well positioned to take advantage of any such favorable market conditions.

* Significant manufacturers’ price increases have recently been announced in product categories
affected by increased raw material prices for steel, petroleum/resin-based products and paper.
The Company generally has the ability to cover resulting increases in its product purchase costs
by increasing its sale prices to its reseller customers, thereby contributing to increased Company
net sales without eroding margin. [n any cases in which the Company is not able to do so fuilly and
timely (as a result, for example, of competitive market conditions or customer contract terms),
there would be a negative impact on the Company’s pricing and gross margin. The Company
often seeks to forward buy products in advance of manufacturers’ announced price increases,
consistent with its distribution center capacity and prudent working capital management. The
Company’s margin will be favorably impacted to the extent it is able to undertake such forward
buying activities and pass through increased manufacturers’ prices to its reseller customers.
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* Technology products continue to be the Company’s largest product category by sales volume,
accounting for approximately 45% of the Company’s 2004 consolidated net sales. The Company
expects that technology products will continue to account for a significant portion of its net sales,
reflecting industry-wide trends. Technology products generally have lower gross margins than
the Company’s other product categories, although the associated operating costs are typically
lower than operating costs for the other product categories distributed by the Company.
Moreover, the Company’s sales mix within the technology products category tends to be
weighted more heavily toward computer consumables (such as toner) that are subject to
substantial competitive pricing pressure and therefore tend to have pricing margins (invoice price
less standard cost) at the lower end of these for products within the technology product category.

* The Company has offered competitive pricing on many key commaodity products, including cut
sheet paper and computer consumables. This pricing strategy has stimulated sales and thereby
enabled the Company to better leverage its substantial fixed costs across higher sales. However,
it has negatively impacted the Company’s pricing margin rate and therefore its gross margin rate
{pricing margin increased for supplier allowances and reduced by customer rebates). This
downward pressure on pricing margin and its negative effect on the Company’s gross margin has
been partially mitigated by the Company’s “war on waste” initiatives, which may not be
sustainable at the same levels in future years. The Company expects that its commodity products
will continue to be subject to significant price competition, and that it will continue to respond with
market competitive pricing initiatives, resulting in an ongoing negative impact on pricing margin
and therefore gross margin.

* Independent dealers account for nearly 80% of the Company’s net sales. Their continued viability
and success are important to future sales and earnings growth for the Company. Independent
dealers face increasing competition from existing national resellers who are targeting the middle
market. National resellers may have competitive advantages over independent dealers, such as
greater economies of scale, greater marketing, advertising and financial resources, a broader
retail presence and a more sophisticated online ecommerce offering. Independent dealers
typically compete with national resellers by providing greater service flexibility and offering other
value-added services.

* Management has renewed its emphasis on reducing costs and leveraging the Company’s
existing infrastructure. However, as described below in this ftem 7 under the caption “Cash
Flows—Cash Flows from Investing Activities,” the Company expects its 2005 net capital
spending to increase substantially over the prior year, as it plans to make substantial investments
in its IT systems and infrastructure.

Review of Canadian Division

During 2004, the Company recorded a write-off of approximately $13.2 million ($8.3 million after-tax, or
$0.24 per diluted share) in supplier allowances, customer rebates and trade receivables, inventory and
other items associated with the Company’s Azerty United Canada division (the “Canadian Division”).
The Canadian Division accounted for approximately 3.8% of the Company’s consolidated net sales for
the year ended December 31, 2004. Of the $13.2 million total write-off (referenced above), $12.9 million
related to cost of goods sold and $0.3 million related to operating expenses. The write-off related to
amounts that were either incorrectly accrued or overaccrued, or that had become uncollectible. The
write-off includes items related to prior years of approximately $6.7 million ($4.2 million after-tax, or $0.12
per diluted share), based on prior period exchange rates and tax rates.

In October 2004, the Company began conducting a review of supplier allowances and other items at its
Canadian Division. This included a detailed review of the Canadian Division’s financial records by the
Company’s U.S. headquarters accounting staff. In addition, the Company’s Audit Committee, with the
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assistance of outside counsel and forensic accounting experts, conducted an investigation of
transactions with customers and suppliers, related accounting entries and allegations of misconduct at
the Canadian Division.

Both the accounting review and the Audit Committee investigation were completed in February 2005.
The Company determined that the Canadian Division incorrectly accounted for certain items, primarily
during 2003 and 2004, including: accruing supplier allowances that it did not qualify for under the terms
of its supplier agreements; failing to timely write off anticipated supplier allowances and other
receivables that, although properly accrued initially, were no longer collectible; and failing to properly
record customer returns and make other adjustments to inventory balances required under generally
accepted accounting principles.

The Audit Committee’s investigation found no evidence that management in the United States had
knowledge of, or involvement in, improper activities at the Canadian Division. The investigation did
reveal, however, evidence of fraud by personnel at the Canadian Division, involving improper and
fictitious sales transactions, including sale and buyback transactions, and other accounting
improprieties. Revenues from sale and buyback transactions totaling $4.6 million were reversed on the
Company’s books in the fourth quarter of 2004.

The investigation revealed that personnel at the Canadian Division recorded sales before shipment and
held month ends open to record additional sales. Due to the relatively low daily sales volume at the
Canadian Division, the Company concluded that sales recorded before shipment or after month end,
which could not in most cases be quantified from the Canadian Division’s accounting records, did not
have a significant impact on the Company’s consolidated resuits, and therefore no adjustments were
made in connection therewith.

The investigation concluded that these activities were undertaken to improve the apparent financial
performance of the Canadian Division.

In early November 2004, the Company replaced certain members of management at the Canadian
Division. In addition, the Company held discussions with the suppliers that were impacted by these
activities and has resolved historical issues with them related to the Canadian Division.

In connection with this review, the Company, in consultation with its independent registered public
accountants, Ernst & Young LLP (“E&Y”), identified several internal control deficiencies related to its
Canadian Division and determined that those constituted significant deficiencies for the third and fourth
quarters of 2004. These and other internal control deficiencies are discussed in Iltem 9A, “Controls and
Procedures.”

The Company has been advised that the staff of the SEC is conducting an informal inquiry regarding the
Company in connection with its Canadian Division and associated financial reporting matters. See
ltem 3 of this Annual Report.

Critical Accounting Policies, Judgments and Estimates

The Company’s significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 of the Consolidated
Financial Statements. As described in Note 2, the preparation of financial statements in conformity with
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and
assumptions about future events that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Future events and their effects cannot be determined with absolute certainty.
Therefore, the determination of estimates requires the exercise of judgment. Actual results may differ
from those estimates. The Company believes that such differences would have to vary significantly from
historical trends to have a matetial impact on the Company'’s financial results. Historically, actual results
have not deviated significantly from estimates.
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The Company’s critical accounting policies are those that are important to portraying the Company’s
financial condition and results of operations and require especially difficult, subjective or complex
judgments or estimates by management. In most cases, critical accounting policies require
management to make estimates on matters that are uncertain at the time the estimate is made. The basis
for the estimates is historical experience, terms of existing contracts, observance of industry trends,
information provided by customers or vendors, and information available from other outside sources, as
appropriate. The most significant accounting polices and estimates inherent in the preparation of the
Company'’s financial statements inciude the following:

Supplier Allowances

Supplier allowances (fixed or variable) are common practice in the business products industry and have
a significant impact on the Company’s overall gross margin. Gross margin includes, among other items,
file margin (determined by reference to invoiced price), as reduced by estimated customer discounts
and rebates as discussed below, and increased by estimated supplier allowances and promotional
incentives,

Approximately 40% to 45% of the Company’s annual supplier allowances and incentives are fixed and
are based on supplier participation in various Company advertising and marketing publications. Fixed
allowances and incentives are taken to income through lower cost of goods sold as inventory is sold.

The remaining 55% to 60% of the Company’s annual supplier allowances and incentives are variable,
based on the volume of the Company’s product purchases from suppliers. These variable allowances
are recorded based on the Company’s estimated annual inventory purchase volumes and product mix
and are included in the Company's financial statements as a reduction to cost of goods sold, thereby
reflecting the net inventory purchase cost. Supplier allowances and incentives attributable to unsold
inventory are carried as a component of net inventory cost. The potential amount of variable supplier
allowances often differs based on purchase volumes by supplier and product category. As a result, lower
Company sales volume (which reduce inventory purchase requirements) and product sales mix
changes (especially because higher-margin products often benefit from higher supplier allowance rates)
can make it difficult to reach some supplier aliowance growth hurdies. To the extent the Company’s sales
volumes or product sales mix differ from those estimated, the variable aliowances for the current period
may be overstated or understated.

Customer Rebates

Customer rebates and discounts are common in the business products industry and have a significant
impact on the Company’s overall sales and gross margin. Such rebates are reported in the Consolidated
Financial Statements as a reduction of sales.

Customer rebates include volume rebates, sales growth incentives, advertising allowances,
participation in promotions and other miscellaneous discount programs. These rebates are paid to
customers monthly, quarterly and/or annually. Volume rebates and growth incentives are based on the
Company’s annual sales volumes to its customers. The aggregate amount of customer rebates depends
on product sales mix and customer mix changes.

Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when a service is rendered or when fitle to the product has transferred to the
customer. Management establishes a reserve and records an estimate for future product returns related
to revenue recognized in the current period. This estimate requires management to make certain
estimates and judgments, including estimating the amount of future returns of products sold in the
current period. This estimate is based on historical product return trends and the loss of gross margin
associated with those returns. This methodology involves some risk and uncertainty due to its
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dependence on historical information for product returns and gross margins to record an estimate of
future product returns. if actual product returns on current period sales differ from historical trends, the
amounts estimated for product returns (which reduce net sales) for the period may be overstated or
understated, causing actual results of operation or financial condition to differ from those expected.

Valuation of Accounts Receivable

The Company makes judgments as to the collectability of accounts receivable based on historical tfrends
and future expectations. Management estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts. This allowance
adjusts gross trade accounts receivable downward to its estimated collectible, or net realizable, value.
To determine the appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts, management undertakes a two-step
process. First, a general allowance percentage is applied to accounts receivables generated as a result
of sales. This percentage is based on historical trends for customer write-offs. Periodically, management
reviews this allowance percentage, based on current information and trends. Second, management
reviews specific customers accounts receivable balances and specific customer circumstances to
determine whether further allowance for specific accounts is necessary. As part of this specific customer
analysis, management wiil consider items such as bankruptcy filings, historical charge-off patterns,
accounts receivable concentrations and the current level of receivables compared with historical
customer account balances.

The primary risks in the methodology used to estimate the allowance for doubtful accounts are its
dependence on historical information to predict the collectability of accounts receivable and the
sometime unavailability of current financial information from customers. To the extent actual collections
of accounts receivable differ from historical trends, the allowance for doubtful accounts and related
expense for the current period may be overstated or understated.

insured Loss Liability Estimates

The Company is primarily responsible for retained liabilities related to workers’ compensation, vehicle
and general liability and certain employee health benefits. The Company records expense for paid and
open claims and an expense for claims incurred but not reported based on historical {frends and on
certain assumptions about future events. The Company has an annual per person maximum cap on
certain employee medical benefits provided by a third-party insurance company. In addition, the
Company has both a per-occurrence maximum loss and an annual aggregate maximum cap on
workers' compensation claims.

Inventories

Inventory constituting approximately 88% and 90% of total inventory as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, has been valued under the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) accounting method. The remaining
inventory is valued under the first-in, first-out (“FIFQ”) accounting method. inventory valued under the
FIFO and LIFO accounting methods is recorded at the lower of cost or market. If the lower of FIFO cost or
market had been used by the Company for its entire inventory, inventory would have been $27.2 million
and $22.9 million higher than reported as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. In
addition, inventory reserves are recorded for shrinkage and for obsolete, damaged, defective, and
slow-moving inventory. These reserve estimates are determined using historical trends and are
adjusted, if necessary, as new information becomes available.

Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with FASB Statement No. 109, “Accounting for
Income Taxes.” The Company estimates actual current tax expense and assesses temporary differences
that exist due to differing treatments of items for tax and financiai statement purposes. These differences




result in the recognition of deferred tax assets and liabilities. The tax balances and income tax expense
recognized by the Company are based on management’s interpretation of the tax laws of multiple
jurisdictions. Income tax expense also reflects the Company’s best estimates and assumptions
regarding, among other things, the level of future taxable income, interpretation of tax laws, and tax
planning. Future changes in tax laws, changes in projected levels of taxable income, and tax planning
could impact the effective tax rate and tax balances recorded by the Company. Management's estimates
as of the date of the Consolidated Financial Statements reflect its best judgment giving consideration to
all currently available facts and circumstances. As such, these estimates may require adjustment in the
future, as additional facts become known or as circumstances change.

Pension and Postretirement Health Benefits

Calculating the Company’s obligations and expenses related to its pension and postretirement health
benefits requires using certain actuarial assumptions. As more fully discussed in Notes 11 and 12 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Item 8 of this Annual Report, these actuarial assumptions
include discount rates, expected long-term rates of return on plan assets, and rates of increase in
compensation and healthcare costs. To select the appropriate actuarial assumptions, management
relies on current market trends and historical information. Pension expense for 2004 was $6.8 million,
compared to $6.6 million in 2003. A one percentage point decrease in the expected long-term rate of
return on plan assets and the assumed discount rate would have resulted in an increase in pension
expense for 2004 of approximately $2.8 million.

Costs associated with the Company’s postretirement health benefits plan were $0.8 million and
$1.1 million for 2004 and 2003, respectively. A one-percentage point decrease in the assumed discount
rate would have resulted in incremental postretirement healthcare expenses for 2004 of approximately
$0.2 million. Current rates of medical cost increases are trending above the Company’s medical cost
increase cap provided by the plan. Accordingly, a one percentage point increase in the assumed
average healthcare cost trend would not have a significant impact on the Company’s postretirement
health plan costs.

The following tables summarize the Company’s actuarial assumptions for discount rates, expected
long-term rates of return on plan assets, and rates of increase in compensation and healthcare costs for
the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002:

2004 2003 2002

Pension plan assumptions:

Assumed discount rafe . . . .. . ... e 6.00% 6.25% 6.75%
Rate of compensationincrease . . . . ... . ... ... 3.75% 4.00% 5.00%
Expected long-term rate of returnon plan assets . . . . .......... 8.25% 8.25% 8.25%
Postretirement health benefits assumptions:

Assumed average healthcarecosttrend . .. ... .............. 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%
Assumed discountrate ... ..... ... .. . e 6.00% 6.25% 6.75%
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Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002

The following table presents the Consolidated Statements of Income as a percentage of net sales:

Years Ended
December 31,

2004 2003 2002

Netsales.......... ... ... . ... . . i, 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Costofgoodssold . . ........ ... ... ... .. .. ... .. ... 85.4 85.4 85.5
Gross margin. . . . ... e 14.6 14.6 14.5
Operating expenses:

Warehousing, marketing and administrative expenses . . . . . .. 10.9 10.8 11.2

Restructuring and other charges, net ... ............... — — 0.2
Total operating expenses . . ... ... .. . e 10.9 10.8 11.4
Income fromoperations . . . ....... . ... 3.7 3.8 3.1
Interest eXpense . . . . . .. . . — (0.2) (0.5)
Interest income . .. .. .. — — 0.1
Loss on early retirementofdebt . .. ... ... ... . L — (0.2 —
Other expense, net . . ... ... .. . (0.1) (0.1) (0.1)
Income before income taxes and cumulative effect of a change in

accounting principle . . .. .. .. ... . 3.6 3.3 26
Income tax eXpense . . . ... .. 1.3 1.2 1.0
income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting

principle . . . . .. 2.3 2.1 1.6
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax

benefit .. . ... .. — (0.2) —
Netincome . . ... .. ... . . e 23% 1.9 % 1.6 %

Comparison of Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2004 and 2003

Net Sales. Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2004 were $4.0 billion, up 3.7%, compared with

$3.8 billion in the prior year. The following table shows net sales by product category for 2004 and 2003
(in millions):

Years Ended
December 31,

2004 2003

Technology products . . ... ...t I $1,778  $1,734
Traditional office products ... ....... ... ... ... . . . .. .. . ... 1,193 1,171
Janitorial and sanitation . . ... ... ... 472 426
Office furniture . . .. .. .. 474 440
Freight revenue . . .. . ... . . . 56 53
Other . . . 18 24
Total net sales. . . . .. o $3,991 $3,848

Note: To conform with current year presentation, reclassifications between product catagories were
made to the 2003 presentation. The reclassifications did not impact total net sales.

Sales in the technology products category grew 2.6% in 2004 compared to the prior year. This category
continues to represent the largest percentage of the Company’s consolidated net sales (approximately
45%). Sales in this category benefited from continued Company initiatives, including those supporting
the Company’s position as a “single source” for delivery of office products and technclogy products
together, competitive pricing and new approaches to marketing products.
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Traditiona! office supplies represented approximately 30% percent of the Company’s sales in 2004.
Sales of traditional office supplies grew 1.8% versus the prior year. The growth in this category was
driven by higher cut-sheet paper sales and initiatives within the school supplies market.

Sales growth in 2004 in the janitorial and sanitation product category remained strong, rising 11% and
accounting for 12% of the Company’s 2004 sales. Growth in this sector was primarily due to continued
growth with large distributors the Company serves. In addition, the Company is launching new initiatives
to help drive continued growth in this category. For example, the Company’s OfficeJan initiative was
designed to drive demand of janitorial and sanitation supplies to office products dealers by making
these products available as part of a consolidated shipment.

Office furniture sales in 2004 increased 7.6% compared to the prior year. Office furniture accounted for
12% of the Company’s sales during 2004. This category benefited from positive economic trends,
including rising employment levels combined with increases in office space occupancy. in addition,
sales during 2004 were positively impacted through more competitive pricing and dedicated resources
to serving key markets within this category.

The remaining 1% of the Company’'s net sales for 2004 were derived from freight and advertising
revenue.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin Rate. Gross profit (gross margin dollars) for 2004 was $582.2 million,
compared to $560.5 million for 2003. The increase in gross profit is primarily due to higher net sales.
Gross profit for 2004 was adversely affected by a $12.9 million write-off in supplier allowances, customer
rebates and trade receivables, inventory and other items at the Company’s Canadian Division, of which
$6.2 million was related to prior years (see the information above under the caption “Review of Canadian
Division"’).

The Company’s 2004 gross margin rate (gross profit as a percentage of net sales) was 14.6%, even with
2003. Although the Company’s gross margin rate was relatively even during the first three quarters of
2004, it was 13.8% for the fourth quarter of 2004, reflecting the negative impact of both competitive
pricing initiatives and write-offs related to the Company’s Canadian Division. The Company’s gross
margin rate for the full 2004 year was adversely impacted by lower pricing margin (invoice price less
standard cost) for technology products and a pricing strategy within certain other product categories
designed to generate higher sales through more competitive pricing. As a result, the pricing margin rate
declined approximately 0.3 percentage points versus last year. This decline was offset by improvements
in net delivery expense (0.2 percentage points) and a reduction in losses from damaged merchandise
(0.1 percentage points) resulting from “war on waste"” internal initiatives. The Company’s gross margin
rate for 2004 was also adversely affected by a $12.9 million charge related to the Company’s Canadian
Division.

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses for 2004 totaled $433.0 million, or 10.9% of net sales,
compared with $414.9 million, or 10.8% of net sales in 2003. Operating expenses for 2004 increased
primarily as a resuit of a $10.8 million increase in employee payroll, travel and other employee related
costs and a $5.6 million increase in professional fees, primarily relating to the review and investigation of
the Company’s Canadian Division and costs associated with the Company’s compliance with the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Operating expenses as a percentage of net sales increased only slightly as
a result of higher net sales in 2004 compared with 2003.

Interest Expense. Interest expense for 2004 was $3.3 million, or less than 0.1% of net sales, compared
with $6.8 million, or 0.2% of net sales in 2003. This decline primarily reflects lower borrowing levels.

Loss on Early Retirement of Debt. On April 28, 2003, the Company redeemed the entire $100 million
outstanding principal amount of its 8.375% Senior Subordinated Notes (the “8.375% Notes”) at the
redemption price of 104.188% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the

21



date of redemption. As a result of the redemption of the 8.375% Notes and replacement of the
Company’s credit agreement in 2003, the Company recorded a loss on early retirement of debt totaling
$6.7 million, of which $5.9 million was associated with the redemption of the 8.375% Notes and
$0.8 million related to the write-off of deferred financing costs associated with replacing the credit
agreement (see Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). No such loss was recorded in 2004.

Other Expense, net. Other expense for 2004 was $3.5 million, or 0.1% of net sales, compared with
$4.8 million, or 0.1% of net sales in 2003. Net other expense for 2004 includes $3.1 million associated
with the sale of certain trade accounts receivable through the Receivables Securitization Program,
$0.3 million related to the write-down of certain assets held for sale and $0.1 million loss on the sale of
certain assets. Net other expense for 2003 includes $1.3 million related to the write-down of certain
assets held for sale and $3.5 million associated with the sale of certain trade accounts receivable
through the Receivables Securitization Program.

Income Taxes. Income tax expense was $52.8 million in 2004, compared with $48.5 million in 2003.
The Company’s effective tax rate was 37.0% and 38.0% for 2004 and 2003, respectively. The change in
the effective rate was from lower state and local rates due to the mix of income between states, closing
open tax years under audit and tax planning.

Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle. The Company recorded a cumulative effect
of a change in accounting principle in 2003 of $6.1 million, representing a one-time, non-cash,
cumulative after-tax charge related to the adoption of EITF Issue No. 02-16 (see Note 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements). No such charge was recorded in 2004.

Net Income. For 2004, the Company recorded net income of $90 million, or $2.65 per diluted share,
compared with net income of $73.0 million, or $2.18 per diluted share, in 2003. Net income for 2004
includes an after-tax charge of $4.2 million, or $0.12 per diluted share, for write-offs related to supplier
allowances, customer rebates and trade receivables, inventory and other items associated with the
Company’s Canadian Division that are attributable to prior-years (see above caption “Review of
Canadian Division”). Net income for 2003 includes an after-tax charge of $4.2 million, or $0.12 per
diluted share, related to the early retirement of debt, and an after-tax charge of $6.1 million, or $0.19 per
diluted share, related to the cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle.

Comparison of Results for the Years Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002

Net Sales. Net sales for the year ended December 31, 2003 were $3.8 billion, up 3.9%, compared with
$3.7 billion in 2002. The following table shows net sales by product category for 2003 and 2002 (in
millions):

Years Ended
December 31,

2003 2002
Technology products . . .. .. .. it $1,734  $1,527
Traditional office products .. ....... ... .. ... . . . . .. . . . 1,171 1,220
Janitorial and sanitation . . . ... ... .. .. . 42¢ 412
Office furniture . .. ... .. 440 461
Freightrevenue . ... ... .. ... . .. . Ki 54
Other .. . 24 28
Total Net sales. . . ... o $3,848 $3,702

Note: To conform with current year presentation, reclassifications between product categories were
made to the 2003 and 2002 presentation. The reclassifications did not impact total net sales.
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Sales in the technology products category for 2003 were up nearly 14% compared with 2002 and
represented 45% of the Company’s 2003 consolidated net sales, compared with 42% of such sales in
2002. The growth in this category was primarily the result of favorable industry dynamics and the
addition of new customers in new and existing channels.

Sales of traditional office products experienced a decline of 4.0% versus the prior year. The decline in
sales of traditional office products was primarily the resuit of weak end-consumer demand as a result of
continued negative macroeconomic pressures including workforce reductions and cost-reduction
initiatives by end user businesses.

Office furniture sales in 2003 were down by 4.6% compared with 2002, These results reflected soft
customer demand for products, such as furniture, that are regarded as “discretionary” purchases in
light of weak macroeconomic and employment conditions, as well as the continuing availability of
high-quality used office furniture at substantially discounted prices.

Sales in the janitorial and sanitation product category, primarily distributed through the Company's
Lagasse subsidiary, grew 3.2%. Growth in this category was primarily due to continued growth with
larger distributors the Company serves.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin Rate. Gross profit (gross margin dollars) for 2003 was $560.5 million,
compared to $538.0 million in 2002. The increase in gross profit is primarily due to higher net sales.

The Company’s 2003 gross margin rate (gross profit as a percentage of net sales) was 14.6%, as
compared to 14.5% for 2002. The Company’s gross margin rate was favorably impacted by higher
supplier allowances (0.5 percentage points) as a result of higher net sales and achieving certain volume
growth hurdies. These allowances increased to $231 million in 2003 from $204 million in 2002.

The Company’s gross margin rate was negatively impacted by the shift in overall product sales mix, as
well as shifts within each major product category. The Company’s customers postponed higher margin,
discretionary purchases, such as furniture, and ordered primarily lower margin, commodity business
products essential for their companies. As a result of these trends, the file margin (invoice price less
standard cost) rate declined approximately 0.7 percentage points versus 2002,

Operating Expenses. Operating expenses for 2003 totaled $414.9 million, or 10.8% of net sales,
compared with $422.5 million, or 11.4% of net sales in 2002. The favorable reduction in 2003 operating
expenses as a percentage of net sales was due primarily to lower payroll costs, depreciation and
amortization and increased leverage of fixed costs resulting from somewhat higher sales. In addition,
2002 operating expenses were adversely impacted by the restructuring and other charges taken in 2002
{(described below) and a $1.8 million charge related to the retirement of the Company’s former president
and chief executive officer.

Operating expenses for 2002 included (i) restructuring and other charges of $8.9 million under a
restructuring plan approved by the Company’s Board of Directors in the fourth quarter of 2002 (the
#2002 Restructuring Plan”) and (ii} a $2.4 million partial reversal of the restructuring charge taken in the
third quarter of 2001 (the “2001 Restructuring Plan”). The 2002 Restructuring Plan included additional
charges related to: revised real estate sub-lease assumptions as compared to those used in the 2001
Restructuring Plan; further downsizing of the operations of the Company’s third-party fulfilment services
for products other than office products, conducted under the name The Order People (“TOP”"), including
severance and anticipated exit costs related to a portion of the Company’s Memphis distribution center;
closure of the Milwaukee, Wisconsin distribution center; and the write-down of certain e-commerce-
related investments. The 2002 Restructuring Plan also reflected workforce reductions. All initiatives
under the 2002 Restructuring Plan are completed. However, certain cash payments will continue for
accrued exit costs relating to long-term lease obligations expiring at various times over the next six
years. See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for more information regarding these
restructuring and other charges and remaining accrual balances.
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Interest Expense. Interest expense for 2003 was $6.8 million, or 0.2% of net sales, compared with
$16.9 million, or 0.5% of net sales in 2002. This decline reflects savings due to the redemption of the
Company’s 8.375% Notes financed primarily through the Company’s lower-cost Receivables
Securitization Program.

Loss on Early Retirement of Debt. As a result of the redemption of the 8.375% Notes and
replacement of the Company’s credit agreement in 2003, the Company recorded a loss on early
retirement of debt in 2003 totaling $6.7 million, of which $5.9 million was associated with the redemption
of the 8.375% Notes and $0.8 million related to the write-off of deferred financing costs associated with
replacing the credit agreement (see Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements). No such loss was
recorded in 2002.

Other Expense, net. Other expense for 2003 was $4.8 million, or 0.1% of net sales, compared with
$2.4 million, or 0.1% of net sales in 2002. Net other expense for 2003 includes $1.3 million related to the
write-down of certain assets held for sale and $3.5 million associated with the sale cf certain trade
accounts receivable through the Receivables Securitization Program. Other expense for 2002
represents costs associated with the Receivables Securitization Program.

Income Taxes. Income tax expense was $48.5 million in 2003, compared with $36.1 rnillion in 2002.
The Company’s effective tax rate was 38.0% and 37.5% for 2003 and 2002, respectively.

Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle. Cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle in 2003 was $6.1 million, representing a one-time, non-cash, cumulative after-tax charge
related to the adoption of EITF Issue No. 02-16 (see Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements).
No such charge was recorded in 2002.

Net Income. For 2003, the Company recorded net income of $73.0 million, or $2.18 per diluted share,
compared with net income of $60.2 million, or $1.78 per diluted share, in 2002. Net income for 2003
includes an after-tax charge of $4.2 million, or $0.12 per diluted share related to the early retirement of
debt, and an after-tax charge of $6.1 million, or $0.19 per diluted share, related to the cumulative effect of
a change in accounting principle. Net income for 2002 includes net restructuring and other after-tax
charges of $4.1 million, or $0.12 per diluted share.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
General

USI is a holding company and, as a result, its primary sources of funds are cash generated from the
operating activities of its operating subsidiary, USSC, including the sale of certain accounts receivable,
and cash from borrowings by USSC. Restrictive covenants in USSC'’s debt agreements rastrict USSC’s
ability to pay cash dividends and make other distributions to USL. In addition, the right of USI to
participate in any distribution of earnings or assets of USSC is subject to the prior claims of the creditors,
including trade creditors, of USSC.
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The Company’s outstanding debt under GAAR together with funds generated from the sale of
receivables under the Company’s off-balance sheet Receivables Securitization Program (as defined
below) consisted of the following amounts (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2004 2003
Revolving Credit Facility . . ........ ... ... .. ... .. .. ...... $ 11,200 $ 10,500
Industrial development bond, at market-based interest rates,

maturing in 2011 . . . . .. . 6,800 6,800
Otherlong-termdebt . ...... . ... . ... . ... . . .. . — 24
Debt under GAAP . . ... ... . . .. 18,000 17,324
Accounts receivable sold®™ . ... ... 118,500 150,000
Total outstanding debt under GAAP and receivables sold (adjusted

debt) ... 136,500 167,324
Stockholders’ equity . . .. ... ... 731,203 672,978
Total capitalization . ....... ... ... . . . $867,703 $840,302
Adjusted debt to total capitalizationratio .. .................. 15.7% 19.9%

(1) See discussion below under “Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements—Receivables Securitization Program”

The most directly comparable financial measure to adjusted debt that is calculated and presented in
accordance with GAAP is total debt (as provided in the above table as “Debt under GAAP”). Under
GAAP, accounts receivable sold under the Company’s Receivables Securitization Program are required
to be reflected as a reduction in accounts receivable and not reported as debt. Internally, the Company
considers accounts receivables sold to be a financing mechanism. The Company therefore believes it is
helpful to provide readers of its financial statements with a measure that adds accounts receivable sold
to debt.

In accordance with GAAP, total debt outstanding as of December 31, 2004 increased by $0.7 million to
$18.0 miltion from the balance as of December 31, 2003. This increase was the result of additional
borrowings under the Company’s Revolving Credit Facility. Adjusted debt is defined as outstanding debt
under GAAP combined with accounts receivable sold under the Receivables Securitization Program.
Adjusted debt as of December 31, 2004 declined by $30.8 million from the balance as of December 31,
2003. As of December 31, 2004, the Company’s adjusted debt to total capitalization ratio (adjusted from
the debt under GAAP amount to add the receivables then sold under the Company’s Receivables
Securitization Program as debt) was 15.7%, compared to 19.9% as of December 31, 2003.

The adjusted debt to total capitalization ratio is provided as an additional liquidity measure. As noted
above, GAAP requires that accounts receivable sold under the Company’s Receivables Securitization
Program be reflected as a reduction in accounts receivable and not reported as debt. Internally, the
Company considers accounts receivables sold to be a financing mechanism. The Company believes itis
helpful to provide readers of its financial statements with a measure that adds accounts receivable sold
to debt and calculates debt-to-total capitalization on the same basis. A reconciliation of this non-GAAP
measure is provided in the table above.
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Operating cash requirements and capital expenditures are funded from operating cash flow and
available financing. Financing available from debt and the sale of accounts receivable as of
December 31, 2004, is summarized below (in millions):

Availability

Maximum financing available under:
Revolving Credit Facility . . . .. ........ . .. . i $275.0
Receivables Securitization Program . .. ......... ... .. ... ....... 225.0

Maximum financing available ... ........... ... .. ... .. ... .. $500.0

Amounts utilized:
Revolving Credit Facility and other debtsources .. ................ 11.2
Receivables Securitization Program .. ........... ... ... ... ... 118.5
Outstanding letters of credit . . . .. ...... ... ... ... .. .. ... 16.4

Total financing utilized . ... ...... ... ... ... . .. ... 146.1

Available financing, before restrictions . . . ........... ... . ... .. 353.9
Restrictive covenant limitation ... ......... ... ... ... ... .. ... —

Available financing as of December 31,2004 .. ................. $353.9

Restrictive covenants under the Credit Agreement (as defined below) separately limit total available
financing at points in time, as further discussed below. As of December 31, 2004, the leverage ratio
covenant in the Company’s Credit Agreement did not impact the Company’s available funding from debt
and the sale of accounts receivable (as shown above).

The Company believes that its operating cash flow and financing capacity, as described, provide
adequate liquidity for operating the business for the foreseeable future.
Disclosures About Contractual Obligations

The following table aggregates all contractual obligations that affect financial condition and liquidity as of
December 31, 2004 (in thousands):

Payment due by period

Contractual obligations 2005 2006 & 2007 2008 & 2009 Thereafter Total
Long-termdebt. ... ............ $ —  $ — $11,200 $ 6,800 $ 18,000
Operatingleases. . . ............ 41,067 65,722 49,256 66,698 222,743

Total contractual cash obligations . . $41,067 $ 65,722 $60,456 $ 73,498 $240,743

Credit Agreement and Other Debt

In March 2003, the Company entered into a Five-Year Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”), by and among USSC, as borrower, US|, as guarantor, various lenders that from time to
time are parties thereto and Bank One, NA, as administrative agent. The Credit Agreement provides for a
revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility””) with an aggregate committed principal amount of
$275 million. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement, USSC may seek additional
commitments from its current or new lenders to increase the aggregate committed principal amount
under the facility to a total amount of up to $325 miilion. The Credit Agreement contains representations
and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, and events of default customary for financings of
this type.
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Effective June 30, 2004, the Company entered into an amendment (the “Amendment”) to the Credit
Agreement. Prior to the Amendment, the Credit Agreement restricted the ability of each of USI and USSC
to pay dividends or make distributions on its capital stock, other than stock dividends or distributions by
USSC to USI to fund certain expenses. [t also limited the amount of USSC distributions to USI to enablie
USI to repurchase its own shares of common stock. The Amendment, among other things, permits stock
repurchases, as well as cash dividends and other distributions, up to a new combined aggregate limit
equal to (a) the greater of (i) $250 million or (ii) $250 million plus 25% of the Company’s consolidated net
income {or minus 25% of any loss) in each fiscal quarter beginning June 30, 2003, plus {b) the net cash
proceeds received from the exercise of stock options. As the Company had substantially exhausted the
approximately $50 million share repurchase limit originally provided under the Credit Agreement, the
Amendment provided the Company an additional $200 million to use for share repurchases, dividends
or other permitted distributions.

The Credit Agreement provides for the issuance of letters of credit in an aggregate amount of up to a
sublimit of $90 million. It also provides a sublimit for swingline loans in an aggregate outstanding
principal amount not to exceed $25 million at any one time. These amounts, as sublimits, do notincrease
the maximum aggregate principal amount, and any undrawn issued letters of credit and all outstanding
swingline loans under the facility reduce the remaining availability under the Revolving Credit Facility
which matures on March 21, 2008.

Obligations of USSC under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by USI and certain of USSC’s
domestic subsidiaries. USSC’s obligations under the Credit Agreement and the guarantors’ obligations
under the guaranty are secured by liens on substantially all Company assets, including accounts
receivable, chattel paper, commercial tort claims, documents, equipment, fixtures, instruments,
inventory, investment property, pledged deposits and all other tangible and intangible personal property
{including proceeds) and certain real property, but excluding accounts receivable (and related credit
support) subject to any accounts receivable securitization program permitted under the Credit
Agreement. Also securing these obligations are first priority pledges of all of the capital stock of USSC
and the domestic subsidiaries of USSC, other than TOP

Loans outstanding under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a floating rate (based on the higher of
either the prime rate or the federal funds rate plus 0.50%) plus a margin of 0% to 0.75% per annum, or at
USSC’s option, LIBOR (as it may be adjusted for reserves) plus a margin of 1.25% to 2.25% per annum,
or a combination thereof. The margins applicable to floating rate and LIBOR loans are determined by
reference to a pricing matrix based on the total leverage of United and its consolidated subsidiaries.
Applicable margins are up to 0.75% and 2.25%.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had outstanding letters of credit of $16.4 million and
$15.1 million, respectively.

27



Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements—Receivables Securitization Program
General

On March 28, 2003, USSC entered into a third-party receivables securitization program with JP Morgan
Chase Bank, as trustee (the “Receivables Securitization Program’’). Under this $225 million program,
USSC sells, on a revolving basis, its eligible trade accounts receivable (except for certain excluded
accounts receivable, which initially includes all accounts receivable of Lagasse and foreign operations)
to USS Receivables Company, Ltd. (the “Receivables Company”). The Receivables Ccmpany, in turn,
ultimately transfers the eligible trade accounts receivable to a trust. The frustee then sells investment
certificates, which represent an undivided interest in the pool of accounts receivable owned by the trust,
to third-party investors. Affiliates of Bank One, PNC Bank and (as of March 26, 2004) Fifth Third Bank act
as funding agents. The funding agents, or their affiliates, provide standby liquidity funding to support the
sale of the accounts receivable by the Receivables Company under 364-day liquidity facilities. The
Receivables Securitization Program provides for the possibility of other liquidity facilities that may be
provided by other commercial banks rated at least A-1/P-1.

The Company utilizes this program to fund its cash requirements more cost effectively than under the
Credit Agreement. Standby liquidity funding is committed for only 364 days and must be renewed before
maturity in order for the program to continue. The program liquidity was renewed on March 26, 2004.
The program contains certain covenants and requirements, including criteria relating to the quality of
receivables within the pool of receivables. if the covenants or requirements were compromised, funding
from the program could be restricted or suspended, or its costs could increase. In such & circumstance,
or if the standby liquidity funding were not renewed, the Company could require replacement liquidity.
As discussed above, the Company’s Credit Agreement is an existing alternate liquidity source. The
Company believes that, if so required, it also could access other liquidity sources to replace funding
from the program.

Financial Statement Presentation

The Receivables Securitization Program is accounted for as a sale in accordance with FASB Statement
No. 140 “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities.”
Trade accounts receivable sold under this Program are excluded from accounts receivable in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. As of December 31, 2004, the Company sold $118.5 million of
interests in trade accounts receivable, compared with $150.0 million as of December 31, 2003.
Accordingly, trade accounts receivable of $118.5 million as of December 31, 2004 and $150.0 million as
of December 31, 2003 are excluded from the Consolidated Financial Statements. As discussed further
below, the Company retains an interest in the master trust based on funding levels determined by the
Receivables Company. The Company’s retained interest in the master trust is included in the
Consolidated Financial Statements under the caption, “Retained interest in receivables sold, net.” For
further information on the Company’s retained interest in the master trust, see the caption “Retained
Interest” below.

The Company recognizes certain costs and/or losses related to the Receivables Securitization Program.
Costs related to this program vary on a daily basis and generally are related to certain short-term interest
rates. The annual interest rate on the certificates issued under the Receivabies Securitization Program
during 2004 ranged between 1.1% and 2.3%. In addition to the interest on the certificates, the Company
pays certain bank fees related to the program. Losses recognized on the sale of accounts receivable,
which represent the financial cost of funding under the program, totaled $3.1 million for 2004, compared
with $3.5 million for 2003. Proceeds from the collections under this revolving agreemert for 2004 and
2003 were $3.6 billion and $3.4 billion, respectively. All costs and/or losses related to the Receivables
Securitization Program are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements of Income under the
caption “Other Expense, net.”
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The Company has maintained the responsibility for servicing the sold trade accounts receivable and
those transferred to the master trust. No servicing asset or liability has been recorded because the fees
received for servicing the receivables approximate the related costs.

Retained Interest

The Receivables Company determines the level of funding achieved by the sale of trade accounts
receivable, subject to a maximum amount. It retains a residual interest in the eligible receivables
transferred to the trust, such that amounts payable in respect of such residual interest will be distributed
to the Receivables Company upon payment in full of all amounts owed by the Receivables Company to
the trust (and by the trust to its investors). The Company’s net retained interest on $346.3 million and
$303.7 million of trade receivables in the master trust as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003
was $227.8 million and $153.7 million, respectively. The Company’s retained interest in the master trust
is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements under the caption, “Retained interest in receivables
sold, net.”

The Company measures the fair value of its retained interest throughout the term of the Receivables
Securitization Program using a present value model incorporating the following two key economic
assumptions: (1) an average collection cycle of approximately 40 days; and (2) an assumed discount
rate of 5% per annum. In addition, the Company estimates and records an allowance for doubtful
accounts related to the Company’s retained interest. Considering the above noted economic factors
and estimates of doubtful accounts, the book value of the Company’s retained interest approximates fair
value. A 10% and 20% adverse change in the assumed discount rate or average collection cycle would
not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. Accounts
receivable sold to the master trust and written off during 2004 were not material.

Cash Flows

Cash flows for the Company for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 are summarized below
(in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Net cash provided by operating activities . . . .. . . .. $ 47,042  $ 167,667 $105,730
. Net cash used in investing activites . ... ........ (9,719) (10,931) (23,039)
Net cash used in financing activities . . ... ... .. .. (32,032) (164,416) (93,917)

Cash Flows From Operations

The Company’s cash from operations is generated primarily from net income and improvements in
working capital. Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2004 totaled
$47.0 million, compared with $167.7 million and $105.7 million in 2003 and 2002, respectively. Net cash
provided by operating activities was positively impacted by higher net income and accounts payable,
offset by higher inventory levels and changes in accounts receivable components. Net income for 2004
reached $90.0 million, compared to $73.0 million in 2003. Higher trending sales and forward inventory
purchases in advance of product cost increases resulted in inventory being a use of cash of $68.2 million
in 2004 versus a $26.0 million source of cash in 2003. In 2004, accounts payable increased $44.7 million,
compared to an increase of $23.5 million in 2003 due largely to higher inventory purchases. The
combination of “Accounts receivable, net” and ‘“‘Retained interest in receivables sold, net” increased
$57.2 million, compared with a decline of $0.9 million in 2003 as a result of higher sales and changes in
the amount of accounts receivable sold under the Receivables Securitization Program.

Net cash provided by operating activities in 2003 was impacted by higher net income and improved
working capital management. Net income for 2003 reached $73.0 million, compared with $60.2 million in
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2002. Improvements in working capital components include a $26.0 million decline in inventory as a
result of enhanced inventory management, resulting in lower inventory purchases and higher inventory
turnover, and a $23.5 million increase in accounts payable resulting from focused initiatives in this area.

Net cash provided by operating activities in 2002 reflects net income of $60.2 million and depreciation
and amortization of $34.6 million. Net cash provided by operating activities did experience a decline
from 2001 primarily as a result of more moderate declines in working capital components in 2002
compared with 2001, including inventory and accounts payable.

Internally, the Company considers accounts receivable sold under the Receivables Securitization
Program (as defined) as a financing mechanism and not, as required under GAAP, a source of cash flow
from operations. The Receivables Securitization Program is the Company’s primary financing
mechanism. The Company believes it is useful to provide the readers of its financial statements with net
cash provided by operating activities and net cash used in financing activities adjusted for the effects of
changes in accounts receivable sold. Net cash provided by operating activities excluding the effects of
receivables sold and net cash used in financing activities including the effects of receivables sold for the
years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 is provided below as an additional liquidity measure (in
thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net cash provided by operating activities .. ... .. $ 47,042 $ 167,667 $ 105,730
Excluding the change in accounts receivable.. . . . . . 31,500 (45,000) 20,000
Net cash provided by operating activities excluding
the effects of receivablessold . ............ $ 78,542 $ 122,667 $ 125,730
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Net cash used in financing activities . . . . . ... ... $(32,082) $(164,416) $ (93,917)
Including the change in accounts receivable sold . . (31,500} 45,000 (20,000)
Net cash used in financing activities including the
effects of receivablessold ... ............. $(63,532) $(119,416) $(113,917)

Cash Flows From Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 was
$9.7 million, $10.9 million and $23.0 million, respectively. The exclusive use of cash for investing
activities was for net capital expenditures for ongoing operations.

Funding for gross capital expenditures for 2004, 2003 and 2002 totaled $19.7 million, $14.6 million and
$27.2 million, respectively. Proceeds from the disposition of property, plant and equipment totaled
$10.0 million for 2004, $3.6 million for 2003 and $4.2 million for 2002. As a result, net capital expenditures
(gross capital expenditures minus net proceeds from property, plant and equipment dispositions)
totaled $9.7 million, $10.9 million and $23.0 million for 2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. For the years
ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, capitalized software costs totaled $3.7 million, $3.3 million
and $5.2 million, respectively. Net capital spending (net capital expenditures plus capitalized software
costs) for 2004 was $13.4 million, compared with $14.3 million in 2003 and $28.2 million in 2002. Capital
expenditures are utilized primarily to replace, upgrade and equip the Company’s distribution facilities.
The Company expects net capital spending for 2005 to be approximately $30 million, which may include
substantial investments in T systems and infrastructure.

Net capital spending is provided as an additional measure of investihg activities. The most directly
comparable financial measure calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP is net capital
expenditures (as defined). Under GAAP, net capital expenditures are required to be included on the cash
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flow statement under the caption ““Net Cash Used in investing Activities.” The Company’s accounting
policy is to include capitalized software (system costs) in “Other Assets.” GAAP requires that “Other
Assets” be included on the cash flow statements under the caption “Net Cash Provided by Operating
Activities. internally, the Company measures cash used in investing activities including capitalized
software. A reconciliation of this non-GAAP measure is provided as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31, YeFaorrE?\%si:ng
2004 2003 2002 2005

Net Capital Spending
Capital expenditures . . . .. ........... $ 19,722 $14,552 $27,235 N/A
Proceeds from the disposition of property,

plant and equipment . . ... ......... (10,003) (3,621) (4,196) N/A
Net capital expenditures ... .......... 9,719 10,931 23,039 N/A
Capitalized software .. .............. 3,659 3,348 5,210 N/A

Net capital spending. . . ............. $ 13,378 $14,279 $28,249 $30,000

Cash Flows From Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activities for 2004, 2003 and 2002 was $32.0 million, $164.4 million and
$93.9 million, respectively. in 2004, the Company repurchased 1,072,654 shares of its common stock at
an aggregate cost of $40.9 million (see caption ‘‘Stock Repurchase Program”). In addition, for 2004 the
Company’s financing activities included $1.4 million in payments of employee withholding tax on stock
option exercises, offset by $9.6 million in proceeds from the issuance of treasury stock and borrowings
of $0.7 million under the Revolving Credit Facility. During 2003, the Company'’s strong cash flow from
operations (see discussion above under “Cash Flows From Operations”) allowed it to further reduce
outstanding debt, including retirements and principal payments of debt totaling $204.4 million. In
addition, for 2003 the Company'’s financing activities included $5.6 million in payments of employee
withholding tax on stock option exercises, offset by $35.1 million in proceeds from the issuance of
treasury stock and borrowings of $10.5 million under the Revolving Credit Facility. Net cash used in
financing activities for the year ended December 31, 2002 was $93.9 million, including $60.5 million in
repayments of debt, $38.3 million for acquisition of treasury stock partially offset by $5.5 million in
proceeds from the issuance of treasury stock.

Stock Repurchase Program

On July 22, 2004, USH's Board of Directors approved a share repurchase program pursuant to which the
Company is authorized to purchase an additional $100 million of US’s common stock. Purchases may
be made from time to time in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions. Depending on
market and business conditions and other factors, the Company may continue or suspend purchasing
its common stock at any time without notice. As of December 31, 2004, the Company had approximately
$86 million available under the authorization.

Seasonality

The Company experiences seasonality in its working capital needs, with highest requirements in
December through February, reflecting a build-up in inventory prior to and during the peak January sales
period. See the information under the heading ““Seasonality”” in Part |, item 1 of this Annual Report. The
Company believes that its current availability under the Revolving Credit Facility is sufficient to satisfy the
seasonal working capital needs for the foreseeable future.
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Inflation/Deflation and Changing Prices

The Company maintains substantial inventories to accommodate the prompt service and delivery
requirements of its customers. Accordingly, the Company purchases its products on a regular basis in
an effort to maintain its inventory at levels that it believes are sufficient to satisfy the anticipated needs of
its customers, based upon historical buying practices and market conditions. Although the Company
historically has been able to pass through manufacturers’ price increases to its customers on a timely
basis, competitive conditions will influence how much of future price increases can be passed on to the
Company'’s customers. Conversely, when manufacturers’ prices decline, lower sales prices could result
in lower margins as the Company sells existing inventory. As a result, changes in the prices paid by the
Company for its products could have a material effect on the Company’s net sales, gross margins and
net income.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”)
No. 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug,
improvement and Modernization Act of 2003(the “Medicare Act”). FSP No. 106-2 supersedes FSP
No. 106-1 and provides guidance on the accounting for the effects of the Medicare Act on postretirement
health benefit plans. In addition, FSP No. 106-2 requires certain financial statement disclosures
regarding the effects of the Medicare Act. The effects of the Medicare Act are not reflected in the accrued
postretirement benefit obligation and net periodic postretirement benefit cost recognized in the
Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying Note 12. The Company does not
believe adoption of FSP No. 106-2 will have a material impact on its financial position or results of
operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets. This Statement
amends the guidance in APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions. APB 29
provided an exception to the basic measurement principle (fair value) for exchanges of similar assets,
requiring that some nonmonetary exchanges be recorded on a carryover basis. SFAS 153 eliminates the
exception to fair value for exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception
for exchange transactions that do not have commercial substance, that is, transactions that are not
expected to result in significant changes in the cash flows of the reporting entity. The provisions of
SFAS 153 are effective for exchanges of nonmonetary assets occurring in fiscal periods beginning after
June 15, 2005. As of December 31, 2004, the Company does not believe that the impact of adopting
SFAS No. 153 will have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 123(R), Share-Based Payment. This Statement is a
revision to SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and supersedes APB Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123(R) requires the measurement of the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments based on the grant-date fair
value of the award. The cost will be recognized over the period during which an employee is required to
provide service in exchange for the award. No compensation cost is recognized for equity instruments
for which employees do not render service. The Company will adopt SFAS 123(R) on July 1, 2005,
requiring the cost of equity awards be recorded on the Company’s financial statements as an operating
expense for the portion of outstanding unvested awards on such date as well as any subsequent
awards. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS No. 123(R), including
alternative stock option pricing models and the resulting impact on its financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP No 109-2, Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign
Earnings Repatriation Provision with the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Act”). The Act was
signed into law on October 22, 2004 and provides for a special one-time tax deduction, or dividend
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received deduction ("DRD”), of 85% of qualifying foreign earnings that are repatriated in either a
company’s last tax year that began before the enactment date or the first tax year that begins during the
one-year period beginning on the enactment date. FSP No. 108-2 provides entities additional time to
assess the effect of repatriating foreign earnings under the Act for purposes of applying SFAS No. 109,
Accounting for Income Taxes, which typically requires the effect of a new tax law to be recorded in the
period of enactment. The Company is currently evaluating the effects of the Act. The evaluation is
expected to be completed in 2005. The range of income tax effects of such repatriation cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time, however, the Company does not believe such effects will have a
material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

The Company is subject to market risk associated principally with changes in interest rates and foreign
currency exchange rates.

Interest Rate Risk

The Company’s exposure to interest rate risks is principally limited to the Company's outstanding
long-term debt at December 31, 2004 of $18.0 million, $118.5 million of receivables sold under the
Receivables Securitization Program and the Company’s $227.8 million retained interest in the master
trust (as defined).

The Company has historically used both fixed-rate and variable or short-term rate debt. As of
December 31, 2004, 100% of the Company’s outstanding debt is priced at variable interest rates. The
Company’s variable rate debt is based primarily on the applicable prime or London InterBank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR”). As of December 31, 2004, the prevailing prime interest rate was 5.25% and the LIBOR
rate was approximately 2.42%. A 50 basis point movement in interest rates would result in an annualized
increase or decrease of approximately $0.7 million in interest expense, loss on the sale of certain
accounts receivable and cash flows from operations.

The Company’s retained interest in the master trust is also subject to interest rate risk. The Company
measures the fair value of its retained interest throughout the term of the securitization program using a
present value model that includes an assumed discount rate of 5% per annum and an average collection
cycle of approximately 40 days. Based on the assumed discount rate and short average collection cycle,
the retained interest is recorded at book value, which approximates fair value. Accordingly, a 50 basis
point movement in interest rates would not result in a material impact on the Company’s results of
operations.

Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The Company’s foreign currency exchange rate risk is limited principally to the Mexican Peso and the
Canadian Dollar, as well as product purchases from Asian countries valued in the local currency and
paid in U.S. dollars. Many of the products the Company sells in Mexico and Canada are purchased in
U.S. dollars, while the sale is invoiced in the local currency. The Company’s foreign currency exchange
rate risk is not material to its financial position, results of operations and cash flows. The Company has
not previously hedged these transactions, but it may enter into such transactions in the future.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

MANAGEMENT REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of the Company is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act to mean a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
Company’s principal executive and principal financial officers to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that in
reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the
Company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and
that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with authorizations
of management and directors of the Company; and (ili) provide reasonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Company’s assets
that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Any system of internal control, no matter how well designed, has inherent limitations, including the
possibility that a control can be circumvented or overridden and misstatements due to error or fraud may
occur and not be detected. Also, because of changes in conditions, internal control effectiveness may
vary over time. Accordingly, even an effective system of internal control will provide only reasonable
assurance with respect to financial statement preparation.

Management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2004, in relation to the criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Management’s
assessment included an evaluation of elements such as the design and operating effectiveness of key
financial reporting controls, process documentation, accounting policies and the Company’s overall
control environment. That assessment was supported by testing and monitoring performed both by our
Internal Audit organization and our Finance organization.

Based on that assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2004, the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting was effective. We reviewed the results of management’s
assessment with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.

Management’'s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’'s internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their report which appears on page 35 of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Board of Directors and
Stockholders of United Stationers Inc.

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that United Stationers Inc. and subsidiaries maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004 based on criteria established in Internal
Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO criteria). United Stationers Inc.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective
internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over
financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion
on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating
management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal contro,
and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes
in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company;
(2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, management’s assessment that United Stationers Inc. and subsidiaries maintained effective
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based
on the COSO criteria. Also, in our opinion, United Stationers Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material
respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on the COSO
criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31,
2004 and 2003, and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004, and our report dated
March 14, 2005 expressed an unqgualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP
Chicago, lllinois
March 14, 2005
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
United Stationers Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of United Stationers Inc. and subsidiaries as
of December 31, 2004 and 2003, and the related consolidated statements of income, changes in
stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2004. Our
audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the index at Item 15(a). These financial
statements and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statements and schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board {United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An
audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in ail material respects, the
consolidated financial position of United Stationers Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2004, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our
opinion, the related financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial
statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

As discussed in Note 2 of the Consolidated Financial Statements, in 2003 the Company changed its method
of accounting for supplier allowances.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States), the effectiveness of United Stationers Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial
reporting as of December 31, 2004, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated
March 14, 2005 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Chicago, Illinois
March 14, 2005




UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except per share data)

Netsales . ... ... . . .
Costofgoodssold. . ........ ... .. .. ... . . ...

Gross profit . . .. ... e

Operating expenses:

Warehousing, marketing and administrative expenses . . .. ... ...

Restructuring and other charges, net . .. ............. ... ...

Total operating eXpenses . . . . . . .« o i

Income from operations. . . ... .. ... ... . e
Interest eXPeNSE . . . . . . . . e
Interest income . . . ... .
Loss on early retirementofdebt . . ... ... .. L oL
Otherexpense, Net . . ... ... . i i e

Income before income taxes and cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principle. . . . ...
Income tax expense . . . ... ...

Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle .

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax
benefit of $3,696 . . . . . . . . e e

Netincome . . ... .. e

Net income per share — basic:
Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting
PrinCiple . .. .

Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle . . . . ... ...

Net income per common share — basic ... ..............
Average number of common shares outstanding — basic . . . ..

Net income per share — diluted:
Income before cumulative effect of a change in accounting
principle . . ... e
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle . . . .. ... ..

Net income per common share — diluted ... .............

Average number of common shares outstanding — assuming
dilution .. ... . . e

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
$3,991,190 $3,847,722 $3,701,564
3408974 3,287,189 3,163,589
582,216 560,533 537,975
433,027 414917 415980

— — 6,510
433,027 414917 422,490
149,189 145616 115,485
(3,324) (6,816)  (16,860)
423 324 165

— (6,693) —
(3,488) (4,826) (2,421)
142,800 127,605 96,369
52,829 48,495 36,141
89,971 79,110 60,228

— (6,108) —
$ 89,971 73,002 60,228
$ 269 2.39 1.81

— (0.19) —
$ 269 2.20 1.81
33,410 33,116 33,240
$ 265 2.37 1.78

— (0.19) —
$ 265 2.18 1.78
33,985 33,439 33,783

See notes to consolidated financial statements.
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UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents . ... . ... ... . .. .
Accounts receivable, less aliowance for doubtful accounts of $10,475 in 2004
and $11,81110n 2003 . . . . .. . e e
Retained interest in receivables sold, less allowance for doubtful accounts of
$3,728in 2004 and $3,758 1IN 2003 . . ... . ...
INVENIOMIES . . . . e e e e
Other current @ssels . . . . . i i i e e

Total current @ssets . ... ... ...
Property, plant and equipment, at cost:
AN . e e e
Bulldings . . .. .. e
Fixtures and equipment . . . ... .. ... .
Leasehold improvements . . . .. ... . . .. e

Total property, plant and equipment . . . ... ... . . . L
Less — accumulated depreciation and amortization. . . . ........... ... ...

Net property, plant and equipment . . . . . . . ... .
Goodwill . . e

Current liabilities:
Accounts payable . . . . ... L
Accrued liabilities . . . ... .. e
Deferred credits . . . . .. .. . e
Current maturities of fong-termdebt . . ....... .. ... .. ... o o

Total current liabifities . . . . . . . .. e
Deferred iINCOME 1aXes . . . . . . o vt it e e e e e e
Long-term debt . ... .. . .
Other long-term fiabilities . . . . ... ... .. e

Total liabifities . . . . . . . e e
Stockholders’ equity:
Common stock, $0.10 par value; authorized — 100,000,000 shares, issued —
37,217,814 in 2004 and 2003 . . . . . ...
Additional paid-in capital . . .. ... ..
Treasury stock, at cost — 4,076,432 shares in 2004 and 3,314,347 shares in
2008 . L
Retained earnings . . .. . . .. e
Accumulated other comprehensive 0SS . . .. . .. .. ... e

Total stockholders’ equity . . .. .. .. .. . .
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity . . . . . . ... ... ... ... . .. ...

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

As of December 31,

2004 2003
$ 15719 § 10,307
178,644 195433
227807 153722
608,549  539.919
18.623 25.943
1049342 925,324
16,400 18,170
79,207 78,419
243359 232548
5,256 5.196
344202 334333
192374 176,617
151848 157,716
184222 182474
21828 29,496
$1,407.240 $1.295010
$ 402794 $ 357,961
140558 135,604
47518 44,867
— 24
500,870 538456
20,311 21624
18,000 17,300
46,856 44,652
676,037 622,032
3,722 3722
337192 320787
(119,435)  (82,863)
520,608 430,637
(10,884) (8.305)
731,203 672,978
$1.407.240  $1,295.010




UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(dollars in thousands, except share data)

Accumulated

Capital Other Total
Common Stock Treasury Stock i, Excess Comprehensive Retained Stockholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount of Par Income (loss) Earnings Equity
~ As of December 31,2001 . .. ........ 37,217,814 $3,722 (3,613,954) $ (69,402) $310,150 $ (3,196) $297,407 $538,681
Netincome.................... — — — — — — 60,228 60,228
Unrealized translation adjustments . . . . . — — — — — (1,877) — (1,877)
* Minimum pension liability adjustments, net
oftax . ... ... — — — — — (6,811) — (6,811)
Comprehensive loss . . ... ........ — — — — — (8,788) 60,228 51,440
- Acquisition of treasury stock . . .. ... .. — — (1,365,101) (38,310) — — - (38,310)
Stock compensation . . . ........... — — 240,503 3,262 3,811 — — 7,073
_As of December 31,2002. . ... ... ... 37,217,814 3,722 (4,738,552) (104,450) 313,961 (11,984) 357,635 558,884
Netincome.................... — — — — — — 73,002 73,002
Unrealized translation adjustments . . . . . — — — — — 4,749 — 4,749
Minimum pension liability adjustments, net
oftax . ... ... .. — — — — — (1,070) — (1,070)
Comprehensive income. . .. ....... — — — — — 3,679 73,002 76,681
Stock compensation . . .. ... ... .. L — — 1,424,205 21,587 15,826 — — 37,413
As of December 31,2003 . . . . . ... ... 37,217,814 3,722 (3,314,347) (82,863) 329,787 (8,305) 430,637 672,978
Netincome . . . ... — — — — — — 89,971 89,971
Unrealized transiation adjustments . . . . . — — — — — 563 — 563
Minimum pension liability adjustments, net
oftax ... ... — — — — — (3,142) — (3,142)
Comprehensive loss . . . .......... — — — — — (2,579) 89,971 87,392
Acquisition of treasury stock . ... ... .. — — (1,072,654) (40,909) — — — (40,909)
Stock compensation . . ... ... ... ... — — 310,569 4,337 7,405 — — 11,742
As of December 31,2004 . . ... .... .. 37,217,814 $3,722 (4,076,432) $(119,435) $337,192 $(10,884) $520,608 $731,203

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

~
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UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(dollars in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net INCOME . . . .. i e $89971 $ 73,002 ¢ 60,228
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating
activities:
Depreciation . . ... .. .. . e e 27,164 29,149 33,466
Amortization of capitalized financingcosts . .. ............ ... ... 648 3,284 1,169
Restructuring and other charges — non-cash charges . .. ... . ... ... — — 2,003
Write down of assets held forsale. . . ........ .. ... ... . ... ... 300 1,290 —
Loss (gain) on sale of property, plant and equipment . . .. ... ....... 114 (86) 2,014
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting principle, net of tax . . . . .. — 6,108 —
Deferred incometaxes ... ... ... . ... i (181) (4,244) 5,587
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable, net . . . ... .......... 16,927 (37,028) 74,148
(Increase) decrease in retained interest in receivables sold, net . . . .. (74,085) 37,919 (74,058)
(Increase) decrease in inventory . . ...... . ... ... . L (68,201) 25,974 8,601
(Increase) decrease in otherassets . ....................... (3,745) 2,056 (9,353)
Increase (decrease) in accountspayable. . . .................. 44,743 23,495 (2,460)
Increase (decrease) in accrued liabilites . . . . ................. 8,632 2,961 (3,494)
Increase indeferred credits . . . .. . ...... . ... . o 2,651 118 3,749
Increase in other liabilities . . . ... ....... ... .. ... . ... . .. ... 2,204 3,669 4,140
Net cash provided by operating activities . . .. ...... ... ...... 47,042 167,667 105,730
Cash Flows From Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures . . .. . ... ... (19,722) (14,552) (27,235)
Proceeds from the sale of the Salisbury, Maryland CallCenter . . ... ... — — 1,249
Proceeds from the disposition of property, plant and equipment . ... .. 10,003 3,621 2,947
Net cash used in investing activities . ... . ................. (9,719) (10,931)  (23,039)
Cash Flows From Financing Activities:
Retirements and principal payments ofdebt . . . ... ......... ... .. (24) (204,425) (60,456)
Net borrowings under Revolving Credit Facility . ... ........... ... 700 10,500 —
Issuance of treasury StoCK . . . . . .. 9,635 35,059 5,546
Acquisition of treasury stock, atcost . .. ... .. ... ... . ..o (40,908) — (38,310)
Payment of employee withholding tax related to stock option exercises . (1,435) (5,550} (697) )
Net cash used in financing activities . . ... ... ... .. ........ (32,032) (164,416) (93,917)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents . ... .. .. 121 561 (162)
Net change in cashand cash equivalents . . . .................... 5,412 (7,119) (11,388)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period . ... .............. 10,307 17,426 28,814
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period . . . .. .................. $15719 $ 10,307 $ 17,426

See notes to consolidated financial statements.

40




UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Basis of Presentation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements represent United Stationers Inc. (“USI”) with its
wholly owned subsidiary United Stationers Supply Co. (“USSC”), and USSC’s subsidiaries (collectively,
“United” or the “Company”). The Company is the largest broad line wholesale distributor of business
products in North America, with net sales of approximately $4.0 billion for the year ended December 31,
2004. The Company operates in a single reportable segment as a national wholesale distributor of
business products. The Company offers more than 40,000 items from over 450 manufacturers. These
items include a broad spectrum of traditional office products, technology products, office furniture, and
janitorial and sanitation supplies. The Company primarily serves commercial and contract office
products dealers. The Company sells its products through a national distribution network tc more than
15,000 resellers, who in turn sell directly to end-consumers. These products are distributed through a
computer-linked network of 35 USSC regional distribution centers, 24 Lagasse distribution centers that
serve the janitorial and sanitation industry and two distribution centers in each of Mexico and Canada
that primarily serve computer supply resellers.

Acquisition of Peerless Paper Mills, inc.

On January 5, 2001, the Company’s subsidiary, Lagasse, acquired all of the capital stock of Peerless
Paper Mills, Inc. (“Peerless”). Subsequently, Peerless was merged into Lagasse. Peerless was a
wholesale distributor of janitorial/sanitation, paper and food service products. The purchase price of
approximately $32.7 million was financed through the Company’s Senior Credit Facility. The acquisition
was accounted for using the purchase method of accounting and, accordingly, the purchase price was
allocated to the assets purchased and the liabilities assumed, based upon the estimated fair values at
the date of acquisition. The excess of cost over fair value of approximately $15.5 million was allocated to
goodwill. The pro forma effects of the acquisition are not material.

The Order People

During 2000, the Company established The Order People (“TOP”) to operate as its third-party fulfillment
provider. To become a full service provider, on July 1, 2000, the Company acquired all of the capital stock
of CallCenter Services, Inc., a customer relationship management outsourcing service company.

In 2001, the Company did not achieve the estimated revenue to support TOP’s cost structure. As a
result, the Company decided to significantly downsize TOP’s operations. In November 2001, a portion of
the business acquired as part of CallCenter Services, Inc. was sold for a nominal cash payment, the
assumption of associated liabilities and the payment of expenses relating to that business during a
post-closing transition period. In the second quarter of 2002, the Company sold the remaining portion of
the acquired business for $1.2 million in cash and the assumption of $1.7 million of debt. The sale of
these assets did not have a material impact on the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In 2002, the Company further downsized TOP’s operations as part of the restructuring and other charges
recorded in the fourth quarter of 2002 (see Note 4, “Restructuring and Other Charges’). As part of the
restructuring initiatives, the Company terminated fulfillment contracts with third-party customers. The
further downsizing of TOP resulted in a workforce reduction of 75 associates.
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UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Basis of Presentation (Continued)
Common Stock Repurchase

During 2004, the Company repurchased 1,072,654 shares of USI's common stock at an aggregate cost
of $40.9 million. The Company did not repurchase any stock during 2003. A summary of total shares
repurchased and the completion of the 2002 repurchase authority is as follows (in millions, except share
data):

Share Repurchases History

Cost Shares

Authorizations:

July 22, 2004 authorization . . . . ... .. .. o $100.0

July 1, 2002 authorization . . . . . ... ... .. .. 50.0
Repurchases:

2004 repUrChaSES . . . . . v v i o e $(40.9) 1,072,654

2002 repuUrChases . . . . . v it e e (23.1) 858,964

Total repurchases . . .. ... o i (64.0) 1,931,618

Remaining repurchase authorized at December 31,2004 . ......... $ 86.0

Effective on June 30, 2004, the Credit Agreement was amended (as described in Note 9) to, among other
things, increase the stock repurchase limit by $200 million. On July 22, 2004, the Company’s Board of
Directors authorized a share repurchase program allowing the Company to purchase an additional
$100 million of the Company’s common stock. Purchases may be made from time to time in the open
market or in privately negotiated transactions. Depending on market and business conditions and other
factors, the Company may continue or suspend purchasing its common stock at any time without notice.
As of December 31, 2004, the Company had approximately $86 million available under the authorization.

Acquired shares are included in the issued shares of the Company and treasury stock, but are not
included in average shares outstanding when calculating earnings per share data. During 2004 and
2003, the Company reissued 310,569 and 1,424,205 shares, respectively, of treasury stock to fulfill its
obligations under its equity incentive plans.

Review of Canadian Division

In October 2004, the Company began conducting a review of supplier allowances and other items at its
Azerty United Canada division (the “Canadian Division”). This included a detailed review of the
Canadian Division’s financial records by the Company’s U.S. headquarters accounting staff. In addition,
the Company’s Audit Committee, with the assistance of outside counsel and forensic accounting
experts, conducted an investigation of transactions with customers and suppliers, related accounting
entries and allegations of misconduct at the Canadian Division.

Both the accounting review and the Audit Committee investigation were completed in February 2005.
The Company determined that the Canadian Division incorrectly accounted for certain items, primarily
during 2003 and 2004, including: accruing supplier allowances that it did not qualify for under the terms
of its supplier agreements; failing to timely write off anticipated supplier allowances and other
receivables that, although properly accrued initially, were no longer collectible; and failing to properly
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UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

1. Basis of Presentation (Continued)

record customer returns and make other adjustments to inventory balances required under generally
accepted accounting principles.

The Audit Committee’'s investigation found no evidence that management in the United States had
knowledge of, or involvement in, improper activities at the Canadian Division. The investigation did
reveal, however, evidence of fraud by personnel at the Canadian Division, involving improper and
fictitious sales transactions, including sale and buyback transactions, and other accounting
improprieties. Revenues from sale and buyback transactions totaling $4.6 million were reversed on the
Company’s books in the fourth quarter of 2004.

in early November 2004, the Company replaced certain members of management at the Canadian
Division. In addition, the Company held discussions with the suppliers that were impacted and has
resolved historical issues with them related to the Canadian Division.

During 2004, income from operations includes a write-off of approximately $13.2 million ($8.3 million
after-tax, or $0.24 per diluted share) in supplier allowances, customer rebates and trade receivables,
inventory and other items associated with the Company’s Canadian Division. Of the $13.2 million total
write-off, $12.9 million related to cost of goods sold and $0.3 million related to operating expenses. The
write-off related to amounts that were either incorrectly accrued or overaccrued, or that had become
uncollectible. The write-off includes items related to prior periods of approximately $6.7 million
($4.2 million after-tax, or $0.12 per diluted share), based on prior period exchange rates and tax rates.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company. All intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. For all acquisitions, account balances
and results of operations are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements as of the date acquired.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts
reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ
from these estimates.

Various assumptions and other factors underlie the determination of significant accounting estimates.
The process of determining significant estimates is fact specific and takes into account factors such as
historical experience, current and expected economic conditions, product mix, and in some cases,
actuarial techniques. The Company periodically reevaluates these significant factors and makes
adjustments where facts and circumstances dictate. Historically, actual results have not significantly
deviated from estimates.

Supplier Allowances and Cumulative Effect of a Change in Accounting Principle

Supplier allowances (fixed or variable) are common practice in the business products industry and have
a significant impact on the Company’s gross margin. Gross margin is determined by, among other
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itemns, file margin (determined by reference to invoiced price), as reduced by customer discounts and
rebates as discussed below, and increased by supplier allowances and promotional incentives.

Approximately 40% to 45% of the Company’s annual supplier allowances and incentives are fixed based
on supplier participation in various Company advertising and marketing publications. Prior to January 1,
2003, these fixed promotional incentives were recorded as a reduction to cost of goods sold over the life
of the pubtication to reflect net advertising cost. Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted EITF
Issue No. 02-16, Accounting by a Customer (Including a Reselier) for Certain Consideration Received
from a Vendor, which requires that the cash consideration received from vendors related to these fixed
advertising allowances and incentives be reflected as a reduction to the cost of inventory. As a result,
fixed allowances and incentives are taken to income through lower cost of goods sold as inventory is
sold.

The remaining 55% to 60% of the Company’s annual supplier allowances and incentives are variable,
based on the volume and mix of the Company’s product purchases from suppliers. Adoption of EITF
Issue No. 02-16 did not impact the Company’s accounting for variable allowances and incentives. These
variable allowances are recorded based on the Company’s estimated annual inventory purchase
volumes and product mix and are included in the Company’s financial statements as a reduction to cost
of goods sold, thereby reflecting the net inventory purchase cost. Supplier allowances and incentives
attributable to unsold inventory are carried as a component of net inventory cost. The potential amount
of variable supplier allowances often differs based on purchase volumes by supplier and product
category. As a result, lower Company sales volume (which.reduce inventory purchase requirements)
and product sales mix changes (especially because higher-margin products often benefit from higher
supplier allowance rates) can make it difficuit to reach some supplier allowance growth hurdles.

During the first quarter of 2003 the Company recorded a non-cash, cumulative after-tax charge of
$6.1 million, or $0.19 per diluted share, related to the capitalization into inventory of a portion of fixed
promotional allowances received from vendors for participation in the Company’s advertising
publications in connection with the Company’s adoption of EITF Issue No. 02-16. As noted above,
adoption of EITF Issue No. 02-16 had no impact on the Company’s accounting for variable promotional
allowances and incentives. On an unaudited pro-forma basis, if EITF Issue No. 02-16 had been in effect
during 2002, cost of goods sold would have been higher by $2.2 million in 2002 and net income would
have been $58.9 million, or $1.77 and $1.74 per basic and diluted share, respectively. '

Customer Rebates

Customer rebates and discounts are common practice in the business products industry and have a
significant impact on the Company’s overall sales and gross margin. Such rebates are reported in the
Consolidated Financial Statements as a reduction of sales.

Customer rebates include volume rebates, sales growth incentives, advertising allowances,
participation in promotions and other miscellaneous discount programs. These rebates are paid to
customers monthly, quarterly and/or annually. Volume rebates and growth incentives are based on the
Company’s annual sales volumes to its customers. The aggregate amount of customer rebates depends
on product sales mix and customer mix changes.
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Revenue Recognition

Revenue is recognized when a service is rendered or when title to the product has transferred to the
customer. Management records an estimate for future product returns related to revenue recognized in
the current period. This estimate is based on historical product return trends and the gross margin
associated with those returns. Management also records customer rebates that are based on annual
sales volume to the Company’s customers. Annual rebates earned by customers include growth
components, volume hurdle components, and advertising allowances.

Shipping and handling costs billed to customers are treated as revenues and recognized at the time title
to the product has transferred to the customer. Freight costs are included in the Company’s financial
statements as a component of cost of goods sold and not netted against shipping and handling
revenues.

Valuation of Accounts Receivabie

The Company makes judgments as to the collectability of accounts receivable based on historical trends
and future expectations. Management estimates an allowance for doubtful accounts, which represents
the coliectability of trade accounts receivable. This allowance adjusts gross trade accounts receivable
downward to its estimated collectible, or net realizable, value. To determine the allowance for sales
returns, management uses historical trends to estimate future period product returns. To determine the
allowance for doubtful accounts, management reviews specific customer risks and the Company’s
accounts receivable aging.

Insured Loss Liability Estimates

The Company is primarily responsible for retained liabilities related to workers’ compensation, vehicle
and general liability and certain employee health benefits. The Company records expense for paid and
open claims and an expense for claims incurred but not reported based on historical trends and on
certain assumptions about future events. The Company has an annual per person maximum cap on
certain employee medical benefits provided by a third-party insurance company. In addition, the
Company has both a per-occurrence maximum loss and an annual aggregate maximum cap on
workers’ compensation claims.

Inventories

inventory constituting approximately 88% and 90% of total inventory as of December 31, 2004 and 2003,
respectively, has been valued under the last-in, first-out (“LIFO”) accounting method. The remaining
inventory is valued under the first-in, first-out (“FIFO”) accounting method. Inventory valued under the
FIFO and LIFO accounting methods is recorded at the lower of cost or market. If the lower of FIFO cost or
market had been used by the Company for its entire inventory, inventory would have been $27.2 million
and $22.9 million higher than reported as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003, respectively. In
addition, inventory reserves are recorded for shrinkage and for obsoclete, damaged, defective, and
slow-moving inventory. These reserve estimates are determined using historical trends and are
adjusted, if necessary, as new information becomes available. -
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Pension and Postretirement Health Benefits

Calculating the Company’s obligations and expenses related to its pension and postretirement health
benefits requires selection and use of certain actuarial assumptions. As more fully discussed in Notes 11
and 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, these actuarial assumptions include discount rates,
expected long-term rates of return on plan assets, and rates of increase in compensation and healthcare
costs. To select the appropriate actuarial assumptions, management relies on current market conditions
and historical information. Pension expense for 2004 was $6.8 million, compared to $6.6 million in 2003.
A one percentage point decrease in the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and the
assumed discount rate would have resulted in an increase in pension expense for 2004 of approximately
$2.8 million.

Costs associated with the Company’s postretirement health benefits plan were $0.8 million and
$1.1 million for 2004 and 2003, respectively. A one-percentage point decrease in the assumed discount
rate would have resulted in incremental postretirement healthcare expenses for 2004 of approximately
$0.2 million. Current rates of medical cost increases are trending above the Company’s medical cost
increase cap provided by the plan. Accordingly, a one percentage point increase in the assumed
average healthcare cost trend would not have a significant impact on the Company’s postretirement
health plan costs.

Stock Based Compensation

The Company’s stock based compensation includes employee stock options. As allowed under
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based
Compensation, the Company accounts for its stock options using the "intrinsic value” method permitted
by Accounting Principles Board (“APB”) Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.
APB No. 25 requires calculation of an intrinsic value of the stock options issued in order to determine
compensation expense, if any.

In conformity with SFAS No. 123 and SFAS No. 148 supplemental disclosures are provided below.
Several valuation models are available for determining fair value. For purposes of these supplemental
disclosures, the Company uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model to determine the fair value of its
stock options. Had compensation cost been determined on the fair value basis of SFAS No. 123, net
income and earnings per share would have been adjusted as follows (in thousands, except per share
data):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Netincome, asreported . ... ... .. . .. . ... $89,971 $73,002 $60,228
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in
reported net income, netoftax .. . .......... ... .. ... ... 49 46 683
Less: Total stock-based employee compensation determined if the
fair value method had been used, netoftax ... ... ... ... ... (7,489) (6,829) (9,587)
Pro forma netincome . . .. . .. .. .. ... $82,531 $66,219 $51,324
Net income per share — basic:
Asreported. . .. . .. $ 269 $ 220 $
Proforma . . ... . 2.47 2.00
Net income per share — diluted:
ASTEPOMEO . . . . o o $ 265 $ 218 $ 1.78
Proforma . . . ... e 2.43 1.98 1.53
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The weighted average assumptions used to value options and the weighted average fair value of options
granted during 2004, 2003 and 2002 were as follows:

2004 2003 2002

Fair value of options granted . . . ... ... ... . ... ... .. . $10.75 $1094 $ 9.61
Weighted average exercise price . .. ... ... i 41.74 37.80 25.37
Expected stock price volatility ... .......... . ... . 33.0% 388% 49.4%
Expected dividend yield ... ..... ... ... .. ... ..., R 0.0% 0.0%  0.0%
Risk-free interestrate . . ... ... .. ... . . ... . . e 2.8 2.3 2.7
Expected life of options (years) ... ... ... .. .. ... . . . ., 3 3 3

Cash Equivalents

All highly liquid debt instruments with an original maturity of three months or less are considered cash
equivalents. Cash equivalents are stated at cost, which approximates market value.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation and amortization are determined by
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. The estimated useful life
assigned to fixtures and equipment is from two to 10 years; the estimated useful life assigned to
buildings does not exceed 40 years; leasehold improvements are amortized over the lesser of their
useful lives or the term of the applicable lease. During 2003, the Company reclassified two properties
held for sale with net book value of $7.9 million from property, plant and equipment to other assets, both
of which were sold during 2004.

Goodwill

Goodwill is initially recorded at the premium paid for acquisition of a business and is subsequently
tested for impairment. The Company tests goodwill for impairment quarterly and whenever events or
circumstances make it more likely than not that an impairment may have occurred, such as a significant
adverse change in the business climate, loss of key personnel or a decision to sell or dispose of a
reporting unit. Determining whether an impairment has occurred requires valuation of the respective
reporting unit, which the Company estimates using a discounted cash fiow method. When available and
as appropriate, comparative market multiples are used to corroborate discounted cash flow results. If
this analysis indicates goodwill is impaired, an impairment charge would be taken based on the amount
of goodwill recorded versus the fair value of the reporting unit computed by independent appraisals.

Software Capitalization

The Company capitalizes internal use software development costs in accordance with the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountants’ Statement of Position No. 98-1, Accounting for Costs of
Computer Software Developed or Obtained for internal Use. Amortization is recorded on a straight-line
basis over the estimated useful life of the software, generally not to exceed seven years.
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Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for using the liability method, under which deferred income taxes are
recognized for the estimated tax consequences of temporary differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. A provision has not been made for
deferred U.S. income taxes on the undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries as
these earnings have historically been permanently invested. The Company is currently evaluating the
effects of the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 for the effect on its plan for repatriation of unremitted
foreign earnings as it relates to Statement No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes.” The evaluation is
expected to be completed in 2005. The range of income tax effects of such repatriation cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time, however, the Company does not believe such effects will have a
material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency for the Company’s foreign operations is the local currency. Assets and liabilities
of these operations are translated into U.S. currency at the rates of exchange at the balance sheet date.
The resulting translation adjustments are included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, a separate
component of stockholders’ equity. Income and expense items are translated at average monthly rates
of exchange. Realized gains and losses from foreign currency transactions were not material.

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss is a component of stockholders’ equity and consists of
unrealized translation adjustments and minimum pension liability adjustments. As of December 31,
2004, 2003 and 2002 other comprehensive loss included the following (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Unrealized currency translation adjustments . . . .............. $ 139 $ (424) $ (5,173)
Minimum pension liability adjustments, netoftax . ............. (11,023) (7,881) (6,811)
Total comprehensive loss . .. . ... ... ... .. .. .. .. $(10,884) $(8,305) $(11,984)

New Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2004, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (“FSP”) No. 106-2, Accounting and Disclosure
Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003
(the “Medicare Act”). FSP No. 106-2 supersedes FSP No. 106-1 and provides guidance on the
accounting for the effects of the Medicare Act on postretirement health benefit plans. In addition, FSP
No. 108-2 requires certain financial statement disclosures regarding the effects of the Medicare Act. The
effects of the Medicare Act are not reflected in the accrued postretirement benefit obligation and net
periodic postretirement benefit cost recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements
and accompanying Note 12. The Company does not believe adoption of FSP No. 106-2 will have a
material impact on its financial position or results of operations.

In December 2004, the FASB issued SFAS No. 153, Exchanges of Nonmonetary Assets. This Statement
amends the guidance in APB Opinion No. 29, Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions. APB 29

48




UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

provided an exception to the basic measurement principle (fair value) for exchanges of similar assets,
requiring that some nonmonetary exchanges be recorded on a carryover basis. SFAS 153 efiminates the
exception to fair value for exchanges of similar productive assets and replaces it with a general exception
for exchange transactions that do not have commercial substance, that is, transactions that are not
expected to result in significant changes in the cash flows of the reporting entity. The provisions of
SFAS 153 are effective for exchanges of nonmonetary assets occurring in fiscal periods beginning after
June 15, 2005. As of December 31, 2004, the Company does not believe that the impact of adopting
SFAS No. 153 will have a material impact on its financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

in December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS 123(R), Share-Based
Payment. This Statement is a revision to SFAS 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, and
supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees. SFAS 123(R) requires the
measurement of the cost of employee services received in exchange for an award of equity instruments
based on the grant-date fair value of the award. The cost will be recognized over the period during which
an employee is required to provide service in exchange for the award. No compensation cost is
recognized for equity instruments for which empioyees do not render service. The Company will adopt
SFAS 123(R) on July 1, 2005, requiring the cost of equity awards be recorded on the Company's
financial statements as an operating expense for the portion of outstanding unvested awards on such
date as well as any subsequent awards. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting
SFAS No. 123(R), including alternative stock option pricing models and the resuiting impact on its
financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

In December 2004, the FASB issued FSP No 109-2, Accounting and Disclosure Guidance for the Foreign
Earnings Repaitriation Provision with the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “Act”). The Act was
signed into law on October 22, 2004 and provides for a special one-time tax deduction, or dividend
received deduction (“DRD”), of 85% of qualifying foreign earnings that are repatriated in either a
company'’s last tax year that began before the enactment date or the first tax year that begins during the
one-year period beginning on the enactment date. FSP No. 109-2 provides entities additional time to
assess the effect of repatriating foreign earnings under the Act for purposes of applying SFAS No. 1089,
Accounting for Income Taxes, which typically requires the effect of a new tax law to be recorded in the
period of enactment. The Company is currently evaluating the effects of the Act. The evaluation is
expected to be completed in 2005. The range of income tax effects of such repatriation cannot be
reasonably estimated at this time, however, the Company does not believe such effects will have a
material impact on its financial position, resuits of operations or cash flows.

3. Contingencies

The Company is a defendant in two lawsuits filed by USOP Liquidating LLC (“USOP LLC”), a special
purpose entity established to liquidate assets and pursue claims on behalf of US Office Products
Company ("USOP”) and various subsidiary debtors under a joint liquidating plan of reorganization. The
Company had supplied substantial amounts of office products to USQP before its 2001 Chapter 11
bankruptcy filing, and had continued to do so thereafter after being named as a critical vendor to USOP,
at USOP’s request and with bankruptcy court approval. in the two cases now pending in the United
States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Delaware, USOP LLLC seeks (1) to avoid allegedly preferential
transfers made to United Stationers Inc./United Stationers Trust Co. and Azerty, Inc. in the 90 days
preceding the date of USOP's Chapter 11 bankruptcy petition, and (2) to recover aggregate amounts in
respect of such transfers of approximately $64.5 million and $1.8 million, respectively. The parties
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pursued only limited discovery and effectively deferred related proceedings pending a ruling on the
Company’s motion for summary judgment, which was denied in October 2004. Accordingly, the
Company is unable at present to reasonably estimate the amount or range of any potential loss with
respect to these claims. The Company intends to continue to vigorously contest these claims.

4. Restructuring and Other Charges
2001 Restructuring Plan

The Company’s Board of Directors approved a restructuring plan in the third quarter of 2001 (the “2001
Restructuring Plan”) that included an organizational restructuring, a consolidation of certain distribution
facilities and USSC’s call center operations, an information technology platform consolidation,
divestiture of the call center operations of The Order People (“TOP”) and certain other assets, and a
significant reduction of TOP’s cost structure. The restructuring plan included workforce reductions of
approximately 1,375 associates through voluntary and involuntary separation programs. Al initiatives
under the 2001 Restructuring Plan are complete. However, certain cash payments will continue for
accrued exit costs that refate to long-term lease obligations that expire at various times over the next five
years. The Company continues to actively pursue opportunities to sublet unused facilities.

2002 Restructuring Plan

The Company’s Board of Directors approved a restructuring plan in the fourth quarter of 2002 (the 2002
Restructuring Plan”) that included additional charges related to revised real estate sub-lease
assumptions used in the 2001 Restructuring Plan, further downsizing of TOP operations (including
severance and anticipated exit costs related to a portion of the Company’s Memphis distribution center),
closure of the Milwaukee, Wiscaonsin distribution center and the write-down of certain e-commerce-
related investments. All initiatives under the 2002 Restructuring Plan are complete. However, certain
cash payments will continue for accrued exit costs that relate to long-term lease obligations that expire at
various times over the next six years. The Company continues to actively pursue opportunities to sublet
unused facilities. Implementation costs associated with this restructuring plan were not material.

Upon adoption of the 2002 Restructuring Plan in the fourth quarter of 2002, the Company recorded
pre-tax restructuring and other charges of $8.9 million, or $0.17 per diluted share (on an after-tax basis).
These charges included a pre-tax charge of $6.9 million for employment termination and severance
costs and accrued exit costs and a $2.0 million non-cash charge for the write-down of certain
e-commerce related investments.

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had accrued restructuring costs on its balance sheet
of approximately $10.1 million and $12.3 million, respectively, for the remaining exit costs related to the
2002 and 2001 Restructuring Plans. Net cash payments related to the 2002 and 2001 Restructuring
Plans for 2004, 2003 and 2002 totaled $2.2 million, $5.4 million and $15.9 million, respectively.

5. Segment Information

SFAS No. 131, Disclosure about Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information, requires companies
to report financial and descriptive information about their reportable operating segments, including
segment profit or loss, certain specific revenue and expense items, and segment assets, as well as
information about the revenues derived from the company's products and services, the countries in
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which the company earns revenues and holds assets, and major customers. This statement also
requires companies that have a single reportable segment to disclose information about products and
services, information about geographic areas, and information about major customers. This statement
requires the use of the management approach to determine the information to be reported. The
management approach is based on the way management organizes the enterprise to assess
performance and make operating decisions regarding the allocation of resources. SFAS No. 131 permits
the aggregation, based on specific criteria, of several operating segments into one reportable operating
segment. Management has chosen to aggregate its operating segments and report segment
information as one reportable segment. A discussion of the factors relied upon and processes
undertaken by management in determining that the Company meets the aggregation criteria is provided
below, followed by the required disclosure regarding the Company’s single reportable segment.

Management defines operating segments as individual operations that the Chief Operating Decision
Maker (“CODM”) (in the Company’s case, the President and Chief Executive Officer) reviews for the
purpose of assessing performance and making operating decisions. When evaluating operating
segments, management considers whether:

* The component engages in business activities from which it may earn revenues and incur
expenses;

* The operating results of the component are regularly reviewed by the enterprise’s CODM,;
» Discrete financial information is available about the component; and

» Other factors are present, such as management structure, presentation of information to the
Board of Directors and the nature of the business activity of each component.

Based on the factors referenced above, management has determined that the Company has two
operating segments, USSC (referred to by the Company as ““‘Supply”), the first-tier operating subsidiary
of USI, and Lagasse. Supply also includes operations in Canada and Mexico conducted through a
USSC unincorporated branch and subsidiary, respectively, as well as Azerty, which has been
consolidated into Supply.

Management has also concluded that the Company’s two operating segments meet all of the
aggregation criteria required by SFAS 131. Such determination is based on company-wide similarities in
(1) the nature of products and/or services provided, (2) customers served, (3) production processes
and/or distribution methods used, (4) economic characteristics including gross margins and operating
expenses and (5) regulatory environment. Management further believes aggregate presentation
provides more useful information to the financial statement user and is, therefore, consistent with the
principles and objectives of SFAS No. 131.

The following discussion sets forth the required disclosure regarding single reportable segment
information:

The Company operates as a single reportable segment as North America’s largest broad line wholesale
distributor of business products, with 2004 net sales of $4.0 billion—including foreign operations in
Canada and Mexico. For the year ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002, the Company's net sales
from foreign operations in Canada were $152.5 million, $195.3 million and $179.0 million, respectively.
Net sales from foreign operations in Mexico totaled $80.9 million, $74.9 million and $68.9 million for
2004, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The Company offers more than 40,000 items from more than 450
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manufacturers. This includes a broad spectrum of office products, computer supplies, office furniture,
business machines, presentation products and facilities management supplies. The Company primarily
serves commercial and contract office products dealers. The Company sells its products through a
national distribution network to more than 15,000 resellers, who in turn sell directly to end-consumers.
These products are distributed through a computer-linked network of 35 USSC regional distribution
centers, 24 Lagasse distribution centers that serve the janitorial and sanitation industry and two
distribution centers in each of Mexico and Canada that primarily serve computer supply resellers. As of
December 31, 2004 and 2003, long-lived assets of the Company’s foreign operations in Canada totaled
$15.2 million and $14.3 million, respectively. Long-lived assets of the Company’s foreign operations in
Mexico were $4.8 million and $4.0 million as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, respectively.

The Company’s product offerings, comprised of more than 40,000 stockkeeping units (SKUs}), may be
divided into the following primary categories. (i) The Company distributes traditional office products,
which include both brand name products and the Company’s private brand products. Traditional office
products include writing instruments, paper products, organizers and calendars and various office
accessories. (i) The Company also offers technology products such as computer supplies and
peripherais to computer resellers and office products dealers. (i) The Company sells office furniture,
such as leather chairs, wooden and steel desks and computer furniture. The Company currently offers
nearly 4,500 furniture items from 60 different manufacturers. (iv) The Company sells janitorial and
sanitation supplies, which includes safety and security items and shipping and mailing supplies. As part
of its efforts to improve product category management, in 2004 United established a new category—
New and Emerging Products. The Company established this category to focus on specific niche
markets, such as supplies for education and physicians’ offices, and to develop product lines and
promotional materials to help its resellers increase their sales in these markets. Since most of the
products offered here fall into the other four categories, revenues from New and Emerging Products are
not reported separately.

The Company'’s customers include office products dealers, mega-dealers, office furniture dealers, office
products superstores and mass merchandisers, mail order companies, computer products resellers,
sanitary supply distributors, drug and grocery store chains, and e-commerce dealers. No single
customer accounted for more than 7.5% of the Company’s 2004 consolidated net sales.

The following table shows net sales by product category for 2004, 2003 and 2002 (in millions):

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

Technology products . ... ... . e $1,778 $1,734 $1,527
Traditional office products .. .. .. ... ... . . 1,193 1,171 1,220
Janitorial and sanitation . ..., ... . . 472 426 412
Office furniture . . . . .. . e 474 440 461
Freightrevenue . . . ... . . 56 53 54
Oher . . e e 18 24 28
Totalnetsales . . . ... ... e $3,991 $3,848 $3,702

Note: To conform with current year presentation, reclassifications between product catagories were made to the
2003 and 2002 presentation. The reclassifications did not impact total net sales.
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The following table sets forth the components of other expense (dollars in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

- Loss on sale of accounts receivable, net of servicing revenue . . . . .. ... $3,076  $3,450 $1,909
Write down of assets heldforsale .. ......... ... ... . ... .. ... 300 1,290 —
Other . . 112 86 512
Total .. $3,488 $4,826 $2,421

7. Receivables Securitization Program
General

On March 28, 2003, USSC entered into a third-party receivables securitization program with JP Morgan
Chase Bank, as trustee (the “Receivables Securitization Program”). Under this $225 million program,
USSC sells, on a revolving basis, its eligible trade accounts receivable (except for certain excluded
accounts receivable, which initially includes all accounts receivable of Lagasse and foreign operations)
to USS Receivables Company, Ltd. (the “Receivables Company’’). The Receivables Company, in turn,
ultimately transfers the eligible trade accounts receivable to a trust. The trustee then sells investment
certificates, which represent an undivided interest in the pool of accounts receivable owned by the trust,
to third-party investors. Affiliates of Bank One, PNC Bank and (as of March 26, 2004) Fifth Third Bank act
as funding agents. The funding agents, or their affiliates, provide standby liquidity funding to support the
sale of the accounts receivable by the Receivables Company under 364-day liquidity facilities. The
Receivables Securitization Program provides for the possibility of other liquidity facilities that may be
provided by other commercial banks rated at least A-1/P-1.

The Company utilizes this program to fund its cash requirements more cost effectively than under the
Credit Agreement. Standby liquidity funding is committed for only 364 days and must be renewed before
maturity in order for the program to continue. The program liquidity was renewed on March 26, 2004.
The program contains certain covenants and requirements, including criteria relating to the quality of
receivables within the pool of receivables. If the covenants or requirements were compromised, funding
from the program could be restricted or suspended, or its costs could increase. In such a circumstance,
or if the standby liquidity funding were not renewed, the Company could require replacement liquidity.
As discussed above, the Company’s Credit Agreement is an existing alternate liquidity source. The
Company believes that, if so required, it also could access other liquidity sources to replace funding
from the program.

Financial Statement Presentation

The Receivables Securitization Program is accounted for as a sale in accordance with FASB Statement
No. 140 “Accounting for Transfers and Servicing of Financial Assets and Extinguishments of Liabilities.”
Trade accounts receivable sold under this Program are excluded from accounts receivable in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. As of December 31, 2004, the Company sold $118.5 million of
interests in trade accounts receivable, compared with $150.0 million as of December 31, 2003.
Accordingly, trade accounts receivable of $118.5 million as of December 31, 2004 and $150.0 million as
of December 31, 2003 are excluded from the Consolidated Financial Statements. As discussed further
below, the Company retains an interest in the master trust based on funding levels determined by the
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7. Receivables Securitization Program (Continued)

Receivables Company. The Company’s retained interest in the master trust is included in the
Consolidated Financial Statements under the caption, “Retained interest in receivables sold, net.” For
further information on the Company’s retained interest in the master trust, see the caption “Retained
Interest’”’ below.

The Company recognizes certain costs and/or losses related to the Receivables Securitization Program.
Costs related to this program vary on a daily basis and generally are related to certain short-term interest
rates. The annual interest rate on the certificates issued under the Receivables Securitization Program
during 2004 ranged between 1.1% and 2.3%. In addition to the interest on the certificates, the Company
pays certain bank fees related to the program. Losses recognized on the sale of accounts receivable,
which represent the financial cost of funding under the program, totaled $3.1 million for 2004, compared
with $3.5 million for 2003. Proceeds from the collections under this revolving agreement for 2004 and
2003 were $3.6 billion and $3.4 billion, respectively. All costs and/or losses related to the Receivables
Securitization Program are included in the Consolidated Financial Statements of Income under the
caption “Other Expense, net.”

The Company has maintained the responsibility for servicing the sold trade accounts receivable and
those transferred to the master trust. No servicing asset or liability has been recorded because the fees
received for servicing the receivables approximate the related costs.

Retained Interest

The Receivables Company determines the level of funding achieved by the sale of trade accounts
receivable, subject to a maximum amount. It retains a residual interest in the eligible receivables
transferred to the trust, such that amounts payable in respect of such residual interest will be distributed
to the Receivables Company upon payment in full of all amounts owed by the Receivables Company to
the trust (and by the trust to its investors). The Company'’s net retained interest on $346.3 million and
$303.7 million of trade receivables in the master trust as of December 31, 2004 and December 31, 2003
was $227.8 million and $153.7 million, respectively. The Company’s retained interest in the master trust
is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements under the caption, “Retained interest in receivables
sold, net.”

The Company measures the fair value of its retained interest throughout the term of the Receivables
Securitization Program using a present value model incorporating the following two key economic
assumptions: (1) an average collection cycle of approximately 40 days; and (2) an assumed discount
rate of 5% per annum. In addition, the Company estimates and records an allowance for doubtful
accounts related to the Company’s retained interest. Considering the above noted economic factors
and estimates of doubtful accountis, the book value of the Company’s retained interest approximates fair
value. A 10% and 20% adverse change in the assumed discount rate or average collection cycle would
not have a material impact on the Company’s financial position or results of operations. Accounts
receivable sold to the master trust and written off during 2004 were not material.

8. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (‘EPS”) is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number
of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilution that could
occur if dilutive securities were exercised into common stock. Stock options and deferred stock units are
considered dilutive securities.
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8. Earnings Per Share (Continued)

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share (in thousands,
except per share data):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Numerator:
Netincome . . ... .. $89,971 $73,002 $60,228
Denominator:
Denominator for basic earnings per share —
Weighted average shares . .. . .. ..... ... ... .. ... ..... 33,410 33,116 33,240
Effect of dilutive securities:
Employee stock options . . . . ... ... ... . ... 575 323 543
Denominator for diluted earnings per share —
Adjusted weighted average shares and the effect of dilutive
SECUMHEBS . .. i o e et e 33,985 33,439 33,783
Net income per common share:
Net income pershare —basic . . ... ................... $ 269 $ 220 $ 1.81
Net income per share — assuming dilution. . .. .. ........ .. $ 265 $ 218 § 1.78

9. Long-Term Debt

USI is a holding company and, as a result, its primary sources of funds are cash generated from
operating activities of its operating subsidiary, USSC, and from borrowings by USSC. The Credit
Agreement (as defined below) contains restrictions on the ability of USSC to transfer cash to USI.

Long-term debt consisted of the following amounts (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2004 2003
ReVOIVEN . . . o e $11,200 $10,500
Industrial development bonds, at market-based interest rates, maturing in 2011 . 6,800 6,800
Other longtermdebt . .. ... .. ... . . ... . — 24
Subtotal . . ... 18,000 17,324
Less — current maturities . .. ... ... ... — (24)
Total .. $18,000 $17,300

The Company has historically used both fixed-rate and variable or short-term rate debt. As of
December 31, 2004, 100% of the Company’s outstanding debt is priced at variable interest rates. The
Company’s variable rate debt is based primarily on the applicable prime or London InterBank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR"). As of December 31, 2004, the prevailing prime interest rate was 5.25% and the LIBOR
rate was approximately 2.42%. A 50 basis point movement in interest rates would result in an annualized
increase or decrease of approximately $0.7 million in interest expense, loss on the sale of certain
accounts receivable and cash flows from operations.
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9. Long-Term Debt (Continued)
Credit Agreement and Other Debt

In March 2003, the Company entered into a Five-Year Revolving Credit Agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”), by and among USSC, as borrower, US|, as guarantor, various lenders that from time to
time are parties thereto and Bank One, NA, as administrative agent. The Credit Agreement provides for a
revolving credit facility (the “Revolving Credit Facility”’) with an aggregate committed principal amount of
$275 million. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Credit Agreement, USSC may seek additional
commitments from its current or new lenders to increase the aggregate committed principal amount
under the facility to a total amount of up to $325 million. The Credit Agreement contains representations
and warranties, affirmative and negative covenants, and events of default customary for financings of
this type. As a result of replacing its prior existing credit agreement, the Company recorded pre-tax
charges of $0.8 million in the first quarter of 2003.

Effective June 30, 2004, the Company entered into an amendment (the “Amendment”’) to the Credit
Agreement. Prior to the Amendment, the Credit Agreement restricted the ability of each of USIand USSC
to pay dividends or make distributions on its capital stock, other than stock dividends or distributions by
USSC to USI to fund certain expenses. It also limited the amount of USSC distributions to USI to enable
USIto repurchase its own shares of common stock. The Amendment, among other things, permits stock
repurchases, as well as cash dividends and other distributions, up to a new combined aggregate limit
equal to (a) the greater of (i) $250 million or (i} $250 million plus 25% of the Company’s consolidated net
income {or minus 25% of any loss) in each fiscal quarter beginning June 30, 2003, plus (b) the net cash
proceeds received from the exercise of stock options. As the Company had substantially exhausted the
approximately $50 million share repurchase limit originally provided under the Credit Agreement, the
Amendment provided the Company an additional $200 million to use for share repurchases, dividends
or other permitted distributions.

The Credit Agreement provides for the issuance of letters of credit in an aggregate amount of up to a
sublimit of $90 million. It also provides a sublimit for swingline loans in an aggregate outstanding
principal amount not to exceed $25 million at any one time. These amounts, as sublimits, do notincrease
the maximum aggregate principal amount, and any undrawn issued letters of credit and all outstanding
swingline loans under the facility reduce the remaining availability under the Revolving Credit Facility.
The revolving credit facility matures on March 21, 2008.

Obligations of USSC under the Credit Agreement are guaranteed by USI and certain of USSC’s
domestic subsidiaries. USSC’s obligations under the Credit Agreement and the guarantors’ obligations
under the guaranty are secured by liens on substantially all Company assets, including accounts
receivable, chattel paper, commerciai tort claims, documents, equipment, fixtures, instruments,
inventory, investment property, pledged deposits and all other tangible and intangible personal property
(including proceeds) and certain real property, but excluding accounts receivable (and related credit
support) subject to any accounts receivable securitization program permitted under the Credit
Agreement. Also securing these obligations are first priority pledges of afl of the capital stock of USSC
and the domestic subsidiaries of USSC, other than TOP.

Loans outstanding under the Credit Agreement bear interest at a floating rate (based on the higher of
either the prime rate or the federal funds rate plus 0.50%) plus a margin of 0% to 0.75% per annum, or at
USSC’s option, LIBOR (as it may be adjusted for reserves) plus a margin of 1.25% to 2.25% per annum,
or a combination thereof. The margins applicable to floating rate and LIBOR loans are determined by
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9. Long-Term Debt (Continued)

reference to a pricing matrix based on the total leverage of USI and its consolidated subsidiaries.
Applicable margins are up to 0.75% and 2.25%.

Debt maturities under the Credit Agreement as of December 31, 2004, were as follows (in thousands):

Year Amount

2008 . —

Total . L e $11,200

As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company had outstanding letters of credit of $16.4 million and
$15.1 million, respectively.

8.375% Senior Subordinated Notes and Other Debt

On April 28, 2003, the Company redeemed the entire $100 million outstanding principal amount of its
8.375% Senior Subordinated Notes ('8.375% Notes” or the “Notes”) at the redemption price of
104.188% of the principal amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interest to the date of redemption. In
connection with the redemption of the Notes, the Company recorded a pre-tax cash charge of
$4.2 million and $1.7 million relating to the write-off of associated deferred financing costs in the second
quarter of 20083.

The 8.375% Notes were issued on April 15, 1998, pursuant to the 8.375% Notes Indenture. The Notes
were unsecured senior subordinated obligations of USSC, and payment of the Notes were fully and
unconditionally guaranteed by US| and by USSC’s domestic “restricted” subsidiaries that incur
indebtedness (as defined in the 8.375% Notes Indenture) on a senior subordinated basis. The Notes
were redeemable on or after April 15, 2003, in whole or in part, at a redemption price of 104.188%
(percentage of principal amount). The 8.375% Notes were to mature on April 15, 2008, and bore interest
at the rate of 8.375% per annum, payable semi-annually on April 15 and October 15 of each year.

As of December 31, 2004 the Company has one remaining industrial development bond outstanding
with a balance of $6.8 million.
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10. Leases

The Company has entered into non-cancelable long-term leases for certain property and equipment.
Future minimum lease payments under operating leases in effect as of December 31, 2004 having initial
or remaining non-cancelable lease terms in excess of one year are as follows (in thousands):

Year Operating Leases™
2005 e $ 41,067
2006 . . e 35,836
2007 . e e e 29,886
2008 .. e e e 26,835
2009 .. e e 22,421
Later years . . . . . .. e e e e e e e 66,698
Total minimum lease payments .. ......... .. .. ... .. .. .. ... $222,743

(1) Operating leases are net of immaterial sublease income.

Operating lease expense was approximately $39.6 million, $42.0 million, and $48.0 million in 2004, 2003,
and 2002, respectively.

11. Pension Plans and Defined Contribution Plan
Pension Plans

As of December 31, 2004, the Company has pension plans covering approximately 4,300 of its
employees. Non-contributory plans covering non-union employees provide pension bensfits that are
based on years of credited service and a percentage of annual compensation. Non-contributory plans
covering union members generally provide benefits of stated amounts based on years of service. The
Company funds the plans in accordance with all applicable laws and regulations. The Company uses
October 31 as its measurement date to determine its pension obligations.

Change in Projected Benefit Obligation

The following table sets forth the plans’ changes in Projected Benefit Obligation for the years ended
December 31, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands):

2004 2003
Benefit obligation at beginningofyear .. ....... ... ... . .. . . oL $81,142  $66,647
Service cost — benefit earned during the period . . .................... 4,925 4,452
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation. . . . ........ ... ... .. ... ... 5,011 4,464
Plan amendments . .. . .. ... . e 132 851
Actuarial [08s . . . . . e e 6,347 6,371
Benefits paid. . . . . ... {2,004) (1,643)
Benefit obligation atend ofyear ... ...... ... ... ... ... ... .. ... $95,553 $81,142

The accumulated benefit obligation for the plan as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 totaled $86.6 million
and $73.7 million, respectively.
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11. Pension Plans and Defined Contribution Plan (Continued)
Plan Assets and Investment Policies & Strategies

The following table sets forth the change in the plans’ assets for the years ended December 31, 2004 and
2003 (in thousands):

2004 2003
Fair value of plan assets at beginningofyear ............ ... ......... $51,013  $39,959
Actual returnonplan assets .. ........ .. . . ... e 3,212 6,958
Company contributions . . . . . . . . ... e 8,554 5,739
Benefits paid. . . . .. . . . (2,004) (1,643)
Fair value of plan assets atend ofyear. . . . ......... ... ... . ... ...... $60,775 $51,013

The Company’s pension plan investment allocations, as a percentage of the fair value of total plan
assets, as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, by asset category are as foliows:

Asset Category 2004 2003

Cash . 48% 2.8%
Equity securities. . . . . .. . e 64.7% 61.9%
Fixed inCOmME . . . .. o e e 30.5% 34.9%
Other L e e 00% 0.4%
Total . . e 100.0% 100.0%

The investment policies and strategies for the Company's pension plan assets are established with the
goals of generating above-average investment returns over time, while containing risks within
acceptable levels and providing adequate liquidity for the payment of plan obligations. The Company
recognizes that there typically are tradeoffs among these objectives, and strives to minimize risk
associated with a given expected return.

The plan assets are invested primarily in a diversified mix of fixed income investments and equity
securities. The Company establishes target ranges for investment allocation and sets specific
allocations. On an ongoing basis, the Company reviews plan assets for possible rebalancing among
investments to remain consistent with target allocations. Actual plan asset allocations as of
December 31, 2004 and 2003 are consistent with the Company’s target allocation ranges.

Plan Funded Status
The foliowing table sets forth the plans’ funded status as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands):

2004 2003
Funded status of theplan. . . . ... . ... ... . . . . . . $(34,777) $(30,129)
Company contributions after measurementdate . . .. .................. — 721
Unrecognized prior service Cost . . . . . . ... . e 1,901 1,972
Unrecognized net actuarial loss . ... ... ... ... . . 26,491 20,017
Net amount recognized . . . .. . . ... . $ (6,385) $ (7,419)
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Components of Net Periodic Benefit Cost

Net periodic pension cost for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 for pension and
supplemental benefit plans includes the following components (in thousands):

2004 2003 2002
Service cost — benefit earned during the period ... ... ... ....... $4925 $4452 §3,873
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation ... ... ............. 5,011 4,464 4,005
Expected returnonplanassets. . . . ....... .. ... ... .. (4,486) (3,486) (3,666)
Amortization of prior servicecost ... .... ... ... . oL 203 123 133
Plan curtailmentloss . . ... ... ... . — — 416
Amortization of actuarial loss . . ........ ... . ... 1,147 1,075 276
Net periodic pension cost . .. ... ... .. . . $6,800 $6,628 $5,037

Assumptions Used

The weighted-average assumptions used in accounting for the Company’s defined benefit plans are set
forth below:

2004 2003 2002

Assumed discountrate . ... ... .. .. ... e 6.00% 6.25% 6.75%
Rate of compensationincrease . . . . ... ... . e 3.75% 4.00% 5.00%
Expected long-term rate of returnonplanassets. . .................... 8.25% 8.25% 8.25%

To select the appropriate actuarial assumptions, management relied on current market conditions,
historical information and consultation with and input from the Company’s outside actuaries. A one
percentage point decrease in the expected long-term rate of return on plan assets and the assumed
discount rate would have resulted in an increase in pension expense for 2004 of approximately
$2.8 million.

Contributions

The Company expects to contribute $4.8 million to its pension plan in 2005.

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

The estimated future benefit payments under the Company’s pension plan are as follows (in thousands):

Amounts
2005 .. e e $2,212
2006 . . e e e e 2,544
1 3,315
2008 . . e e e e e 3,831

2009 . .. 4,175




UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

11. Pension Plans and Defined Contribution Plan (Continued)

Defined Contribution Plan

The Company has a defined contribution plan. Salaried employees and non-union hourly paid
employees are eligible to participate after completing six consecutive months of employment. The plan
permits employees to have contributions made as 401 (k) salary deferrals on their behalf, or as voluntary
after-tax contributions, and provides for Company contributions, or contributions matching employees’
salary deferral contributions, at the discretion of the Board of Directors. Company contributions to match
employees’ contributions were approximately $3.3 million, $3.1 million and $3.0 million in 2004, 2003
and 2002, respectively.

12. Postretirement Health Benefits

The Company maintains a postretirement plan. The plan is unfunded and provides healthcare benefits to
substantially all retired non-union employees and their dependents. Eligibility requirements are based
on the individual's age (minimum age of 55), years of service and hire date. The benefits are subject to
retiree contributions, deductible, co-payment provision and other limitations.

Accrued Postretirement Benefit Obligation

The following table provides the plan’s change in Accrued Postretirement Benefit Obligation ("APBO”)
for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands):

2004 2003
Benefit obligation at beginningofyear . . . . ... ... .. . .. o $8,113 $6,614
Service cost — benefit earned duringthe period . . ... . ... ... oL 500 . 619
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation . ............ . ... .. . ... . ... 349 . 446
Plan participants’ contributions . . .. .. ... ... ... . . 355 278
Actuarial (@ain) 108S. . . . . .o e (2,385) 535
Benefits paid . .. . ... e (368) (379)
Benefit obligationatend ofyear . ... .. ... ... ... .. $6,564 $8,113

Plan Assets and Investment Policies & Strategies

The Company does not fund its postretirement benefit plan (see “Plan Funded Status” below).
Accordingly, as of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the postretirement benefit plan held no assets. The
following table provides the change in plan assets for the years ended December 31, 2004 and 2003 (in
thousands):

2004 2003
Fair value of plan assets at beginning ofyear. . ... ...... e $ — & —
Company contributions . . . . .. . ... L 13 101
Plan participants’ contributions ... ... .. ... e e e 355 278
Benefitspaid. . ........ ... . ... . .. .., e e (368) (379)
Fair value of plan assets atend ofyear . . . . ....... .. ... .. ... Lo L $ — $ —
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Plan Funded Status

The Company’s postretirement benefit plan is unfunded. The following table sets forth the plans’ funded
status as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 (in thousands):

2004 2003

Funded status of theplan ... ... ... . ... ... ... ... ..... DT $(6,564) $(8,113)
Unrecognized net actuarial (gain} loss . .. . ... ... . . e (1,499) 815
Accrued postretirement benefit obligation in the Consolidated Balance Sheets . . . $(8,063) $(7,298)

Net Periodic Postretirement Benefit Cost

The costs of postretirement healthcare benefits for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
were as follows (in thousands):

2004 2003 2002

Service cost — benefit earned duringthe period . ... ......... .. .. ... $500 $ 619 $530
Interest cost on projected benefit obligation .. ... ..... .. ... ... . ..., 349 447 390
Recognized actuarial gain . . .. ... ... . . ... e (71) — —
Net periodic postretirement benefitcost . . . ............... ... ... .. $778 $1,066 $920

Assumptions Used

The weighted-average assumptions used in accounting for the Company’s postretirement plan for the
three years presented are set forth below:

2004 2003 2002

Assumed average healthcare costtrend . . ... ... ... ... ... ... ..... 3.00% 3.00% 3.00%
Assumed discountrate .. ........ . ... .. 6.00% 6.25% 6.75%

A one-percentage point decrease in the assumed discount rate would have resulted in incremental
postretirement healthcare expenses for 2004 of approximately $0.2 million. The postretirement plan
states that the Company’s medical cost increases for current and future retirees and their dependents
are capped at 3%. Because annual medical cost increases are trending above 4% and the Company’s
portion of any increase is capped at 3%, a 1% increase or decrease in these costs will have no effect on
the APBO, the service cost or the interest cost.

13. Stock Option and Incentive Plans

The Company has five stock option and incentive plans. The USI 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the
“LTIP"), the USI 1992 Management Equity Plan (the 1992 MEP”’) and the USI 2000 Management Equity
Plan ({the “2000 MEP”) are administered by the Human Resources Committee, or the US| Board of
Directors or by such other committee as may be determined by the US| Board of Directors. The LTIP was
approved by stockholders in May 2004. Upon approval of the LTIP, no further awards under the 1992
MEP 2000 MEP. Retention Grant Plan or Directors Grant Plan have been or wiil be made.
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13. Stock Option and Incentive Plans (Continued)

During 2004, 2003 and 2002, options to purchase approximately 0.8 million, 1.1 million and 1.4 million
shares of common stock, respectively, were granted under the 1992 MEFR, 2000 MEP or LTIP to
management employees and directors, with option exercise prices equal to fair market vaiue, generally
vesting ratably between three and five years and generally expiring 10 years from the date of grant. As of
December 31, 2004, there were 2.0 million shares available for future grant under the LTIP. The Company
recorded compensation expense for all of its stock option and incentive plans of $0.1 million each for
both 2004 and 2003, respectively.

An optionee under the 1992 MEP, 2000 MEP and LTIP must pay the full option price upon exercise of an
option (i) in cash; (i) with the consent of the Board of Directors, by tendering, by actual delivery of shares
of common stock already owned by the optionee and having a fair market value at least equal to the
exercise price or by attestation; (jiii) by irrevocably authorizing a third party to sell shares of stock
acquired on exercise of an option; or (iv) in any combination of the above. The Company may require the
optionee to satisfy federal tax withholding obligations with respect to the exercise of options by
(i) additional withholding from the employee’s salary, (i) requiring the optionee to pay in cash, or
(iii) reducing the number of shares of common stock to be issued to meet only the minimum statutory
withholding requirement (except in the case of incentive stock options).

The foliowing table summarizes the transactions of the 1992 MEP, 2000 MEP and LTIP for the last three
years: :

Weighted Weighted Weighted

Average Average Average
1992 MEP, 2000 MEP and LTIP Exercise Exercise Exercise
(excluding restricted stock) 2004 Price 2003 Price 2002 Price
Options outstanding — January 1 ... ... .. 3,366,487 $30.78 4,088,636 $25.37 3,183,928 $25.29
Granted . ......... ... ... .. . ... ... 779,795 4174 1,100,300 37.80 1,350,962 25.37
Exercised .......... ... ... ... ... (342,047) 28.17 (1,601,501) 22.00 (276,696) 22.98
Canceled ........................ (75,916) 32.684 (220,948) 29.20 (169,558) 27.63
Options outstanding — December 31 ... .. 3,728,319 $33.30 3,366,487 $30.78 4,088,636 $25.37
Number of options exercisable . . .. ... ... 1,715,139 $30.12 1,086,056 $28.39 1,882,842 $23.30

The following table summarizes outstanding options granted under the 1992 MEPR, 2000 MEP and LTIP
as of December 31, 2004:

Remaining

Exercise Contractual
Prices Outstanding Life (Years) Exercisable
$10.81—20.00 1,434 83 —
20.01—25.00 662,644 6.4 378,309
25.01—30.00 758,140 7.1 498,246
30.01—35.00 513,833 6.4 511,833
35.01—40.00 1,002,473 8.7 321,752
40.01—45.00 739,795 9.8 4,999
45.01—50.00 50,000 10.0 —
Total 3,728,319 7.9 1,715,139
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13. Stock Option and Incentive Plans (Continued)
United Stationers Inc. Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”)

In March 2004, USI's Board of Directors adopted the LTIP to, among other things, attract and retain
excellent managerial talent, further align the interest of key employees to those of the Company and
provide competitive compensation to key employees. In May 2004, the Company’s stockholders
approved the LTIP. Key employees and non-employee directors of the Company are eligible to become
participants in the LTIP, except that non-employee directors may not be granted incentive stock options.
During 2004, the Company granted stock options and restricted stock under the LTIP covering an
aggregate of 0.8 million shares of USI common stock.

Retention Grant Plan

During 2001, the Company established a Retention Grant Plan (the “Retention Plan”) to retain key
executives and to provide additional incentive for such key executives to achieve the objectives and
promote the business success of the Company by providing such individuals opportunities to acquire
USI common shares through the settlement of deferred stock units. Each deferred stock unit is equal to
one share of USI’s common stock. The maximum number of defefred stock units that may be granted
under the Retention Plan is 270,000. During 2001, 100,000 deferred stock units were granted with a cliff
vesting of eight years, subject to certain accelerated vesting conditions. The value of the grant of $24.25
per deferred stock unit was established by the market price of USI’'s common stock on the date of the
grant. As a result of meeting the accelerated vesting conditions, 25,000 deferred stock units vested
during 2002. The remaining 75,000 stock units were forfeited. No compensation expense was
recognized during 2004 or 2003 in connection with the Retention Plan. No future awards will be made
under this plan.

Directors Grant Plan

During 2001, the Company established a Directors Grant Plan (the “‘Directors Plan”) to retain directors
who are not employees of the Company and to provide additional incentive for such directors to achieve
the objectives and promote the business success of the Company by providing such individuals
opportunities to acquire USI common shares through the settlement of deferred stock units. Each
deferred stock unit is equal to one share of USI’'s common stock. At such times as determined by the USI
Board of Directors, each director of the Company who is not an employee of the Company may be
granted up to 4,000 deferred stock units each year as determined by the Board of Directors in its sole
discretion. Vesting terms will be determined at the time of the grant. No deferred stock units were
granted under the Directors Plan since 2001. As a result, no expense was recorded for this plan since
2001. No future awards will be made under this plan.

Nonemployee Directors’ Deferred Stock Compensation Plan

Pursuant to the United Stationers Inc. Nonemployee Directors’ Deferred Stock Compensation Pian,
non-employee directors may defer receipt of all or a portion of their retainer and meeting fees. Fees
deferred are credited quarterly to each participating director in the form of stock units, based on the fair
market value of USI's common stock on the quarterly deferral date. Each stock unit account generally is
distributed and settled in whole shares of USI's common stock on a one-for-one basis, with a cash-out of
any fractional stock unit interests, after the participant ceases to serve as a Company director.
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UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

13. Stock Option and Incentive Plans (Continued)

For the year ended December 31, 2004 and 2003, the Company recorded compensation expense of
approximately $0.2 million in each year related to this plan. As of December 31, 2004 and 2003, the
accumulated number of stock units outstanding under this plan was 37,461 and 31,770, respectively.

14. Preferred Stock

USI’s authorized capital shares include 15 million shares of preferred stock. The rights and preferences
of preferred stock are established by USI's Board of Directors upon issuance. As of December 31, 2004,
USI had no preferred stock outstanding and all 15 million shares are classified as undesignated
preferred stock.

15. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Currently payable
Federal .. ... ... .. . . $48,553 $46,876 $27,596
State . .. 4,457 5,863 2,958
Total currently payable . . . . ... ... ... o 53,010 52,739 30,554
Deferred, net—
Federal . ... . . .. . . e (179)  (3,760) 5,023
State . . e ) (484) 564
Totaldeferred, net. . . . .. ... ... .. .. (181) (4,244} 5,587
Provision forincometaxes . .. . ... ..o i e $52,829 $48,495 $36,141

The Company’s effective income tax rates for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002
varied from the statutory federal income tax rate as set forth in the following table (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,
2004 2003 2002

% of Pre-tax % of Pre-tax % of Pre-tax
Amount Income Amount Income Amount Income

Tax provision based on

the federal statutory :

rate .. ... ... ... $49,979 35.0% $44,664 35.0% $33,728 35.0%
State and local income

taxes—net of federal

income tax benefit . . . . 2,896 2.0% 3,446 2.7% 2,314 2.4%
Non-deductible and other (46) — 385 0.3% 99 0.1%
Provision for income )

taxes . .. ... $52,829 37.0% $48,495 38.0% $36,141 37.5%

65




UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

15. Income Taxes (Continued)

The deferred tax assets and liabilities resulted from temporary differences in the recognition of certain
items for financial and tax accounting purpases. The sources of these differences and the related tax
effects were as follows (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2004 2003

Assets Liabilities ~ Assets  Liabilities
Accrued eXPeNnSEeS . . . . . . e $24,057 $ — $22616 $ —
Allowance for doubtful accounts . .. ... ... ... .. ... 4,962 — 5,682 —
Inventory reserves and adjustments . . ... ...... .. .. — 12,372 — 10,227
Depreciation and amortization . . . ................ — 31,972 — 35,464
Restructuringcosts . .. ... ... ... ... ... .. ..., 3,749 —_ 4,727 —
Reserve for stock option compensation . ........... 460 — 728 —
Other . .. e 94 — 4,987 —
Total ... .. $33,322 $44,344 $38,740 $45,691

In the Consolidated Balance Sheets, these deferred assets and liabilities were classified on a net basis
as current and non-current, based on the classification of the related asset or liability or the expected

reversal date of the temporary difference.

16. Supplemental Cash Flow Information

In addition to the information provided in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Fiows, the following are
supplemental disclosures of cash flow information for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003 and

2002 (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2004 2003 2002
Cash Paid During the Year For:
IMtErest . . e e $ 955 $ 7,336 $15,138
Discount on the sale of trade accounts receivable .. .......... . 2,686 2,993 2,025
Income taxes, Net . .. ... ... . . e 42,222 40,300 27,914

17. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
The estimated fair value of the Company’s financial instruments is as foliows (in thousands):

As of December 31,

2004 2003
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value
Cashandcashequivalents . . .................... $15,719  $15,719 $10,307 $10,307
Current maturities of long-termdebt . . . .. ........... — — 24 24
Long-term debt:
Allother .. .. . . . 18,000 18,000 17,300 17,300
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UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

18. Quarterly Financial Data—Unaudited

Net Income
Net Income Per Share—
Per Share— Assuming
Net Sales Gross Profit Net Income Basic!" Dilution
(dollars in thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended
December 31, 2004: : :
First Quarter .. ... ....... $ 987,866 $147,583 $23,379 $0.69 $0.68
Second Quarter . . . .. ... .. 966,678 142,745 21,029 0.63 0.62
Third Quarter® ., ... ... .. 1,028,833 152,794 26,315 0.79 0.78
Fourth Quarter® ... ... ... 1,007,813 139,094 - 19,248 0.58 0.57
Total ......... ... ..... $3,991,190 $582,216 $89,971 $2.69 $2.65
Year Ended
December 31, 2003:
First Quarter® .. ... ... ... $ 970,220 $138,627 $12,676 $0.39 $0.39
Second Quarter . . . . ... ... 955,466 134,453 15,106 0.46 0.46
Third Quarter.. ... ....... 979,430 - 145,750 23,297 0.70 0.69
Fourth Quarter... ... ... ... 942,606 141,703 21,923 0.65 0.64
Total ................. $3,847,722 $560,533 $73,002 $2.20 $2.18

(1) As aresult of changes in the number of common and common equivalent shares during the year, the sum of
quarterly earnings per share will not necessarily equal earnings per share for the total year.

{(2) Includes write-offs of $5.6 million ($3.4 million after-tax, or $0.10 per diluted share) related to the Company’s
Canadian Division. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

{8) Includes write-offs of $7.6 million ($4.8 million after-tax, or $0.14 per diluted share) related to the Company’s
Canadian Division. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(4) The Company adopted EITF No. 02-18 in the first quarter of 2003, resulting in a reduction of net income of
$6.1 million, or $0.19 per basic and diluted earnings per share. See Note 1 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.

The Registrant had no disagreements on accounting and financial disclosure of the type referred to in
Item 304 of Regulation S-K.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Attached as exhibits to this Annual Report are certifications of the Company’s President and Chief
Executive Officer (‘CEQ”) and Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), which are
required in accordance with Rule 13a-14 under the Exchange Act. This “Controls and Procedures”
section includes information concerning the controls and controis evaluation referred to in such
certifications. It should be read in conjunction with the reports of the Company’s management on the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting and the report thereon of Ernst & Young LLP referred
to below. ‘

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

At the end of the period covered by this Annual Report the Company’s management performed an
evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s CEO and CFOQ, of the
effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e}). Such disclosure controls and procedures (*‘Disclosure Controls”) are
controls and other procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance that information required to
be disclosed in our reports filed under the Exchange Act, such as this Annual Repon, is recorded,
processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms.
Disclosure Controls are also designed to reasonably assure that such information is accumulated and
communicated to our management, including the CEO and CFO, as appropriate to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure. Management’'s quarterly evaluation of Disclosure Controls
includes an evaluation of some components of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting,
and internal control over financial reporting is also separately evaluated on an annual basis for purposes
of providing the management report which is set forth in ltem 8 of this Annual Report.

Based on this evaluation, and subject to the inherent limitations noted below in this Item 9A, the
Company’s management (including its CEO and CFO) concluded that, as of December 31, 2004, the
Company’s Disclosure Controls were effective.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and Related Report of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting and the report of Ernst & Young LLP, the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm (“E&Y”), regarding its audit of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting and of management’s assessment of internal control
over financial reporting are included in Item 8 of this Annual Report.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There were no changes to the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the last quarter of 2004 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting, except as described below.

In the third quarter of 2004, the Company’s management, as well as E&Y, identified internal control
deficiencies relating to (i) the design and operating effectiveness of internal controls relating to
receivables from suppliers for various supplier allowance programs at the Company’'s Canadian
Division, including recording receivables without adequate documentation and failing to reconcile
receivables with the terms of underlying supplier contracts, (ii) certain amounts recorded in respect of
the Canadian Division which were determined to be in error, and (iii) inadequate reviews of various
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Canadian Division receivables balances for collectibility. Subsequent to the third quarter, the Company’s
management and E&Y identified additional deficiencies at the Canadian Division related to recording
inventory obsolescence reserves, accounts payable, customer rebates and accounting for foreign
currencies. Management and E&Y considered these matters to be significant deficiencies under
standards established by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (“PCAQOB"), and therefore
reported them to the Audit Committee of the Company's Board of Directors.

During the fourth quarter of 2004, in response to these noted deficiencies and findings from the
Company's Canadian Division review, the Company implemented remedial measures and
improvements to strengthen its internal controls with respect to the Canadian Division. These remedial
measures included:

* reorganizing the Canadian Division to promote segregation of duties and conformity with overall
Company policies and procedures;

* changing the internal reporting structure so that accounting personnei at the Canadian Division
report directly to the Company’s accounting department in the United States, with stronger
oversight for all other functional areas by their U.S. counterparts;

* improving formal Canadian Division policies, processes and procedures, and supporting
documentation requirements, including those relating to supplier allowances estimates and
recoveries, timely account reviews and reconciliations and monthly financial close procedures;
and

* establishing additional monitoring controls over the Canadian Division, including those relating to
the establishment and review of supplier and customer accruals and accounting for non-routine
transactions. ‘

Both the Company’s management and E&Y determined that these strengthened fourth quarter internal
controls did not operate for a sufficient period of time to permit management or E&Y to fully evaluate their
operating effectiveness as of December 31, 2004. As a result, management and E&Y determined, and in
the first quarter of 2005 reported to the Audit Committee, that the above-described matters at the
Canadian Division constituted significant deficiencies as of December 31, 2004 under applicable
PCAOB standards.

In the first quarter of 2005, an additional significant deficiency was identified as of December 31, 2004
with respect to the Company’s accounting for supplier allowances. This significant deficiency related to
the Company’'s use, primarily with respect to certain private label products, of blended allowance
percentages rather than the respective allowance percentages applicable to individual products under
the terms of the relevant supplier agreements, as well as its use in certain cases of allowance
percentages that were not based on the most recent supplier agreements. The Company is considering
what enhanced controls may be appropriate to address these matters, and expects to begin to
implement any such identified measures during the first quarter of 2005.

The Company’'s management concluded that these significant deficiencies did not, individually or in the
aggregate, constitute a material weakness, as defined under applicable PCACB standards as of
December 31, 2004. Management’'s assessment of the effectiveness of the Company's internal control
over financial reporting as of December 31, 2004, has been audited by E&Y, as stated in their report
which appears on page 35 of this Annual Report.

Inherent Limitations on Effectiveness of Controls

The Company’s management, including the CEQ and CFO, does not expect that the Company’s
Disclosure Controls or its internal control over financial reporting will prevent or detect all error or all
fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. The design of a control system
must reflect the existence of resource constraints. Further, because of the inherent limitations in all
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control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that misstatements due to
error or fraud will not occur or that ail control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within the company
have been detected. These inherent limitations include the fact that judgments in decision-making can
be faulty and that breakdowns can occur because of simple error or mistake. Controls can also be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by
managerial override. The design of any system of controls is based in part on certain assumptions about
the likelihood of future events, and no design is likely to succeed in achieving its stated goals under all
potential future conditions. Projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of controls to future periods
are subject to risks, including that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions
or deterioration in the degree of compliance with policies or procedures.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.

On March 15, 2005, USI, USSC and P. Cody Phipps, the Company’s Senior Vice President, Operations,
executed an amendment to Mr. Phipps’ employment agreement. This amendment corrects an
inadvertent omission from Mr. Phipps’ originally signed employment agreement and provides that, for
purposes of determining his pension vesting and benefits, he will receive five additional years of age and
service credits, credited as of the effective date of his employment agreement, under a nonqualified
supplemental pension plan arrangement. A copy of the amendment is included as an exhibit to this
Annual Report.

On December 7, 2004, the Human Resources Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors approved
annual base salaries, effective as of January 1, 2005, for the Company’s executive officers, as reported in
the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 28, 2005. The annual base
salaries for the executive officers the Company expects to name in the Summary Compensation Table in
the Company’s definitive proxy statement are provided on an exhibit to this Annual Report.

On November 4, 2004, the Company entered into a lease with Cransud One, LLC, providing for the
Company’s lease of an approximately 573,000 square foot distribution center in Cranbury, New Jersey.
The lease has an initial term of fifteen years, with an initial base rent of approximately $2.64 million per
year and an option by the Company to extend the lease for two additional five year terms. A copy of such
lease is included as an exhibit to this Annual Report.

PART 1l
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT.

For information about the Company’s executive officers, see “Executive Officers of the Registrant”
included as Item 4A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In addition, the information contained under the
captions “Proposal 1: Election of Directors” and “Voting Securities and Principal Holders—
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in USI's Proxy Statement for its 2005 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (2005 Proxy Statement”) is incorporated herein by reference.

The information required by Item 10 regarding the Audit Committee’s composition and the presence of
an “audit committee financial expert” is incorporated herein by reference to the information under the
captions “Governance and Board Matters—Board Committees—General” and “—Audit Committee” in
USI's 2005 Proxy Statement.

The Company has adopted a code of ethics (its “Code of Business Conduct”) that applies to all
directors, officers and employees, including the Company’s CEO, CFO and Controller, and other
executive officers identified pursuant to this Item 10. A copy of this Code of Business Conduct is
available on the Company’s Web site at www.unitedstationers.com. The Company intends to disclose
any amendments to and waivers of its Code of Conduct by posting the required information at this Web
site within the required time periods.
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{TEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the
information under the captions ‘Director Compensation,” “Executive Compensation” and
“Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in USI's 2005 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT
AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS.

The beneficial ownership information required to be furnished pursuant to this Item is incorporated
herein by reference to the information under the captions *“Voting Securities and Principal Holders—
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners” and “Voting Securities and Principal Holders—
Security Ownership of Management” in USI’s 2005 Proxy Statement. Information relating to securities
authorized for issuance under United’s equity plans is incorporated herein by reference to the
information under the caption “Equity Compensation Plan Information” in USI's 2005 Proxy Statement.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS.

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the
information under the caption “Certain Relationships and Related Transactions” in USI’s 2005 Proxy
Statement.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES.

The information required to be furnished pursuant to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the
information under the captions “Proposal 2: Ratification of Selection of independent Registered Public
Accountants—Fee Information” and “—Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policy” in USI's 2005 Proxy
Statement.
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PART IV
ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES.

(a) The following financial statements, schedules and exhibits are filed as part of this report:

Page No.
(1) Financial Statements of the Company:
Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting . . ... ........ 34
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on Internal Control Over
Financial Reporting . . . .. .. .o 35
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm . .. ............... 36
Consolidated Statements of Income for the years ended December 31, 2004, 2003
and 2002 . . .. e 37
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2004 and 2003 ............ 38
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders’ Equity for the years ended
December 31, 2004, 2003 and 2002 . ... ... ... . . . 39
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended December 31, 2004,
2003 and 2002 . . . .. 40
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements . .. ............. .. .. .. ... .. 41
(2) Financial Statement Schedule:
Schedule l—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts. . .. ... ... ... ... ... ... 79

(3) Exhibits (numbered in accordance with Item 601 of Regulation S-K):

The Company is including as exhibits to this Annual Report on certain documents that it has previously

filed with the SEC as exhibits, and it is incorporating such documents as exhibits herein by reference

from the respective filings identified in parentheses at the end of the exhibit descriptions. Except where

otherwise indicated, the identified SEC filings from which such exhibits are incorporated by reference

were made by the Company (under USI’s file number of 0-10653). The management contracts and

compensatory plans or arrangements required to be included as exhibits to this Annual Report pursuant

to Item 15(b) are listed below as Exhibits 10.28 through 10.56, inclusive, and each of them is marked with

a double asterisk at the end of the related exhibit description.

Exhibit

Number Description

2.1 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2000, among USSC, Corporate Express, Inc.

and Corporate Express CallCenter Services, Inc. (Exhibit 2.4 to the Company’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2000, filed on March 29, 2001 (the 2000
Form 10-K))

2.2 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated June 14, 2000, among USSC, Axidata (1998) Inc. and
Miami Computer Supply Corporation (Exhibit 2.5 to the Company’s 2000 Form 10-K)

2.3 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of December 19, 2000, among Lagasse Bros., Inc., The
Peerless Paper Mills and the shareholders of The Peerless Paper Mills (Exhibit 2.6 to the
Company’s 2000 Form 10-K)

3.1 Second Restated Certificate of Incorporation of US|, dated as of March 19, 2002 (Exhibit 3.1 to
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, filed on
April 1, 2002 (the “2001 Form 10-K"))

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of USI, dated as of October 21, 2004 (Exhibit 3.1 to the
Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on October 21, 2004)
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Exhibit
Number

4.1

4.2

10.1

10.2

103

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10

Description

Rights Agreement, dated as of July 27, 1999, by and between US| and BankBoston, N.A., as
Rights Agent (Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s 2001 Form 10-K)

Amendment to Rights Agreement, effective as of April 2, 2002, by and among USI, Fleet
National Bank (f/k/a BankBoston, N.A.) and EquiServe Trust Company, N.A. (Exhibit 4.1 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2002, filed on May 15, 2002)

Five-Year Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2003, among USSC as borrower,
US! as a credit party, the lenders from time to time thereunder (the “Lenders’) and Bank One,
NA, as administrative agent (Exhibit 4.8 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2002, filed on March 31, 2003 (the “2002 Form 10-K"))

Amendment to Five-Year Revolving Credit Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2004, among
USSC as borrower, USI as a credit party, the lenders from time to time thereunder and Bank
One, NA, as administrative agent (Exhibit 4.6 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended June 30, 2004, filed on August 6, 2004 (the “Form 10-Q filed on August 8,
2004"))

Pledge and Security Agreement, dated as of March 21, 2003, by and between USSC as
borrower, USI, Azerty Incorporated, Lagasse, Inc., USFS, United Stationers Technology
Services LLC (collectively, the “Initial Guarantors”), and Bank One, NA as agent for the
Lenders (Exhibit 4.9 to the 2002 Form 10-K)

Guaranty, dated as of March 21, 2003, by the Initial Guarantors in favor of Bank One, NA as
administrative agent (Exhibit 4.10 to the 2002 Form 10-K)

Second Amended and Restated Receivables Sale Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003,
among USSC, as seller, USFS, as purchaser, and United Stationers Financial Services LLC
(“USFS”) USFS, as servicer (Exhibit 10.2 to the 2002 Form 10-K)

Amended and Restated USFS Receivables Sale Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003,
among USFS, as seller, USS Receivables Company, Ltd. (“USSR"), as purchaser, and USFS
as servicer (Exhibit 10.4 to the 2002 Form 10-K)

Second Amended and Restated Servicing Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003, among
USSR, USFS, as servicer, USSC, as support provider, and Bank One, NA, as trustee
(Exhibit 10.6 to the 2002 Form 10-K) ‘

Second Amended and Restated Pooling Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003, among
USSR, USFS, as servicer, and Bank One, NA, as trustee (Exhibit 10.8 to the 2002 Form 10-K)

Series 2003-1 Supplement, dated as of March 28, 2003, to the Second Amended and Restated
Pooling Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003, by and among USSR, USFS, as servicer,
Bank One, NA, as funding agent, Falcon Asset Securitization Corporation, as initial purchaser,
the other parties from time to time thereto, and Bank One, NA, as trustee (Exhibit 10.9 to the
2002 Form 10-K)

Second Amended and Restated Series 2000-2 Supplement, dated as of March 28, 2003, to the
Second Amended and Restated Pooling Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003, by and
among USSR, USFS, as servicer, Market Street Funding Corporation, as committed purchaser,
PNC Bank, National Association, as administrator, and Bank One, NA, as trustee (Exhibit 10.11
to the 2002 Form 10-K) '
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Exhibit
Number

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24

10.25

Description

Series 2004-1 Supplement, dated as of March 26, 2004 to the Second Amended and Restated
Pooling Agreement, dated as of March 28, 2003 by and among Fifth Third Bank (Chicago) and
JPMorgan Chase Bank (Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2004, filed on May 10, 2004).

Omnibus Amendment, dated as of March 26, 2004, by and among USSC, USSR, USFS,
Falcon Asset Securitization Corporation, PNC Bank, National Association, Market Street
Funding Corporation, Bank One, NA (Main Office Chicago) and JPMorgan Chase Bank
(Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2004, filed on
May 10, 2004).

Lease Agreement, dated as of January 12, 1993, as amended, among Stationers Antelope
Joint Venture, AVP Trust, Adon V. Panattoni, Yolanda M. Panattoni and USSC (Exhibit 10.32 to
the Company’s Form S-1 (SEC File No. 033-59811-01) filed on July 28, 1995 (the “1995 S-1")

Second Amendment to Lease, dated as of November 22, 2002, between Stationers Joint
Venture and USSC (Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2003, filed on March 15, 2004 (the “2003 Form 10-K")

Lease Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2001, between Panattoni Investments, LLC and
USSC (Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s 2001 Form 10-K)

Lease Agreement, dated as of October 12, 1998, between Corum Carol Stream Associates,
LLC and USSC (Exhibit 10.94 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 1998, filed on March 29, 1999)

Standard Industrial Lease, dated March 2, 1992, between Carol Point Builders | and
Associated Stationers, Inc. (Exhibit 10.34 to the Company’s 1995 S-1)

Second Amendment to Industrial Lease, dated November 15, 2001 between Carol Point, LLC
and USSC (Exhibit 10.12 to the 2003 Form 10-K)

First Amendment to Industrial Lease dated January 23, 1997 between ERI-CP, Inc. (successor
to Carol Point Builders ) and USSC (successor to Associated Stationers, Inc.) (Exhibit 10.56 to
the Company’s Form S-2 (SEC File No. 333-34937) filed on October 3, 1997).

Lease Agreement, dated April 19, 2000, between Corporate Estates, Inc., Mitchell Investments,
LLC and USSC (Exhibit 10.39 to the 2000 Form 10-K)

Lease Agreement, dated July 30,1999, between Valley View Business Center, Ltd. and USSC
(Exhibit 10.36 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1999, filed on March 8, 2000)

Sixth Amendment to Lease, dated December 19, 2003, between Three Thirty Nine-M-Edison
and USSC (Exhibit 10.17 to the 2003 Form 10-K)

Lease Agreement, dated March 15, 2000, between Troy Hill | LLC and USSC (Exhibit 10.42 to
the Company’s 2000 Form 10-K)

Industrial Lease Agreement, executed as of October 21, 2001, by and between Duke
Construction Limited Partnership and USSC (Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s 2001 Form 10-K)

First Amendment to Industrial Lease Agreement, dated October 1, 2002, between Allianz Life
Insurance Co. of North America and USSC (Exhibit 10.20 to the 2003 Form 10-K)
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Exhibit
Number

10.26

10.27*

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39

10.40

10.41

Description

Industrial Net Lease, effective January 16, 2002, by and between The Order People Company
and New West Michigan Industrial Investors, L.L.C. and assigned toc USSC (Exhibit 10.1 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q for the Quarter ended March 31, 2002, filed on May 15, 2002)

Industrial/Commercial Single Tenant Lease—Net, dated November 4, 2004, between Cransud
One, L.L.C. and USSC

United Stationers Inc. 1992 Management Equity Plan (as amended and restated as of July 31,
2002) (Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 2002, filed on November 14, 2002 (“Form 10-Q filed on November 14,
20027))**

United Stationers Inc. 2000 Management Equity Plan (as amended and restated as of July 31,
2002) (Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2002)**

United Stationers Inc. Retention Grant Plan (Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’'s 2001
Form 10-K)**

United Stationers Inc. Nonemployee Directors’ Deferred Stock Compensation Plan
(Exhibit 10.85 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
1997)**

United Stationers inc. Directors Grant Plan (Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s 2001 Form 10-K)**

United Stationers Inc. 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Appendix A to United's Proxy Statement
for its 2004 Annual Meeting of Stockholders, filed with the SEC on March 23, 2004)**

Form of grant letter used for grants of non-qualified options to non-employee directors under
the United Stationers Inc. 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on September 3, 2004 (the “September 3, 2004
Form 8-K))**

Form of grant letter used for grants of non-qualified stock options to employees under the
United Stationers Inc. 2004 Long-Term Incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.2 to the September 3, 2004
Form 8-K)**

Form of restricted stock award agreement under the United Stationers Inc. 2004 Long-Term
incentive Plan (Exhibit 10.1 to the Company's Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
December 21, 2004)**

United Stationers Inc. and Subsidiary Companies Management incentive Plan (Appendix B to
United’s definitive proxy statement filed on April 6, 2000)**

United Stationers Supply Co. Deferred Compensation Plan (Exhlblt 10.48 to the Company’s
2000 Form 10-K) **

First Amendment to the United Stationers Supply Co. Deferred Compensation Plan, effective
as of November30, 2001 (Exhibit 10.25 to the Company’s 2001 Form 10-K)**

Officer Medical Reimbursement Plan, as in effect as of December 22, 2003 (Exhibit 10.30 to the
2003 Form 10-K)**

Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of July 22, 2002, by and among US|, USSC,
and Richard W. Gochnauer (EXthlt 10.3 to the Company's Form 10-Q filed on November 14,
2002)**
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Exhibit
Number

10.42

10.43

10.44

10.45

10.46

10.47

10.48

10.49*

10.50

10.51

10.52

10.53

10.54

10.55*
10.56*
21*
23*
31.1*

Description

Amendment No. 1 to Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of January 1, 2003, by and
among US|, USSC and Richard W. Gochnauer (Exhibit 10.40 to the 2002 Form 10-K)**

Amendment No. 2 to Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of December 31, 2003, by
and among US!, USSC, and Richard W. Gochnauer (Exhibit 10.33 to the 2003 Form 10-K)**

Farm of Executive Emplayment Agreement effective as of July 1, 2002, entered into by US| and
USSC with each of Mark J. Hampton, Joseph R. Templet and Jeffrey G. Howard (Exhibit 10.4 to
the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2002)**

Form of Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of July 1, 2002 entered into by US| and
USSC with each of Kathleen S. Dvorak, Deidra D. Gold and John T. Sloan (Exhibit 10.5 to the
Company's Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2002)**

Amendment No. 1 to Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of December 16, 2002, by
and among US|, USSC and John T. Sloan (Exhibit 10.37 to the 2002 Form 10-K)**

Form of Employment Agreement, effective as of July 1, 2002, entered into by US| and USSC
with each of Ronald C. Berg, James K. Fahey and Stephen A. Schultz (Exhibit 10.6 to the
Company’s Form 10-Q filed on November 14, 2002)**

Form of Executive Employment Agreement entered into by US! and USSC with each of
S. David Bent and P Cody Phipps (Exhibit 10.2 to the Form 10-Q filed on August 6, 2004)**

Amendment No. 1 to Executive Employment Agreement, dated as of March 14, 2005, among
US|, USSC and P. Cody Phipps**

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between USI directors and various executive
officers of USI {(Exhibit 10.36 to the Company’s 2001 Form 10-K)**

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by USI and (for purposes of one provision)
USSC with each of Richard W. Gochnauer, Mark J. Hampton, Joseph R. Templet, and other
directors and executive officers of USI (Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Form 10-Q filed on
November 14, 2002)** '

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into by USI and (for purposes of one provision)
USSC with each of S. David Bent and P. Cody Phipps (Exhibit 10.3 to the Form 10-Q filed on
August 6, 2004)**

Executive Employment Agreement, effective as of October 19, 2004, among United, USSC and
Patrick T. Collins (Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on
October 21, 2004)**

United Stationers Supply Co. Severance Pay Plan, as in effect as of August 1, 2004
(Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2004, filed on
November 9, 2004)** '

Summary of Board of Directors Compensation**

Summary of compensation of certain executive officers of United**
Subsidiaries of USI

Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Certification of Chief Executive Officer, dated as of March 16, 2005, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by Richard W. Gochnauer
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Exhibit
Number

31.2*

32.1*

Description
Certification of Chief Financial Officer, dated as of March 16, 2005, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 302(a) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by Kathieen S. Dvorak

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by Richard W. Gochnauer and Kathleen S. Dvorak

*  Filed herewith.

** Represents a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly
authorized.

UNITED STATIONERS INC.

BY: /s/ KATHLEEN S. DVORAK

Kathleen S. Dvorak
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Dated: March 16, 2005

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below
by the following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Capacity Date

/s/ FREDERICK B. Heal, JR.
Frederick B. Hegi, Jr.

Chairman of the Board of Directors March 16, 2005

President and Chief Executive Officer

/s/ RICHARD W. GOCHNAUER o . )
- (Principal Executive Officer) and a March 16, 2005
Richard W. Gochnauer Director

/s/ KATHLEEN S. DVORAK Senior Vice President and Chief

Financial Officer (Principai Financial March 16, 2005
Kathleen S. Dvorak and Accounting Officer)
/s/ DANIEL J. GOOD )
- Director March 16, 2005
Daniel J. Good
/s/ ILENE S. GORDON )
Director March 16, 2005
llene S. Gordon
/s/ Roy W. HALEY )
Director March 16, 2005
Roy W. Haley
/s/ Max D. HopPER _
Director March 16, 2005
Max D. Hopper
/s/ BENSON P. SHAPIRO .
- Director March 16, 2005
Benson P. Shapiro
/s/ JOHN J. ZILLMER o
: Director March 16, 2005
John J. Zillmer
/s/ ALEX D. ZOGHLIN .
Director March 16, 2005

Alex D. Zoghlin
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SCHEDULE i

UNITED STATIONERS INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2004, 2003 AND 2002

Additions
Balance at Charged to Balance
Description . Beginning  Costs and at End
(in thousands) of Period Expenses  Deductions of Period
Allowance for doubtful accounts®:
2002 . . 13,462 9,797 (4,7586) 18,503
2003 .. 18,503 8,018 (10,952) 15,569
2004 . . 15,569 7,014 (8,380) 14,203

(1) —net of any recoveries

(2) —represents allowance for doubtful accounts related to the retained interest in receivables sold and accounts
receivable, net.
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302(a) OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Richard W. Gochnauer, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annua! report on Form 10-K of United Stationers Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

{(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrants internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’'s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2005 /s/ RicCHARD W. GOCHNAUER

Richard W. Gochnauer
President and Chief Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302(a) OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Kathleen S. Dvorak, certify that:

1.
2.

| have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of United Stationers Inc.;

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit
to state a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financiat information included in this
report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant’s other certifying officers and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(g) and 15d-15(e))
and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating
to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

{b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal contro! over
financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

{¢) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and
presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and
procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal
quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrants internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officers and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation
of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the
registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal
control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s
ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2005 /s/ KATHLEEN S. DVORAK

Kathleen S. Dvorak
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of United Stationers Inc. (the “Company’) on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2004, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date
hereof (the “Report”), Richard W. Gochnauer, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
and Kathleen S. Dvorak, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, each hereby
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

() The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and result of operations of the Company.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 306 has been provided to the Company
and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its
staff upon request.

/s/ RICHARD W. GOCHNAUER

Richard W. Gochnauer
President and Chief Executive Officer
March 16, 2005

/s/ KaTHLEEN S. DVORAK

Kathleen S. Dvorak
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
March 16, 2005
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